
 

Oak Lodge Water District Office 
14496 SE River Road 
Oak Grove, OR 97267 

October 16th, 2018 at 6:00 p.m. 
     

1. Call to Order and Flag Salute 
 

2. Call for Public Testimony 
 
Members of the public are welcome to testify for a maximum of three 
minutes on each agenda item. 
 

3. Consent Agenda 
• September 2018 Financial Reports 

 Approval of September 2018 Check Run 
• September 18, 2018 Board Meeting Minutes 

 
4. Consolidation Cost Savings Report 

 
5. Commercial Real Estate Broker/ Agent of Record Contract 
 
6. Adoption of Finance Policies 

 
7. Initial Human Resource Policies Workshop 
 
8. Initial Amendments to Oak Lodge Water Services District Purchasing 

Rules Workshop 
 
9. Resolution No. 18-11:  Closure of Oak Lodge Water Services Flex 

Spending Account at Clackamas County Federal Credit Union. 
 
10. Department Reports 

• Finance 
• Field Operations 
• Plant Operations 
• Technical Services 



11. Call for Public Comment 

12. Business from the Board 

13. Recess to Executive Session under ORS 192.660 2(h) for consultation 
with counsel concerning legal rights and duties regarding current 
litigation or litigation likely to be filed. 

14. Adjourn Executive Session – Board may take action if necessary. 

  Adjourn 



 
 

AGENDA ITEM 
 

    
Agenda Item:   Call for Public Testimony 
Item No.:    2 
Presenters:  N/A 

 
 
Background: 
 
Members of the public are invited to identify agenda items on which they would like to comment 
or provide testimony.  The Board may elect to limit the total time available for public comment or 
for any single speaker depending on meeting length. 



 
CONSENT AGENDA 

 
    
To:   Board of Directors     
From:   Sarah Jo Chaplen, General Manager    
Agenda Item: Consent Agenda 
Item No.:  3    
Date:   October 10, 2018    

 
 
Background: 
The Board of Directors has a standing item on the regular monthly meeting agenda called 
“Consent Agenda.”  This subset of the regular agenda provides for the Board to relegate 
routine business functions not requiring discussion to a consent agenda where all included 
items can be acted upon by a single act.   
 
The Consent Agenda includes: 
 

1. September 2018 Financial Reports 
a. Approval of September 2018 Check Run 

2. September 18, 2018 Board Meeting Minutes 

Board members may request to remove an item from the Consent Agenda to discuss 
separately. 
 
Options for Consideration: 
 

1. Approve the consent agenda as listed on the meeting agenda. 
 
2. Request one or more items listed on the consent agenda be pulled from the 

consent agenda for discussion. 
 
Recommendation: 
Approve the items listed under the Consent Agenda. 
 
Sample motion:  “I move to approve the consent agenda.” 
 

Approved ________________   Date______________________ 
 



  

 
 

MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

 
To:    Board Directors 
From:   Kelly Stacey, Finance Director 
Agenda Item: September 2018 Financial Reports 
Item No.:  3a 
Date:   October 16, 2018 

 
 
Reports:  
 

• September 2018 Monthly Overview  
• September 2018 Budget Report  
• September 2018 Monthly Cash and Investment Balances 
• September 2018 Monthly Checks and Electronic Withdrawals staff 

report  
• September 2018 Monthly Checks and Electronic Withdrawals system 

report 



 
 
 
 
Oak Lodge Water Services  
Monthly Overview  
September 2018 
 
 
This report summarized the revenues and expenditures for September 2018.  Also 
incorporated in this report are account balances, including all cash and investment activity 
as well as checks and withdrawals.   
 
The District’s liquid cash and investment assets equal $12,460,595.04 as of September 
30, 2018; consisting of $687,784.75 in checking, and $11,772,810.29 in the State Local 
Government Investment Pool (LGIP).  
 
The District’s checks, electronic withdrawals and bank drafts for September 2018, total 
$1,043,786.89.  
 
Water sales revenue for the month of September 2018 totals $439,324.47. Wastewater 
sales revenue for the month of September 2018 is $584,080.99. Watershed protection 
sales revenue for the month of September 2018 is $119,215.34.  Total billed revenue for 
services provided for the month of September 2018 totals $1,142,620.80.   
 
The % of budget spent is calculated by taking the ending balance and dividing it by the 
budget.  At the end of September that should be around 25%.  Note for budget law 
purposes, Wastewater Plant and Wastewater Collection are added together.  Certain line 
items are spent all at once, such as Worker’s Compensation.  We pay one time a year in 
July.   
 
The new “Account Roll up” report has been cleaned up for the most part.  Last month I 
pointed out that on this and the Budget to Actual report, there is no overtime.  This was 
due to an error that was discovered in the payroll setup causing overtime not to be tracked 
in a separate line item. This has since been corrected. I would be happy to help if you have 
any questions about this or any other report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Oak Lodge Water Services

Account Balances As of:
September 30, 2018 Interest Rate
Account
Wells Fargo Bank Checking-3552 $687,784.75
LGIP 5289 Water General 2.25% $2,594,392.03
LGIP 5790 Sanitary 2.25% $2,698,597.68
LGIP 3968 Sanitary GO Bond Debt Svc 2.25% $1,046,238.21
LGIP 3869 Sanitary Debt Svc 2.25% $926,274.62
LGIP 5002 Sanitary General 2.25% $4,507,307.75

Total 12,460,595.04$   

12



General Ledger
Budget to Actual

User: kelly
Printed: 10/8/2018 10:13:28 AM
Period 01 - 03
Fiscal Year 2019

Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal % of Budget

10 Drinking Water
NonDivisional
Beginning Fund Balance

10-00-3500 Fund balance -2,880,270.00 0.00 -3,373,462.56 117.12
Beginning Fund Balance -2,880,270.00 0.00 -3,373,462.56 117.12

Revenue
10-00-4211 Water sales -3,640,000.00 -431,371.03 -1,227,258.67 33.72
10-00-4212 Water sales - CRW -32,000.00 -7,953.44 -12,053.29 37.67
10-00-4215 Penalties and late charges -25,000.00 -1,778.98 -3,937.43 15.75
10-00-4220 System development

charges
-75,000.00 -47,810.00 -68,450.00 91.27

10-00-4230 Contract services -32,000.00 -2,445.24 -7,539.52 23.56
10-00-4240 Service installations -15,000.00 -3,885.00 -4,335.00 28.90
10-00-4280 Rents & leases -140,000.00 -14,252.63 -6,569.35 4.69
10-00-4290 Other charges for services 0.00 466.81 -19,587.49 0.00
10-00-4610 Investment revenue -25,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-00-4630 Miscellaneous revenues -15,000.00 -116.12 -5,804.27 38.70

Revenue 3,999,000.00 509,145.63 1,355,535.02 33.90

NonDivisional -6,879,270.00 -509,145.63 -4,728,997.58 68.74

Drinking Water
Personnel Services

10-20-5110 Regular employees 980,000.00 69,169.91 218,639.16 22.31
10-20-5120 TemporarySeasonal

employees
30,000.00 902.93 1,120.97 3.74

10-20-5130 Overtime 48,000.00 788.34 788.34 1.64
10-20-5210 Employee Ins Expense 225,000.00 13,272.07 39,652.02 17.62
10-20-5230 Social Security 80,500.00 5,239.97 16,451.22 20.44
10-20-5240 Retirement 202,000.00 12,118.87 37,811.08 18.72
10-20-5250 TrimetWBF 9,000.00 534.33 1,683.02 18.70
10-20-5260 Unemployment 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-20-5270 Workers compensation 13,000.00 0.00 13,780.90 106.01
10-20-5290 Other employee benefits 7,300.00 8.00 25.76 0.35

Personnel Services 1,606,800.00 102,034.42 329,952.47 20.53

Materials & Services
10-20-6110 Legal services 130,000.00 1,892.00 9,453.48 7.27
10-20-6120 Accounting & audit

services
9,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

10-20-6155 Contracted Services 160,500.00 5,252.11 18,986.62 11.83
10-20-6180 Dues & subscriptions 25,000.00 64.21 17,412.33 69.65
10-20-6220 Electricity 45,000.00 2,788.57 9,356.35 20.79
10-20-6230 Telephone 21,000.00 447.98 3,138.60 14.95
10-20-6240 Natual gas 4,000.00 228.46 456.32 11.41
10-20-6290 Other utilities 4,000.00 305.30 633.33 15.83
10-20-6310 Janitorial services 8,500.00 604.07 4,106.51 48.31
10-20-6320 Buildings & grounds 10,000.00 72.76 113.82 1.14
10-20-6330 Vehicle & equipment

maint.
27,000.00 3,490.82 10,112.48 37.45

10-20-6340 Distribution system maint 200,000.00 19,799.97 41,199.69 20.60
10-20-6350 Computer maintenance 48,500.00 4,666.63 40,009.87 82.49
10-20-6390 Other repairs & 50,000.00 1,927.00 8,337.80 16.68

GL - Budget to Actual (10/08/2018 - 10:13 AM) Page 1



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal % of Budget

maintenance
10-20-6410 Mileage 1,500.00 51.11 224.13 14.94
10-20-6420 Staff training 17,500.00 -66.00 1,096.14 6.26
10-20-6430 Certifications 1,000.00 160.00 260.00 26.00
10-20-6440 Board travel & training 2,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-20-6510 Office supplies 15,000.00 214.80 980.59 6.54
10-20-6520 Fuel & oils 25,000.00 1,617.99 3,541.90 14.17
10-20-6530 Small tools & equipment 15,000.00 0.00 226.02 1.51
10-20-6540 Safety supplies 12,000.00 1,909.03 3,470.05 28.92
10-20-6550 Operational Supplies 1,500.00 0.00 274.00 18.27
10-20-6560 Uniforms 4,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-20-6610 Board compensation 700.00 0.00 72.08 10.30
10-20-6710 Purchased water 1,050,000.00 0.00 117,561.77 11.20
10-20-6720 Insurance 30,000.00 50.00 50.00 0.17
10-20-6730 Communications 9,000.00 43.26 83.60 0.93
10-20-6740 Advertising 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-20-6760 Equipment Rental 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
10-20-6770 Bank charges 30,000.00 2,798.94 9,125.05 30.42
10-20-6780 Taxes & fees 20,000.00 564.90 564.90 2.82
10-20-6900 Miscellaneous expense 1,000.00 0.00 50.00 5.00

Materials & Services 1,984,200.00 48,883.91 300,897.43 15.16

Drinking Water 3,591,000.00 150,918.33 630,849.90 17.57

10 Drinking Water -3,288,270.00 -358,227.30 -4,098,147.68 124.63

20 Wastewater Reclam.
NonDivisional
Beginning Fund Balance

20-00-3500 Fund balance -5,416,603.00 0.00 -5,620,357.57 103.76
Beginning Fund Balance -5,416,603.00 0.00 -5,620,357.57 103.76

Revenue
20-00-4212 Wastewater charges -7,947,500.00 -584,080.99 -1,844,228.40 23.21
20-00-4215 Penalties & late charges -25,000.00 -814.75 -1,396.28 5.59
20-00-4220 System development

charges
-100,000.00 -98,135.00 -134,290.00 134.29

20-00-4240 Service installations -25,000.00 -3,158.68 -28,125.67 112.50
20-00-4290 Other charges for services -5,000.00 -104.74 -4,765.58 95.31
20-00-4610 Investment revenue -50,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-00-4630 Miscellaneous revenues -15,000.00 -324.96 -5,462.33 36.42

Revenue 8,167,500.00 686,619.12 2,018,268.26 24.71

NonDivisional -13,584,103.00 -686,619.12 -7,638,625.83 56.23

Wastewater-Plant
Personnel Services

20-21-5110 Regular employees 1,020,000.00 71,357.16 213,284.13 20.91
20-21-5120 TemporarySeasonal

employees
30,000.00 5,358.09 12,738.04 42.46

20-21-5130 Overtime 50,000.00 4,229.72 4,229.72 8.46
20-21-5210 Employee

Ins-MDVSTDLTDLf
200,000.00 12,713.73 34,052.96 17.03

20-21-5230 Social Security 80,000.00 6,070.81 17,323.45 21.65
20-21-5240 Retirement 190,000.00 10,669.43 32,045.29 16.87
20-21-5250 TrimetWBF 8,200.00 622.91 1,774.65 21.64
20-21-5260 Unemployment 10,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-5270 Workers compensation 12,000.00 0.00 12,496.59 104.14
20-21-5290 Other employee benefits 6,800.00 8.68 21.98 0.32

Personnel Services 1,607,500.00 111,030.53 327,966.81 20.40

Materials & Services
20-21-6110 Legal services 125,000.00 1,505.25 13,349.06 10.68
20-21-6120 Accounting & audit

services
4,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

20-21-6155 Contracted Services 105,300.00 10,174.97 29,851.78 28.35
20-21-6180 Dues & subscriptions 15,000.00 69.59 899.65 6.00

GL - Budget to Actual (10/08/2018 - 10:13 AM) Page 2



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal % of Budget

20-21-6220 Electricity 250,000.00 0.00 89.29 0.04
20-21-6230 Telephone 24,000.00 1,253.62 4,043.90 16.85
20-21-6240 Natual gas 4,500.00 21.53 43.33 0.96
20-21-6250 Solid waste disposal 75,000.00 5,612.06 11,806.16 15.74
20-21-6290 Other utilities 3,000.00 1,060.83 2,633.81 87.79
20-21-6310 Janitorial services 22,000.00 3,781.63 7,578.78 34.45
20-21-6320 Buildings & grounds

maint.
25,000.00 256.95 1,330.39 5.32

20-21-6330 Vehicle & equipment
maint.

24,000.00 0.00 1,510.49 6.29

20-21-6342 WRF System
maintenance

234,000.00 17,113.65 49,904.67 21.33

20-21-6350 Computer maintenance 109,250.00 4,645.99 13,354.56 12.22
20-21-6390 Other repairs &

maintenance
0.00 910.80 910.80 0.00

20-21-6410 Mileage 2,000.00 55.41 173.83 8.69
20-21-6420 Staff training 23,000.00 289.25 868.25 3.78
20-21-6430 Certifications 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6440 Board travel & training 3,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6510 Office supplies 15,000.00 239.59 988.67 6.59
20-21-6520 Fuel & oils 35,000.00 112.80 400.25 1.14
20-21-6525 Chemicals 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6530 Small tools & equipment 20,200.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6540 Safety supplies 20,100.00 1,072.86 2,605.34 12.96
20-21-6550 Operational Supplies 20,000.00 620.50 5,333.98 26.67
20-21-6560 Uniforms 14,000.00 974.60 3,756.87 26.83
20-21-6590 Other supplies 20,000.00 40.68 498.09 2.49
20-21-6610 Board compensation 1,000.00 0.00 59.36 5.94
20-21-6720 Insurance 90,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-21-6730 Communications 4,000.00 59.40 103.13 2.58
20-21-6750 Other purchased services 0.00 1,271.33 1,271.33 0.00
20-21-6770 Bank charges 25,000.00 4,075.57 10,379.86 41.52
20-21-6780 Taxes & fees 68,500.00 3,850.71 4,690.71 6.85
20-21-6900 Miscellaneous expense 0.00 0.00 25.00 0.00

Materials & Services 1,411,350.00 59,069.57 168,461.34 11.94

Wastewater-Plant 3,018,850.00 170,100.10 496,428.15 16.44

Wastewater-Collections
Personnel Services

20-22-5110 Regular employees 665,000.00 61,100.95 185,730.00 27.93
20-22-5120 TemporarySeasonal

employees
22,000.00 398.90 495.22 2.25

20-22-5130 Overtime 40,000.00 464.51 464.51 1.16
20-22-5210 Employee

Ins-MDVSTDLTDLf
130,000.00 12,086.90 33,828.06 26.02

20-22-5230 Social Security 56,000.00 4,660.43 14,088.67 25.16
20-22-5240 Retirement 140,000.00 8,401.91 25,962.65 18.54
20-22-5250 TrimetWBF 6,000.00 478.38 1,443.04 24.05
20-22-5260 Unemployment 9,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-22-5270 Workers compensation 10,000.00 0.00 10,770.93 107.71
20-22-5290 Other employee benefits 4,800.00 3.53 11.09 0.23

Personnel Services 1,082,800.00 87,595.51 272,794.17 25.19

Materials & Services
20-22-6110 Legal services 75,000.00 544.50 5,634.85 7.51
20-22-6120 Accounting & audit

services
4,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

20-22-6155 Contracted Services 65,500.00 2,914.46 7,805.39 11.92
20-22-6180 Dues & subscriptions 5,000.00 28.38 700.16 14.00
20-22-6220 Electricity 10,000.00 956.34 3,909.76 39.10
20-22-6230 Telephone 21,000.00 795.69 2,732.08 13.01
20-22-6240 Natual gas 3,500.00 21.53 57.44 1.64
20-22-6290 Other utilities 8,500.00 728.75 8,442.12 99.32
20-22-6310 Janitorial services 6,500.00 352.44 1,899.77 29.23
20-22-6320 Buildings & grounds 3,000.00 32.14 162.22 5.41
20-22-6330 Vehicle & equipment 6,000.00 185.86 787.00 13.12

GL - Budget to Actual (10/08/2018 - 10:13 AM) Page 3



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal % of Budget

maint.
20-22-6342 Collection system maint. 40,000.00 79.92 25,139.92 62.85
20-22-6350 Computer maintenance 35,250.00 2,045.10 17,573.32 49.85
20-22-6390 Other repairs &

maintenance
10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

20-22-6410 Mileage 1,500.00 22.58 107.95 7.20
20-22-6420 Staff training 11,000.00 -34.00 728.70 6.62
20-22-6430 Certifications 900.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-22-6440 Board travel & training 1,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
20-22-6510 Office supplies 12,000.00 100.87 409.28 3.41
20-22-6520 Fuel & oils 7,500.00 517.64 1,386.18 18.48
20-22-6530 Small tools & equipment 10,000.00 0.00 2,360.00 23.60
20-22-6540 Safety supplies 3,000.00 362.52 932.31 31.08
20-22-6550 Operational Supplies 6,000.00 112.50 125.84 2.10
20-22-6560 Uniforms 8,000.00 268.26 1,262.95 15.79
20-22-6590 Other supplies 0.00 150.03 150.03 0.00
20-22-6610 Board compensation 500.00 0.00 34.26 6.85
20-22-6720 Insurance 24,000.00 50.00 50.00 0.21
20-22-6730 Communications 25,000.00 194.38 212.20 0.85
20-22-6750 Other purchased services 0.00 294.15 294.15 0.00
20-22-6770 Bank charges 15,000.00 2,034.79 8,170.48 54.47
20-22-6780 Taxes & fees 5,000.00 904.47 904.47 18.09
20-22-6900 Miscellaneous expense 0.00 0.00 25.00 0.00

Materials & Services 424,650.00 13,663.30 91,997.83 21.66

Wastewater-Collections 1,507,450.00 101,258.81 364,792.00 24.20

20 Wastewater Reclam. -9,057,803.00 -415,260.21 -6,777,405.68 74.82

30 Watershed Protection
NonDivisional
Beginning Fund Balance

30-00-3500 Fund balance -3,114,971.00 0.00 -2,713,265.04 87.10
Beginning Fund Balance -3,114,971.00 0.00 -2,713,265.04 87.10

Revenue
30-00-4213 Watershed protection fees -1,456,000.00 -119,215.34 -362,325.40 24.88
30-00-4215 Penalties & late charges -5,000.00 -179.51 -285.40 5.71
30-00-4240 Service installations -40,000.00 1,371.13 -34,986.73 87.47
30-00-4290 Other charges for services -5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-00-4300 Grant Revenue -250,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-00-4610 Investment revenue -35,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-00-4630 Miscellaneous revenues -5,000.00 -58.92 -450.30 9.01

Revenue 1,796,000.00 118,082.64 398,047.83 22.16

NonDivisional -4,910,971.00 -118,082.64 -3,111,312.87 63.35

Watershed Protection
Personnel Services

30-23-5110 Regular employees 424,000.00 24,867.75 76,007.04 17.93
30-23-5120 TemporarySeasonal

employees
10,000.00 607.72 754.48 7.54

30-23-5130 Overtime 16,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-5210 Employee

Ins-MDVSTDLTDLf
75,000.00 4,743.92 14,677.30 19.57

30-23-5230 Social Security 36,500.00 1,864.29 5,732.84 15.71
30-23-5240 Retirement 90,000.00 4,120.41 12,459.28 13.84
30-23-5250 TrimetWBF 3,900.00 191.22 586.24 15.03
30-23-5260 Unemployment 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-5270 Workers compensation 5,100.00 0.00 6,029.15 118.22
30-23-5290 Other employee benefits 3,000.00 5.39 17.97 0.60

Personnel Services 668,500.00 36,400.70 116,264.30 17.39

Materials & Services
30-23-6110 Legal services 70,000.00 321.75 4,472.40 6.39
30-23-6120 Accounting & audit

services
9,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

GL - Budget to Actual (10/08/2018 - 10:13 AM) Page 4



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal % of Budget

30-23-6155 Contracted Services 47,500.00 5,005.17 10,156.43 21.38
30-23-6180 Dues & subscriptions 10,000.00 43.16 1,301.60 13.02
30-23-6220 Electricity 2,000.00 0.00 84.04 4.20
30-23-6230 Telephone 10,000.00 321.31 1,180.23 11.80
30-23-6240 Natual gas 1,500.00 23.75 33.12 2.21
30-23-6290 Other utilities 5,000.00 223.66 324.99 6.50
30-23-6310 Janitorial services 4,500.00 353.17 2,710.57 60.23
30-23-6320 Buildings & grounds 8,000.00 143.96 246.20 3.08
30-23-6330 Vehicle & equipment

maint.
4,500.00 0.00 2,813.91 62.53

30-23-6340 System maintenance 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6350 Computer maintenance 49,500.00 3,222.87 11,398.88 23.03
30-23-6390 Other repairs &

maintenance
5,000.00 0.00 56.95 1.14

30-23-6410 Mileage 2,000.00 34.40 190.60 9.53
30-23-6420 Staff training 9,000.00 -66.00 710.70 7.90
30-23-6430 Certifications 500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6440 Board travel & training 1,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6510 Office supplies 10,000.00 148.84 833.48 8.33
30-23-6520 Fuel & oils 2,500.00 235.02 557.48 22.30
30-23-6530 Small tools & equipment 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6540 Safety supplies 2,500.00 508.01 639.75 25.59
30-23-6550 Operational Supplies 4,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6560 Uniforms 1,500.00 51.06 240.38 16.03
30-23-6610 Board compensation 1,000.00 0.00 59.30 5.93
30-23-6720 Insurance 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
30-23-6730 Communications 85,000.00 306.07 1,333.22 1.57
30-23-6750 Other purchased services 11,000.00 13.27 13.27 0.12
30-23-6770 Bank charges 10,000.00 1,119.18 4,168.44 41.68
30-23-6780 Taxes & fees 2,000.00 39.16 39.16 1.96
30-23-6900 Miscellaneous expense 100.00 0.00 50.00 50.00

Materials & Services 396,100.00 12,047.81 43,615.10 11.01

Watershed Protection 1,064,600.00 48,448.51 159,879.40 15.02

30 Watershed Protection -3,846,371.00 -69,634.13 -2,951,433.47 76.73

71 Drinking Water Capital
NonDivisional
Revenue

71-00-4610 Investment revenue -5,000.00 -4,783.07 -14,598.92 291.98
71-00-4650 Proceeds from borrowing -1,300,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Revenue 1,305,000.00 4,783.07 14,598.92 1.12

NonDivisional -1,305,000.00 -4,783.07 -14,598.92 1.12

Drinking Water
Capital Outlay

71-20-7200 Infrastructure 1,350,000.00 0.00 5,123.04 0.38
71-20-7300 Buildings &

improvements
12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

71-20-7400 Improvement other than
Bldgs

10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

71-20-7520 Equipment 0.00 9,463.00 15,955.00 0.00
71-20-7530 Software 0.00 0.00 345.20 0.00
71-20-7540 Vehicles 32,000.00 0.00 27,679.98 86.50
71-20-7600 Capital Improvement

Projects
300,000.00 1,500.00 36,373.26 12.12

Capital Outlay 1,704,000.00 10,963.00 85,476.48 5.02

Drinking Water 1,704,000.00 10,963.00 85,476.48 5.02

71 Drinking Water Capital 399,000.00 6,179.93 70,877.56 17.76

72 Wastewater
Reclamation Capital

GL - Budget to Actual (10/08/2018 - 10:13 AM) Page 5



Account Number Description Budget Period Amt End Bal % of Budget

NonDivisional
Revenue

72-00-4610 Investment revenue -7,500.00 -8,303.01 -25,305.34 337.40
72-00-4640 Proceeds from sale of

capital
-1,500,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Revenue 1,507,500.00 8,303.01 25,305.34 1.68

NonDivisional -1,507,500.00 -8,303.01 -25,305.34 1.68

Wastewater-Plant
Capital Outlay

72-21-7300 Buildings &
improvements

1,500,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

72-21-7400 Improvement other than
Bldgs

5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

72-21-7530 Software 0.00 0.00 172.60 0.00
72-21-7540 Vehicles 31,000.00 5,370.00 5,370.00 17.32
72-21-7600 Capital Improvement

Projects
1,220,000.00 0.00 11,295.00 0.93

Capital Outlay 2,756,000.00 5,370.00 16,837.60 0.61

Wastewater-Plant 2,756,000.00 5,370.00 16,837.60 0.61

Wastewater-Collections
Capital Outlay

72-22-7400 Improvements other than
Bldgs

5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

72-22-7520 Equipment 60,000.00 54,984.00 54,984.00 91.64
72-22-7530 Software 0.00 0.00 172.60 0.00
72-22-7540 Vehicles 0.00 0.00 27,679.98 0.00
72-22-7600 Capital Improvement

Projects
500,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Capital Outlay 565,000.00 54,984.00 82,836.58 14.66

Wastewater-Collections 565,000.00 54,984.00 82,836.58 14.66

72 Wastewater
Reclamation Capital

1,813,500.00 52,050.99 74,368.84 4.10

73 Watershed Protection
Capital
NonDivisional
Revenue

73-00-4610 Investment revenue -5,000.00 -4,963.78 -15,216.26 304.33
73-00-4640 Proceeds from sale of

capital
-300,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Revenue 305,000.00 4,963.78 15,216.26 4.99

NonDivisional -305,000.00 -4,963.78 -15,216.26 4.99

Watershed Protection
Capital Outlay

73-23-7400 Improvement other than
Bldgs

10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

73-23-7520 Equipment 71,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
73-23-7530 Software 0.00 0.00 345.20 0.00
73-23-7540 Vehicles 0.00 62,557.61 62,557.61 0.00
73-23-7600 Capital Improvement

Projects
1,920,000.00 360,857.50 510,482.50 26.59

Capital Outlay 2,001,000.00 423,415.11 573,385.31 28.65

Watershed Protection 2,001,000.00 423,415.11 573,385.31 28.65

73 Watershed Protection
Capital

1,696,000.00 418,451.33 558,169.05 32.91

GL - Budget to Actual (10/08/2018 - 10:13 AM) Page 6



General Ledger
Account Roll up

User: kelly
Printed: 10/8/2018 10:21:53 AM
Period 01 - 03
Fiscal Year 2019

Sort Level Description Budget Beg Bal Debits Credits End Bal

Revenue Revenue
4211 Water sales -3,640,000.00 0.00 8,591.51 1,235,850.18 -1,227,258.67
4212 Water sales - CRW -7,979,500.00 0.00 7,251.50 1,863,533.19 -1,856,281.69
4213 Watershed protection fees -1,456,000.00 0.00 1,535.54 363,860.94 -362,325.40
4215 Penalties & late charges -55,000.00 0.00 584.65 6,203.76 -5,619.11
4220 System development charges -175,000.00 0.00 7,385.00 210,125.00 -202,740.00
4230 Contract services -32,000.00 0.00 0.00 7,539.52 -7,539.52
4240 Service installations -80,000.00 0.00 53,736.25 121,183.65 -67,447.40
4280 Rents & leases -140,000.00 0.00 40,745.00 47,314.35 -6,569.35
4290 Other charges for services -10,000.00 0.00 17,320.00 41,673.07 -24,353.07
4300 Grant Revenue -250,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
4610 Investment revenue -150,459.00 0.00 0.70 65,793.05 -65,792.35
4630 Miscellaneous revenues -35,000.00 0.00 180.00 11,896.90 -11,716.90
4640 Proceeds from sale of capital -1,800,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
4650 Proceeds from borrowing -1,300,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
4701 Interest Subsidy -121,338.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
4911 Transfers in from Fund 10 -2,700,000.00 0.00 0.00 2,610,873.51 -2,610,873.51
4912 Transfers in from Fund 20 -8,303,935.00 0.00 0.00 5,793,543.55 -5,793,543.55
4913 Transfers in from Fund 30 -3,600,000.00 0.00 1.28 2,986,722.00 -2,986,720.72
Revenue Revenue 31,828,232.00 0.00 137,331.43 15,366,112.67 15,228,781.24

Expense Expense
5110 Regular employees 3,089,000.00 0.00 694,056.94 396.61 693,660.33
5120 TemporarySeasonal employees 92,000.00 0.00 15,108.71 0.00 15,108.71
5130 Overtime 154,000.00 0.00 5,482.57 0.00 5,482.57
5210 Employee Ins-MDVSTDLTDLf 630,000.00 0.00 122,210.34 0.00 122,210.34
5230 Social Security 253,000.00 0.00 53,596.18 0.00 53,596.18
5240 Retirement 622,000.00 0.00 108,278.30 0.00 108,278.30
5250 Trimet 27,100.00 0.00 5,486.95 0.00 5,486.95
5260 Unemployment 36,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
5270 Workers compensation 40,100.00 0.00 43,077.57 0.00 43,077.57
5290 Other employee benefits 21,900.00 0.00 76.80 0.00 76.80
6110 Legal services 400,000.00 0.00 32,909.79 0.00 32,909.79
6120 Accounting & audit services 27,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
6155 Contracted Services 378,800.00 0.00 66,800.22 0.00 66,800.22
6180 Dues & subscriptions 55,000.00 0.00 20,313.74 0.00 20,313.74
6190 Other professional & tech svcs 0.00 0.00 605.60 605.60 0.00

GL - Account Roll up (10/08/2018 - 10:21 AM) Page 1



Sort Level Description Budget Beg Bal Debits Credits End Bal

6220 Electricity 307,000.00 0.00 13,439.44 0.00 13,439.44
6230 Telephone 76,000.00 0.00 11,094.81 0.00 11,094.81
6240 Natual gas 13,500.00 0.00 590.21 0.00 590.21
6250 Solid waste disposal 75,000.00 0.00 11,806.16 0.00 11,806.16
6290 Other utilities 20,500.00 0.00 12,034.25 0.00 12,034.25
6310 Janitorial services 41,500.00 0.00 16,295.63 0.00 16,295.63
6320 Buildings & grounds 46,000.00 0.00 1,852.63 0.00 1,852.63
6330 Vehicle & equipment maint. 61,500.00 0.00 15,223.88 0.00 15,223.88
6340 Distribution system maint 210,000.00 0.00 41,259.67 59.98 41,199.69
6342 Collection system maint. 274,000.00 0.00 75,044.59 0.00 75,044.59
6350 Computer maintenance 242,500.00 0.00 89,120.82 6,784.19 82,336.63
6390 Other repairs & maintenance 65,000.00 0.00 9,305.55 0.00 9,305.55
6410 Mileage 7,000.00 0.00 696.51 0.00 696.51
6420 Staff training 60,500.00 0.00 3,829.43 425.64 3,403.79
6430 Certifications 7,400.00 0.00 260.00 0.00 260.00
6440 Board travel & training 8,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
6510 Office supplies 52,000.00 0.00 3,212.02 0.00 3,212.02
6520 Fuel & oils 70,000.00 0.00 5,885.81 0.00 5,885.81
6525 Chemicals 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
6530 Small tools & equipment 50,200.00 0.00 2,586.02 0.00 2,586.02
6540 Safety supplies 37,600.00 0.00 7,647.45 0.00 7,647.45
6550 Operational Supplies 31,500.00 0.00 5,733.82 0.00 5,733.82
6560 Uniforms 27,500.00 0.00 5,260.20 0.00 5,260.20
6590 Other supplies 20,000.00 0.00 648.12 0.00 648.12
6610 Board compensation 3,200.00 0.00 225.00 0.00 225.00
6710 Purchased water 1,050,000.00 0.00 117,561.77 0.00 117,561.77
6720 Insurance 156,000.00 0.00 100.00 0.00 100.00
6730 Communications 123,000.00 0.00 1,732.15 0.00 1,732.15
6740 Advertising 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
6750 Other purchased services 11,000.00 0.00 3,097.88 1,519.13 1,578.75
6760 Equipment Rental 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
6770 Bank charges 80,000.00 0.00 31,843.83 0.00 31,843.83
6780 Taxes & fees 95,500.00 0.00 6,199.24 0.00 6,199.24
6810 2010 SRF Loan Principal 876,670.00 0.00 436,273.00 0.00 436,273.00
6811 2010 IFA Loan Principal 360,936.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
6812 2010 GO Bond Principal 1,080,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
6820 2010 SRF Loan Interest 370,772.00 0.00 150,725.00 0.00 150,725.00
6821 2010 GO Bond Interest 88,000.00 0.00 44,000.00 0.00 44,000.00
6822 2010 IFA Loan Interest 290,561.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
6823 JPM Bank Loan Interest 379,326.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
6900 Miscellaneous expense 1,100.00 0.00 150.00 0.00 150.00
6910 Cash overshort 0.00 0.00 20.00 0.00 20.00
7200 Infrastructure 1,350,000.00 0.00 5,123.04 0.00 5,123.04
7300 Buildings & improvements 1,512,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
7400 Improvement other than Bldgs 30,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
7520 Equipment 131,000.00 0.00 70,939.00 0.00 70,939.00
7530 Software 0.00 0.00 1,035.60 0.00 1,035.60
7540 Vehicles 63,000.00 0.00 123,287.57 0.00 123,287.57
7600 Capital Improvement Projects 3,940,000.00 0.00 558,150.76 0.00 558,150.76

GL - Account Roll up (10/08/2018 - 10:21 AM) Page 2



Sort Level Description Budget Beg Bal Debits Credits End Bal

8140 Transfers out - Fund 40 1,548,123.00 0.00 516,041.00 0.00 516,041.00
8150 Transfers out - Fund 50 1,755,812.00 0.00 585,270.68 0.00 585,270.68
8171 Transfers out - Fund 71 2,700,000.00 0.00 2,610,873.51 0.00 2,610,873.51
8172 Transfers out - Fund 72 5,000,000.00 0.00 4,692,231.87 0.00 4,692,231.87
8173 Transfers out - Fund 73 3,600,000.00 0.00 2,986,722.00 1.28 2,986,720.72
9000 Contingency 3,087,009.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Expense Expense 37,345,109.00 0.00 14,442,433.63 9,792.43 14,432,641.20

Grand Total -5,516,877.00 0.00 14,579,765.06 15,375,905.10 796,140.04
Fund Balance Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Revenue Total 31,828,232.00 0.00 137,331.43 15,366,112.67 15,228,781.24
Expense Total 37,345,109.00 0.00 14,442,433.63 9,792.43 14,432,641.20

GL - Account Roll up (10/08/2018 - 10:21 AM) Page 3



 

 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

 
To:   Board of Directors     
From:   Kelly Stacey, Finance Director   
Agenda Item: Checks for September 2018 
Item No.:  3_av 
Date:   October 16, 2018   

 
 
Background 
 
Auditors have requested formal approval of checks by the Board of Directors 
 
Issue 
 
The District needs formal authorization of September checks numbered 41531 through 
41655, which include accounts payable and payroll checks as well as electronic 
withdrawals totaling $1,043,786.89. Attached you will find a report showing all checks 
and electronic withdrawals for September 2018 (0 under check number signifies ACH). 
There were no voided checks for the month. 
 
Recommendations 
 
It is recommended to the Board that checks numbered 41531 through 41655 and 
electronic withdrawals be formally approved by the Board. 
 
Background 
 
The District pays expenditures throughout the month.   
 
Facts and Findings 
 
The District auditors require the Board to formally approve monthly payments to 
conform to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). 
 
Attachments  
 

1. Accela Checks by Date September 2018  
 



Bank Reconciliation
Checks by Date
User: KELLY
Printed: 10/05/2018 -  3:57PM
Cleared and Not Cleared Checks
Print Void Checks

0 9/15/2018 Payroll DD 00001.09.2018 PR 70,742.59
0 9/17/2018 VALIC c/o JP Morgan Chase AP 3,240.00
0 9/17/2018 Corporate Trust Services Wells Fargo Bank, NA AP 44,000.00
0 9/17/2018 Nationwide Retiremnt Solutions AP 1,575.00
0 9/17/2018 Check Commerce AP 127.50
0 9/17/2018 Oregon Department Of Revenue AP 8,398.74
0 9/17/2018 IRS Dept of The Treasury AP 29,930.15
0 9/17/2018 Public Employees AP 24,213.91
0 9/17/2018 Pitney Bowes, Inc. AP 300.00
0 9/17/2018 Oregon DOR - State Transit Tax AP 104.75
0 9/17/2018 TSYS AP 8,450.83
0 9/22/2018 KS Statebank AP 62,557.61
0 9/28/2018 Oregon DOR - State Transit Tax AP 105.53
0 9/28/2018 IRS Dept of The Treasury AP 29,975.15
0 9/28/2018 Public Employees AP 24,236.40
0 9/28/2018 Oregon Department Of Revenue AP 8,444.45
0 9/28/2018 Nationwide Retiremnt Solutions AP 1,575.00
0 9/28/2018 VALIC c/o JP Morgan Chase AP 3,240.00
0 9/28/2018 Payroll DD 00002.09.2018 PR 71,671.78

41531 9/14/2018 Employee paycheck PR 2,116.68
41532 9/14/2018 Employee paycheck PR 1,000.53
41533 9/14/2018 Employee paycheck PR 638.69
41534 9/17/2018 Xerox Corporation AP 13.97
41535 9/17/2018 WW Machine Shop Inc AP 1,900.00
41536 9/17/2018 Western Exterminator Company AP 269.14
41537 9/17/2018 Water Environment Services AP 144.45
41538 9/17/2018 Waste Management Of Oregon AP 5,244.08
41539 9/17/2018 Waste Connections AP 59.62
41540 9/17/2018 Verizon Wireless AP 10.02
41541 9/17/2018 US Crane & Hoist, Inc AP 706.00
41542 9/17/2018 US Bank Equipment Finance AP 220.00
41543 9/17/2018 Unifirst Corporation AP 510.22
41544 9/17/2018 SUNRISE AUTO SALES LLC AP 1,635.59
41545 9/17/2018 Secure Pacific Corporation AP 190.00
41546 9/17/2018 SDIS AP 35,010.67
41547 9/17/2018 River Road Garage AP 249.55
41548 9/17/2018 Relay Resources AP 5,056.31
41549 9/17/2018 Quality Control Services AP 675.00
41550 9/17/2018 Portland General Electric AP 956.34
41551 9/17/2018 Portland Engineering Inc AP 120.00
41552 9/17/2018 Porter Yett Company AP 1,054.20
41553 9/17/2018 PlanB Consultancy AP 10,495.00
41554 9/17/2018 STEVE & TAUNY PAUL AP 469.45
41555 9/17/2018 Pamplin Media Group AP 37.19
41556 9/17/2018 Oregonian Publishing Company AP 205.34
41557 9/17/2018 One Call Concepts, Inc. AP 330.00
41558 9/17/2018 Olson Bros. Service, Inc. AP 2,295.55
41559 9/17/2018 Northwest Natural AP 36.22
41560 9/17/2018 Northstar Chemical, Inc. AP 508.00
41561 9/17/2018 JENNY NOLD AP 12.05
41562 9/17/2018 Net Assets Corporation AP 605.00
41563 9/17/2018 Ness Campbell Crane and Rigging AP 1,680.00
41564 9/17/2018 Napa Auto Parts - Store #07078 AP 6.98
41565 9/17/2018 Modern Machinery Inc. AP 1,799.07
41566 9/17/2018 Mission Communications, LLC AP 910.80



41567 9/17/2018 Metereaders, LLC AP 1,830.60
41568 9/17/2018 JOSEPH MCPHEE AP 7.11
41569 9/17/2018 McFarlane's Bark, Inc. AP 51.98
41570 9/17/2018 JOSEPH MCDONALD AP 137.78
41571 9/17/2018 Maverick Welding Supplies Inc AP 225.00
41572 9/17/2018 JACKIE & JERRY MALIN AP 6.55
41573 9/17/2018 Mail Finance AP 599.43
41574 9/17/2018 Les Schwab AP 1,599.00
41575 9/17/2018 Laserwerks AP 15.00
41576 9/17/2018 James W Fowler Co AP 360,857.50
41577 9/17/2018 HealthEquity AP 25.60
41578 9/17/2018 H.D. Fowler Company AP 1,059.90
41579 9/17/2018 Flashnews AP 169.00
41580 9/17/2018 Express Services, Inc. AP 1,080.00
41581 9/17/2018 Environmental Paper & Print, Inc AP 270.42
41582 9/17/2018 Law Office of  Eileen Eakins, LLC AP 1,100.00
41583 9/17/2018 Ed's Mower & Saw Shoppe AP 40.00
41584 9/17/2018 DeZURIK Inc AP 4,017.00
41585 9/17/2018 Daily Journal Of Commerce AP 126.50
41586 9/17/2018 D&H Flagging Inc. AP 525.00
41587 9/17/2018 Cranston Machinery Co. Inc AP 960.00
41588 9/17/2018 Convergence Networks AP 8,725.60
41589 9/17/2018 Contractor Supply AP 616.77
41590 9/17/2018 Consolidated Supply Co. AP 11,765.28
41591 9/17/2018 Comcast Cable AP 419.37
41592 9/17/2018 City Of Milwaukie AP 1,374.68
41593 9/17/2018 City Of Gladstone AP 146.67
41594 9/17/2018 Cintas Corporation - 463 AP 89.54
41595 9/17/2018 Cintas Corporation AP 1,394.68
41596 9/17/2018 Cessco, Inc AP 3,149.00
41597 9/17/2018 BMS Technologies AP 3,617.82
41598 9/17/2018 Aleah Binkowski-Burk AP 163.50
41599 9/17/2018 Baxter Auto Parts, Inc. AP 3.02
41600 9/17/2018 Atlas Electrical Contractors, Inc. AP 1,927.00
41601 9/17/2018 Apex Labs AP 4,632.00
41602 9/17/2018 AFSCME Council 75 AP 829.19
41603 9/17/2018 MARISSA AFLLEJE AP 0.44
41604 9/17/2018 AFLAC AP 863.29
41605 9/17/2018 Ace Hardware #11075 AP 279.65
41606 9/17/2018 A Worksafe Service, Inc. AP 48.00
41607 9/28/2018 Employee paycheck PR 2,116.61
41608 9/28/2018 Employee paycheck PR 747.56
41609 9/28/2018 Employee paycheck PR 704.43
41610 9/28/2018 A and A Drilling Service, Inc AP 2,525.00
41611 9/28/2018 Accela AP 1,508.10
41612 9/28/2018 Ace Hardware #11075 AP 40.68
41613 9/28/2018 AFLAC AP 863.29
41614 9/28/2018 AFSCME Council 75 AP 829.19
41615 9/28/2018 Answernet AP 155.27
41616 9/28/2018 BMS Technologies AP 298.69
41617 9/28/2018 Brown & Brown Northwest AP 100.00
41618 9/28/2018 BTL NW AP 155.79
41619 9/28/2018 Bullard Law AP 3,163.50
41620 9/28/2018 Cascade Print Source AP 59.90
41621 9/28/2018 Century Link AP 804.20
41622 9/28/2018 Cintas Corporation - 463 AP 89.54
41623 9/28/2018 City Of Gladstone AP 5,181.24
41624 9/28/2018 Clackamas County AP 185.86
41625 9/28/2018 Clackamas County Recorder's Office AP 178.00
41626 9/28/2018 Contractor Supply AP 79.92
41627 9/28/2018 Convergence Networks AP 4,006.89
41628 9/28/2018 Cues, Inc AP 225.43



41629 9/28/2018 D&H Flagging Inc. AP 160.00
41630 9/28/2018 Detemple Company, Inc. AP 1,579.24
41631 9/28/2018 Express Services, Inc. AP 1,808.44
41632 9/28/2018 Ferguson Waterworks AP 544.00
41633 9/28/2018 Ford Hall Company, Inc AP 3,663.07
41634 9/28/2018 Grainger, Inc. AP 672.58
41635 9/28/2018 Instrument Technology Corporation AP 6,314.00
41636 9/28/2018 Les Schwab AP 1,578.32
41637 9/28/2018 Madison Biosolids, Inc. AP 2,349.85
41638 9/28/2018 McFarlane's Bark, Inc. AP 135.00
41639 9/28/2018 David Mendenhall AP 323.25
41640 9/28/2018 Mueller Co AP 1,500.00
41641 9/28/2018 Northwest Natural AP 259.05
41642 9/28/2018 Olson Bros. Service, Inc. AP 187.90
41643 9/28/2018 Pacific Truck Colors, Inc. AP 5,370.00
41644 9/28/2018 Perlo Construction AP 15,430.75
41645 9/28/2018 Portland General Electric AP 2,788.57
41646 9/28/2018 E C Company Power Systems West AP 2,608.34
41647 9/28/2018 Ricoh Americas Corporation AP 375.13
41648 9/28/2018 River Road Garage AP 53.95
41649 9/28/2018 Secure Pacific Corporation AP 95.00
41650 9/28/2018 Traver's Cleaning Service Inc. AP 35.00
41651 9/28/2018 Unifirst Corporation AP 925.37
41652 9/28/2018 Verizon Wireless AP 1,429.22
41653 9/28/2018 Water Systems Consulting, Inc. AP 28,853.00
41654 9/28/2018 Loyd J Webert AP 934.80
41655 9/28/2018 Western Systems Refuse & Recycling Solutions AP 54,984.00

Total Check Amount: 1,043,786.89
BR-Checks by Date (10/5/2018 -  3:57 PM)



 
 

OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES 
Minutes 

Board of Directors – Regular Meeting 6:00 p.m. 
September 18, 2018 

 
Board of Directors - Members Present: 
Nancy Gibson, President 
Susan Keil, Vice President/Secretary 
Lynn Fisher,  Treasurer 
Kevin Williams, Director 
Paul Gornick, Director. 
 
Board of Directors - Members Absent: 
none 
 
Oak Lodge Water Services Staff Present: 
Sarah Jo Chaplen, General Manager 
Aleah Binkowski-Burk, Human Resources and Payroll Manager 
Jason Rice,   District Engineer 
David Mendenhall, Plant Superintendent 
Kelly Stacey,   Finance Director 
Todd Knapp,  Field Operations Superintendent  
Laura Westmeyer, Acting District Attorney, Cable Huston LLP, 

 
Visitors Present: 
Rob Moody,  Plan B Consulting 
Dave Phelps,  Budget Committee 
Eric Hofeld,  Sunrise Water Authority. 

 
 
Regular Board of Directors Meeting 
 

1. Call to Order and Flag Salute 
Board President Nancy Gibson called the regular meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and Vice 
President Susan Keil led the pledge of allegiance.  

 
2. Call for Public Comment 
There were no comments from the public.  

 
3. Consent Agenda 

a. August 2018 Financial Reports 
i. Approval of August 2018 Check Run 

b. August 21, 2018 Board Meeting Minutes 
Questions included: requests for more information about checks numbered #41392 Roto 
Rooter and #41471 to Clog Busters – were the high charges because of the lack of 
specialized equipment? Staff responded yes and added that some of the work had to be 
done at night because of Oregon Department of Transportation regulations, which 
increases the price of the job. What is Brown and Caldwell currently working on for OLWS? 
Staff responded they are working on the biosolids building, and on how to add a hopper 
into the waste recovery stream. Question about workers compensation payouts and if 



Oak Lodge Water Services District 
Minutes-Board of Directors Regular Meeting / September 18, 2018 
Page 2 of 9 
 

OLWS has had any claims. Staff responded the payment is annual to SDIS to cover 
workers compensation premiums. In the Drinking Water Capital Outlay the percent of 
budget expended is already 86% on vehicles. Staff responded this is for encumbered 
charges based on the order of two budgeted vehicles to the fleet. Correction to the minutes: 
change Item #6 to read “Closed Public Hearing for first hearing of the Ordinance”. There 
were no other questions or comments. 

 
Director Williams moved to approve the consent agenda with the noted change. 
Director Gornick seconded the motion. 
Ayes:  5 
Nays:  None 
Motion carried: 5-0  

 
 

4. Initial Finance Policies Workshop 
Finance Director Kelly Stacey introduced Rob Moody, partner from Plan B Assurance 
Services to share the progress OLWS has made on updating the Finance Policies. He 
presented 7 Draft Financial Policies for Board consideration. There will be 12 more policies 
coming for review at the December Board meeting, including: Procurement Policy, Records 
Management Policy – which includes a Records Retention Schedule, a Cyber Security 
Awareness Policy, a Board of Directors Compensation and Expense Policy, a Grants 
Management Policy, an Employee Credit Card Usage Policy, an Expenditures Policy, an 
Ethics Policy, a Personally Identifiable Information Policy, a Travel Reimbursement Policy, 
a Payment Card Industry (PCI) Policy, and an Information Systems Physical Access 
Security Policy.  
 
For this meeting, the following policies were reviewed, and details of the policies were 
highlighted (refer to Board Packet for policy attachments and audio for detailed highlights): 
a Budget Policy, a Debt Policy, a Fund Balance Reserve Policy, a Low Income Rate Relief 
Policy, A Revenue Policy, a Surplus Property Disposal Policy, and an Investment Policy. 
The Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) provided the basis and best practices for the policies.  
 
The Board asked several questions, including: what the following phrase meant, “that the 
District Budget Process will provide incentives to District management and employees”. 
The response was that through the policy and the budget process an incentive for following 
the policy is provided to management and staff. The language will be adjusted to place the 
focus onto the process providing guidance, and not that “incentives” will be provided.  
 
Other questions: Debt Policy question what “proper” approvals means, -- Rob Moody 
suggested the language, “established document and maintain a system of control over debt 
activities including board approvals for debt issuance and proper authorizations for debt 
service payments.” The Board approved that suggestion.  
 
Question on the end of the Investment Policy, paragraph about the authority of the Finance 
Director. Rob Moody suggested the language, “the finance director may engage the 
services of one or more external investment managers to assist in the management of the 
District’s investment portfolio in a manner consistent with this investment policy and in 



Oak Lodge Water Services District 
Minutes-Board of Directors Regular Meeting / September 18, 2018 
Page 3 of 9 
 

accordance with the District’s procurement policies and practices.” The Board approved the 
suggested language.  
 
Question about the meaning of “direct dealer relationships”. Rob Moody responded it 
means, “this is where the District would have a one-to-one relationship with a broker-dealer 
that is with respect to a specific transaction. The relationship is direct and does not work 
indirectly or through a third party.” He will follow up with a more succinct response.  
 
Question about the Low-Income Rate Relief Policy being set up like the former Water 
District Policy and not a specified percentage of the overall bill like the former Sanitary 
District Policy had. The language would clarify rate relief of “half for the water service 
charge component and half for the annually set entire wastewater and watershed protection 
fee.” The Board agreed with this clarification.  
 
Question about reasonability of the Revenue Policy statement, “all revenue by the District 
including any revenue received by any agent on its behalf is to be reconciled at least on a 
weekly basis.” The suggestion was made for it to be quarterly at least and maybe more 
often as time allows, possibly monthly. The Board agreed with this change.  
 
Question about the Debt Policy in Direct Debt, within Debt Position, and the phrase of 
ration of “Debt to Personal Income” and how we would do this? Rob Moody responded the 
statistical information is broken out and compiled at the local or at least the County level. 
Comment concerning the Oak Grove zip codes there is an average household income level 
broken out ($60,000). This information allows rating agencies and debt providers to 
evaluate the potential risk of their investment in providing a cost of debt to an organization. 
This encompasses certain kinds of debt and bonds, like geo-bonds.  
 
Question about the Fund Balance and Reserve Policy within each of the reserve funds, 
does the District have the knowledge about how to, “spread the cost of replacement of 
equipment over the life of the respective asset”? Staff responded the District evaluates and 
assigns depreciation information to assets and then will work to follow investments in asset 
repair/replacement. We are not to this goal yet, having recently set up the reserve funds, 
but this is the target. Comment that the life assigned to assets are conservative, and 
because of this should the District set reduced appreciation numbers? Comment that the 
numbers sound like an annual contribution as opposed to a reserve balance, so what is 
intended by this policy? Will the amount set aside annually be based on the rate of 
depreciation? Staff response we would target the total reserve to equal the level of our 
accumulated depreciation. The intention is to establish a reserve sufficient to take care of 
your annual capital replacement and maintenance needs, and then strive towards carrying 
out that goal. Comment that we cannot reserve replacement value, you can only reserve 
actual cost. We will have to calculate the rate increase to meet these goals over time, and 
the reserve will help to stabilize rates over time. The Board discussed several different 
models for establishing and maintaining reserve funds for municipalities and settled on the 
proposed 25% for the OLWS reserve fund.  
 
Question from the Investment Policy: what is a repurpose agreement? Rob Moody 
responded it is a risk hedging instrument which involves buy-back commitments although 
very few organizations use these agreements.  



Oak Lodge Water Services District 
Minutes-Board of Directors Regular Meeting / September 18, 2018 
Page 4 of 9 
 

 
Question on the Capital Reserve Funds about the use of the term “spread the costs of 
replacement of equipment” – Rob Moody responded that it should read “capital assets” 
instead of equipment.  
 
Question on the Investment Policy if the District compares the performance standards and 
evaluates our investments. Staff response that the District is restricted related to liquidity 
and only invests in the Local Government Investment Pool and does not look at other 
investments. Rob Moody responded we could meet the standard by looking at the changes 
in rates and benchmarked by looking at the state’s short-term fund board returns. At times 
we could move money in and out of the LGIP to catch opportunities for our investments, 
and possibly use a consultant to support this activity. We would report to the Board 
annually on the process and choices.  
 
The Board engaged in a conversation about the importance of using the approved policies 
to be not only aspirational but also that the policies are best practice and we must figure out 
how to accomplish what we have committed to in our policies. 
 
Question about the Debt Policy and where the District would use “conduit debt”. Rob 
Moody replied the City of Hillsboro issued conduit debt for Tuality hospital in order to build 
the hospital. Because they do not have the ability to issue debt themselves, they pass the 
money from Tuality through to the debt provider. This will not be likely for OLWS. 
 
Question about the application of System Development Charges and when will they be 
reviewed. Staff and Board responded that how they are calculated is defined by state law 
and is used to create the District’s master plans, how they are regulated and applied is 
defined in the District’s Rules and Regulations. This will be looked at in February for water, 
watershed protection will be looked at during the December after that, and the sewer would 
be in the following June. 
 
These policies would be reviewed by the union and then will return to the Board. 
 
 
5. Second Reading of Ordinance No. 18-02 to Ratify Resolution No.18-08 amending 

and restating the District’s North Clackamas County Water Commission’s 
Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) 

 
General Manager Sarah Jo Chaplen provided an update on the long process of the IGA 
and if approved it will be filed at Clackamas County Recorder’s Office and at the Office of 
the Oregon Secretary of State, as well as an original being held at the District level. There 
were no further questions or discussion.  
 
Treasurer Fisher moved that the Board conduct the second reading of Ordinance No. 
18-02 by title only. Secretary Keil seconded the motion. 
Ayes:  5 
Nays:  None 
Motion carried: 5-0  

 
 



Oak Lodge Water Services District 
Minutes-Board of Directors Regular Meeting / September 18, 2018 
Page 5 of 9 
 

6. Commercial Real Estate Broker/ Agent of Record Contract 
 

General Manager Sarah Jo Chaplen has been working with the facilities subcommittee and 
after reviewing many options about moving forward with meeting the operational needs of 
the District. Currently, they are requesting to work with a commercial real estate broker to 
make the best decisions. Options include to sell the former Sanitary District building and to 
expand the former Water District site to increase viability, to sell both buildings and have a 
third site in the District. The broker will assist the subcommittee with estimates on costs of 
sale and purchase for the various options. 
 
Question about what it means to have full range of commercial real estate services and the 
staff responded that they will have information and strategies that will assist OLWS in 
making good decisions on multiple levels of sales/purchase for real estate transactions. 
Further conversation about the level of service needed for this position and the contract 
that will be created to support this service.  
 
Director Gornick moved to authorize our General Manager to issue the notice of 
intent to award and negotiate the contract for Commercial Real Estate Broker/ Agent 
of Record services from 2018-2022. Secretary Keil seconded the motion. 
Ayes:  5 
Nays:  None 
Motion carried: 5-0  

 
 

7. Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with North Clackamas Parks and Recreation 
District (NCPRD) Regarding Partnership on Boardman Wetland Complex Project 

 
District Engineer Jason Rice shared that we are waiting to hear about the official grant 
award for the nature play area of the Boardman Wetland Project. He reminded the Board of 
the purchase and sale agreement written up with NCPRD for the North Addie Street lot last 
March. The agreement was put into place to show the Oregon State Parks Board that 
NCPRD would own and be responsible for the property on which they were applying to 
build the park. To complete this transaction, OLWS needs to have an IGA about how the 
funds will be exchanged. Overall, NCPRD commits to reimbursing OLWS for all expenses 
tied to adding the Nature Playground to the Boardman Wetland project. OLWS commits to 
the continued management of the construction project. Staff went through the contract to 
highlight changes, including a standard warranty expiration period, indemnification was 
made mutual in the agreement, and clarifications which do not change the intent of the 
contract. Another change to the motion is the OLWS Board President will sign the 
document although the points of contact will remain at the jurisdiction staff level (Sarah Jo 
Chaplen and Scott Archer). We will have ongoing easements for the sewer line, which is 
the only ongoing obligation of OLWS to the area. 
 
Treasurer Fisher moved to direct staff to work with legal counsel to finalize an 
Intergovernmental Agreement with North Clackamas Parks and Recreation District 
for the Partnership of the Boardman Wetland Complex Project and to have the Chair 
sign the Agreement once finalized. Director Williams seconded the motion. 
Ayes:  5 
Nays:  None 
Motion carried: 5-0  

 



Oak Lodge Water Services District 
Minutes-Board of Directors Regular Meeting / September 18, 2018 
Page 6 of 9 
 

 
 
8. Department Reports 

 
• Finance Report:  

Finance Director Kelly Stacey shared they are putting together year end 
documentation for OLWS and for the Water Commission. They will go live with payroll 
for the Commission at the end of October. She has started her comprehensive 
analysis of the FCS Report, noticing that their report was based on actual numbers 
from 2015-2016 and using it to compare to current actuals. She mentioned the 
temporary staff Matt Parla being hired to cover for time when two members of the 
administrative team were both out of the office. He will be here through the end of 
October. The consultant from Plan B is interviewing about half of the employees for 
the risk assessment to document a variety of perspectives on work left to complete 
after the consolidation. 
 

• Field Operations Report:  
Field Operations Superintendent Todd Knapp reported 94% of the total goal for 
cleaning and inspecting the lines. He highlighted aspects of his Board report. They 
will be starting work with the easement machine in the next week. Water use numbers 
were higher than average. A water hydrant had to be moved at the Addie Street 
property. Sand was added to the Valley View reservoir site, which allows for ease of 
landscaping. The Board relayed a public comment on flooding concern for the 
outflow/conduit on the Risley Street side outflow from the small box into River Forest 
Lake. The Board wanted to know who had responsibility for water quantity as well as 
water quality in a similar situation. The public talked to Water Environment Services 
and WES thought the conduit belonged to the Parks District. There is beaver activity 
in this area also, and the question is who is responsible for what layers in situations 
like these. Jason Rice mentioned this issue will be a focus of the upcoming Special 
Board meeting on October 10th. The Board mentioned it was important for them to 
have time to clarify current District responsibilities and level of service before opening 
it up to the public. He encouraged the Board to become familiar with the Municipal 
Separate Storm Sewer Systems (MS4 Permit) before the meeting. Sarah Jo Chaplen 
mentioned the accident issue that was dealt with while Todd was on vacation over 
Labor Day weekend, and the good work that Brad and the on-call field staff provided. 
 

• Plant Operations Report:  
Plant Superintendent David Mendenhall commented on the continued operation and 
fine tuning the process. He was glad to bring in the last operator and get the new 
maintenance staff up to speed. He went over the photos in his staff report showing 
the pumps that are being rebuilt, which is significantly more cost effective than 
purchasing new pumps. The Board asked a question about how much time was spent 
with the crane operators on site and staff responded they were out at a four-hour 
minimum. The Board asked if this work should have been completed sooner and staff 
responded yes, but it had been attempted in the past and the job was not completed. 
The Board asked what a “volute” is, and staff responded the volute is a round piece 
that fits around a propeller blade and helps to create the centrifugal force for a pump. 
He also pointed out that the annual generator work was completed. 



Oak Lodge Water Services District 
Minutes-Board of Directors Regular Meeting / September 18, 2018 
Page 7 of 9 
 

 
• Technical Services Report:  

District Engineer Jason Rice did not yet have word on the receipt of the grant by 
NCPRD. He added two points. The first was how much he enjoyed the Oak Grove 
Trolley Trail Festival with Kevin and Sarah Jo at the event. He thought there were 
quite a few people there, there were many good items to give away, many good 
conversations, and OLWS appreciated being located next to the Oak Lodge 
Community Emergency Response Team. Two items that were very well-received 
were the emergency water bags and the leak detection kits. There were usually a line 
of people waiting to talk and receive information as well as free give-away items. He 
illustrated his report and the various projects that were underway. Concerning the 
Boardman Wetland Project, he highlighted the piles for the boardwalk had been 
driven, the contractors were nearing the end of grading, they were getting ready to 
burst the sewer pipe. They will pull the new pipe through and break the old pipe to 
create a new watertight sewer pipe flowing under the wetland. They will do three pulls 
in about three days to complete that solid pipe replacement all the way from Jennings 
Avenue to Boardman. He will need to ask for an extension for the contractor’s in-
water work permit, pushing it out past the end of September. 

 
 

9. Call for Public Comment 
Eric Hofeld thanked the Board for allowing them to share his expertise with OLWS. The 
Board reciprocated his gratitude and let him know how much they valued his knowledge. 

 
 

10.  Business from the Board 
Treasurer Fisher attended to the Oak Grove Community Council meeting and shared the 
presentation from the local business owner, Lazerwerks, located in the Gigi’s complex. The 
owner has been there since 2007 and they provide awards, placards, and engravings for 
many customers. The New Century Players gave a long presentation. The Land Use 
Application Review Team (LIUART) presented information on the vacant lot right next to 
the house across the street from the OLWS administration building – could this be a 
possibility for parking for the District? 
 
Vice President Keil attended the North Clackamas Chamber of Commerce Public Policy 
Forum and referred to her report in the Board Packet. There was a disorganized 
presentation on a tobacco retail licensing Measure from the Oregon Health Department. 
The presentation was not well-received, and many thought the work to protect people from 
underage smoking could be better done by another entity, like the Oregon Liquor Control 
Commission. The second presentation was by the Superintendent of the North Clackamas 
School District about the levy on the ballot. The levy will cost about $30/month for a home 
assessed at about $221,800 and will help the District catch up because of lagging funding 
requests over the last decade compared with state’s budget increases over the same 
period. The third presentation was Dave Hun talking about high pharmaceutical prices and 
their goal to put pressure on drug companies to lower costs. There was no specific plan 
outlined or fundraising goal at this time, so there was little impact.  
 



Oak Lodge Water Services District 
Minutes-Board of Directors Regular Meeting / September 18, 2018 
Page 8 of 9 
 

Director Williams reported that the Jennings Lodge CPO had a presentation from the new 
Executive Director, Neil Shulman from North Clackamas Urban Watersheds Council 
presented on NCUWC mission and thanked OLWS for their funding. Next came a 
presentation about what CPO’s in Clackamas County have learned over the past five 
years. The takeaway is that the County Commissioners do not care about unincorporated 
neighborhoods, advocacy and lobbying are the best ways to approach public officials and 
planning and zoning regulations need to be fixed. Upcoming goals for CPO’s will be to 
amend zoning regulations, a focus on who they help elect (for all elected positions), and 
that they want to see permit and building applications tracked to ensure that conditional 
uses are being met. Then they asked what topics should be at CPO meetings. Suggestions 
included education for the group regarding zoning regulations and non-compliance, 
develop a list of properties in Jennings Lodge that could be subdivided for infill. They 
discussed garage sales and that frequent sales at regular locations were in compliance. 
 
Director Paul Gornick attended the August 22nd meeting of the Sunrise Water Authority. 
They interviewed two candidates for one of the two open Board positions and the Board 
selected Wayne Barstow for Position #3. The Board unanimously passed the first reading 
of Ordinance 2018-01 reconstituting the NCCWC under the new IGA. The second reading 
will take place on September 26th. There were discussions on topics from their consent 
agenda items involving main replacements whose final budgets were significantly higher 
than their projected CIP budgets. One had more than doubled due to half-street 
replacement conditions placed by the County. The Board nominated and approved their 
representatives to the NCCWC and the Clackamas River Basin Council. During the 
meeting the managers requested Board direction for over and under billing on customer 
accounts and the consensus was to look back 24 months on the accounts, delegating the 
payment arrangements to be made through the General Manager. Board review of specific 
cases would take place as requested by either the G.M. or the customer. In the operations 
section he noted that unaccounted-for water dropped from 10% in May 2017 to 6.5% in 
July 2018. The Board convened their local contract review Board and approved an 
exemption from competitive bidding of meters and related equipment and bank and 
payment services. Then they amended by resolution a 2015 ordinance to include recurring 
budget approved purchases in the $50,000 spending limit for the G.M. 

 
President Gibson attended C4 where the big topic was vehicle registration and fees. She 
highlighted a graphic (see Board packet). Washington County has 1300 miles of road with 
an annual collection of 14.9 million dollars funded by four funding sources: a local gas tax, 
a road tax, local property tax and vehicle registration. Multnomah County has 230 miles of 
road with 17.9 million dollars funding from local gas tax and vehicle registration fees. 
Clackamas County has 1400 miles and no local funding sources currently (except for gas 
tax from the state of Oregon). Clackamas County would like to deed their roads to the cities 
within it. The Cities would like to own the roads because currently Clackamas County does 
not build its roads up to the same standards that cities require. Comment that with a vehicle 
registration fee, 40% goes to the county and the rest to the city, which can use it as 
needed. Many people want to make sure that the money would go to road related needs.  
 
OLWS does not have a CRBC Board liaison, and we are not required to. Kevin Williams 
does not need to be an alternate for “Impact” because Nancy Gibson is the alternate to the 
primary Don Trotter. This meeting is twice a month, second and fourth Wednesdays. Along 



Oak Lodge Water Services District 
Minutes-Board of Directors Regular Meeting / September 18, 2018 
Page 9 of 9 
 

with this meeting is the C4 Metro Subcommittee Meeting every Wednesday at 7:30 a.m.  
Susan Keil must be the alternate to Lynn Fisher for the Oak Grove Community Council 
because she lives in the area. Who will go to CRW meetings? Lynn Fisher volunteered to 
attend the CRW meetings, and Paul Gornick volunteered to be the alternate. Lynn Fisher 
updated the group that the DAB is not currently meeting (NCPRD) and that the Master 
Planning CAC is also not currently meeting. The Concord Community Stakeholders 
Association is no longer in existence. The new Concord Task Force will start meeting in a 
few weeks and Lynn Fisher will be a part of it, representing DAB and parks constituents, 
not OLWS. 

 
 

11. Adjourn Regular Meeting 
 President Nancy Gibson adjourned the regular meeting at 8:43 p.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
              
Nancy Gibson      Susan Keil 
President, Board of Directors    Secretary, Board of Directors 
 
Date:        Date:       



  

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
To:   Board of Directors 
From:   Kelly Stacey, Finance Director    
Agenda Item:  Consolidation Cost Savings Report   
Item No.:    4 
Date:   October 16, 2018    

 
 
Background 
 
In 2015 the FCS Group conducted a study of the former water and sanitary 
districts to identify efficiencies which would likely result from the consolidation of 
the two districts. The report cited several opportunities for cost savings due to 
efficiencies anticipated with the consolidation.  Their report provides a structure 
and framework for evaluating those specific opportunities.  
 
FSC Group predicted consolidating the two agencies would result in ongoing 
savings of about $425,000 per year. These savings would result from 
eliminating three positions, combining the financial system, combining the office 
space, and reducing materials and services budgets in consequence of having 
one district instead of two.  
 
The FSC study was the basis of asking the public to decide if consolidation was 
in the best interest of the customers.  In May of 2016 the voters overwhelmingly 
voted to consolidate Oak Lodge Water District and Oak Lodge Sanitary District.  
On January 1, 2017, Oak Lodge Water Services District became the new 
combined district.   
 
Overview 
 
The attached report is the analysis of the savings related to the consolidation.  
Using the FSC report as a framework, I methodically researched the savings.  I 
used the 2016 audited financial reports from both former agencies as my 
beginning numbers.  In evaluating the savings, I used the current pricing, 
contracts for services and known salaries to determine the dollars saved.  Most 
of the materials and services savings are known, but not yet fully reflected in 
the District’s spending.  For instance, we have consolidated to one Financial 
Software system, however last fiscal year we were still paying maintenance and 
support fees on the legacy systems.  Beginning January 2019, we will have only 
one annual fee.  By the 2020 fiscal year, we should fully recognize savings as 
described in the report.  With that being said, it is important to note that some of 
the one-time costs related to the consolidation may still continue for some time.   



  

  
It is also important to note that the two administrative offices have not yet been 
combined—this is a project in process.  Consequently, the savings or costs 
associated with combining them will be coming in a separate report and have 
not been evaluated as part of the Consolidation Cost Savings Report before 
you today. 
 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that the board of Directors approve this report to be 
published on our website and saved as an official report of the savings related 
to the consolidation. 
 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Consolidation Cost Savings Report 
 
 



 

PAGE | 1  
 

 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Kelly Stacey, Finance Director 
Subject:  Consolidation Costs Savings Report 
Date:  October 16, 2018 

Introduction 
In February of 2015, FCS Group (FCS) was hired by both Oak Lodge Sanitary District (OLSD) and 
Oak Lodge Water District (OLWD) to evaluate the potential consolidation of the two districts. As 
a part of this evaluation, FCS examined the characteristics of the two organizations, job functions 
and materials and services budgets to identify cost savings. In December of 2015, FCS Group 
submitted an Evaluation of Agency Consolidation of Oak Lodge Sanitary District (OLSD) and Oak 
Lodge Water District (OLWD) for review with the Board and the public. 

 This memorandum is intended to be an up-to-date cost savings analysis of the FCS Group report.  
The report provides a structure and framework for evaluating those specific opportunities and 
responses to each element in assessing the efficiencies recognized.  Some of the items, such as 
personnel costs related to the vacant positions were recognized from the beginning, others 
began in the current fiscal year, such as the finance software maintenance.  In any case, the 
figures given are the long-term ongoing savings that will be seen in whole beginning with the 
2019/2020 fiscal year.    

Summary 
FCS Group identified these high-level efficiencies as likely to result from the consolidation 
efforts.  Each of the elements cited are more fully developed and addressed in detail below: 

1. Consolidating the two Districts would result in ongoing savings of about 
$425,000 per year. These savings would primarily result from eliminating 
three full-time equivalent (FTE), combining the two separate financial 
systems, combining the office space, and reducing materials and services 
budgets in consequence of having one district instead of two.  

a. $214,000 of the savings was estimated to come from personnel 
costs  

b. $211,000 of the savings was estimated to come from the materials 
and services budgets. Any organizational change of this magnitude 
would be unavoidably complicated.   



 

 

2 | P A G E  
 

2. Three positions were vacant by the January 1, 2017 formation of Oak 
Lodge Water Services District (OLWSD)—one of the General Managers, one 
high-level manager and one administrative staff employee.  This has two 
implications under the recommended scenario:  

a. First, no employees were laid off as part of the consolidation. 

b. Secondly, the ongoing savings would be realized at the early end 
of the implementation period, generating sufficient savings to fund the 
one-time costs.  Estimated one-time costs of $870,000 were identified 
in the report.  

3. Market and sell the OLSD building.  

a. Estimate that about $730,000 of one-time revenue could be 
generated, which could logically be used to offset the cost of 
remodeling the current administration building to house all the 
necessary staff.  

b. This original assumption has proven to be false.  As time has 
passed, the value of the OLSD building has grown in value, as has the 
cost of the construction of the new office space due to the refinement 
of the requirements of the ultimate space and the rapidly rising costs of 
construction in general within Oregon. Staff is currently looking at what 
are the likely true costs.  This current report will not address any costs 
or savings related to this portion of the consolidation.   

Ongoing Savings and One-Time Costs 
FCS evaluated each employees’ job function. Based on this analysis they determined through 
their assumptions the elimination of 3 to 4 FTE and developed two scenarios based on this 
analysis.  The newly formed District opted to choose Scenario 2 which was recommended and 
would eliminate 3 FTE.  The 3 FTE would be a General Manager, a Finance/Administrative 
Manager, and an administrative support position.   

The previous District boards chose to have the FTEs eliminated through attrition rather than a lay 
off.  It was not determined exactly when the retirements or vacancies would take place and the 
savings would be recognized. As it turned out, all three positions were vacated before the 
consolidation went into effect on January 1, 2017.   

The indirect savings will take longer to achieve. With Scenario 2 the projected savings would be 
$425,000 per year beginning the year after all the positions were vacated.  This analysis will look 
at the actual savings and the offsets that are attributed to the positions and other savings related 



 

 

3 | P A G E  
 

to the consolidation. It will also address some cost avoidance, purchasing one new financial 
software at a purchase price of $150,000, instead of two finance systems each at a $150,000.     

Timing of Costs and Savings 

Although the savings of personnel costs came earlier than expected, many of the up-front costs 
have extended beyond the original timeline.  Considering it is past the originally forecasted 
estimate of a July 1, 2018 move in date to the combined building, we are projecting at least 
several more years to complete the items related to the consolidation.  Legal services continue 
to be necessary as staff develop new policies which had not been in place or needed updating 
and to negotiate a variety of new and revised contracts.  The District only recently began joint 
billing and the balance of the financial and permitting software will continue through fiscal year 
2018/2019.  With that in mind, OLWS will see part of the savings in 2018/2019 and full annual 
savings beginning in 2019/2020.  

At the same time, many savings and costs along with efficiencies in operations occurred early on 
and will add to continuing savings overtime in the potential costs of providing the current service 
level for the District.  After deferring capital projects for the last several years, the fund balances 
in Water, Wastewater and Watershed Protection has grown beyond the original amounts 
mentioned in the FCS report.  This money is needed for upcoming capital projects and to possibly 
fund a PERS side account to offset future increases.  It may be necessary to look to other funding 
sources to construct the new District headquarters as it is unlikely that the $500,000 (which 
includes the purchase of additional property) mentioned in the FCS report it a realistic number.    

So far, the fund balances have not been tapped to finance the one-time costs associated with the 
consolidation.  As a financial strategy, savings in other areas of OLWS have been reallocated to 
the areas needing extra funding for onetime expenditures. 

Process 
Spurred by the opportunity created by the planned retirement of one of the General Managers, 
the two boards began discussing the potential creation of a single district in 2013 and 2014. A 
preliminary feasibility study by Steve Donovan of Donovan Enterprises, Inc. was presented to the 
two boards in June 2014. The Donovan study projected potential ongoing savings of about 
$612,000 per year, based mostly on a reduction of five administrative and management positions. 
The Donovan study also identified potential revenue of $730,000 from the sale of the OWSD 
headquarters building. 

The Donovan study was a high-level look into the consolidation of the two Districts with 
unconfirmed assumptions.  Even with some overlap of duties, there is extra work required in 
each of the areas compared to being just one service.  Even though there are half the bills, there 
are still the same number of charges since Water, Wastewater and Watershed Protection are all 



 

 

4 | P A G E  
 

separate revenue producers.  The same goes with many of the other duties: one payroll but more 
employees than either of the prior agencies; one accounts payable but nearly twice as many 
invoices as either function had before; and the list goes on to include the work of the General 
Manager, Finance Director, Engineer and so on.  It was later determined by the FCS Report that 
it was not feasible to consider reducing staff by five FTEs as stated in the Donovan study.   

 Per-Employee Benefits 

The benefits percentages shown in the FCS report reveal several items regarding the cost of 
benefits for the two Districts. First, the salary-driven benefits were significantly higher for OLWD 
than OLSD—24% vs. 18%. Furthermore, per-employee benefits such as health insurance are also 
more costly to OLWD than they were to OLSD—$24,231 per employee as opposed to $20,031 
per employee. Among other things, this reflects the fact that OLWD employees paid 5% of their 
premium cost while OLSD employees paid 10%. In addition, the workers’ compensation budget 
per employee is higher for the OLWD than for the OLSD—$3,077 per employee as opposed to 
$1,677 per employee.  

Here we start to see efficiencies in the combined numbers for OLWS.  The numbers as a 
percentage are all better than the weighted average of the two districts.  Beginning September 
2017, the new rate for Oak Lodge Water Services is 19.69% for Tier 1 & 2 and 12.82% for OPSRP.  
The PERS rate for OLWS is up from OLSD but down from OLWD.  The current tax cost to the OLWS 
District is 19.79% which is just under the previous total.  The current cost per employee for 
healthcare and other benefits is decreased to $17,789.15 per employee.  This is less than either 
of the old Districts’ costs and is 19.18% of salary.  The overall benefits cost as a percent markup 
of salary cost is 46.475%.   

Many factors affect the overall benefits to salaries. Items such as lower average salaries per 
employee increases the benefits cost as percent of markup since the cost of medical and other 
insurance is a flat rate. The PERS rates continue to increase.  For 2018 the combined PERS equaled 
16.34% of salaries.  PERS rates will continue to rise, unrelated to the consolidation.  The rate is 
directly related to current and past employees.  As Tier 1 and 2 phases out there will be less 
fluctuation from year to year; however, that is decades away.   

In the meantime, agencies are looking to the State for ways to offset future increases and be 
more in control of their budgets for retirement.  The 2018 Legislature passed Senate Bill 1566, 
which was the result of the Governor’s Unfunded Actuarial Liability Task Force last year. The bill 
provides incentives for employers to make unfunded actuarial liability (UAL) lump-sum payments 
to PERS to reduce their contribution rates in the future.  The District is examining its options for 
participating in the buy-down program offered by the State.  Additional information will be 
brought to the Board once the analysis is complete. 



 

 

5 | P A G E  
 

Vacation and Sick Leave Accruals 

The OLSD was slightly more generous with vacation accruals, though it varied with an employee’s 
tenure. By year 2020, the accrual rates were the same. The OLWD had a more generous cap, 
allowing its employee to accrue up to 400 hours, compared with 220 hours for the OLSD. A higher 
cap creates a higher vacation payoff when employees leave their position. 

For the combined Districts, the vacation accruals moved to the prior OLSD’s slightly more 
generous and the prior OLWD’s more generous cap.  However, there is no longer the ability to 
sellback excess vacation.  The increased cap does add an increased liability to OLWS when 
employees leave employment as there could be a substantial payout. 

For sick leave, the accrual rates for both prior Districts were the same, at 96 hours per year. After 
ten years of service the OLWD allowed 25% of accrued sick leave to be cashed out upon 
separation, but its cost exposure is somewhat limited by capping sick leave accrual at 920 hours. 
Prior employees eligible for the sick leave payout have been compensated resulting in a one-time 
expense. OLSD did not offer any sick leave cash-out upon separation, and therefore had less need 
of a sick leave cap.   There is no longer this benefit which will save OLWS money in future years 
when employees retire.  

These differing approaches to employee accruals were apparent in the financial statements.  On 
June 30, 2014, OLWD’s total liability for accrued compensated absences was $126,255. For the 
OLSD—with more than double the annual salary cost—the figure was only $131,640.   

OLWS has taken a new approach.  Employees now do not have the ability to cash in vacation 
hours each year, and they do not get paid out for any compensatory time they have earned.  They 
do get the higher cap on their vacation hours of 400 hours and their compensatory time is capped 
at a rolling 80 hours.   On June 30, 2017 the OLWS’s liability for accrued compensated absences 
was $193,406, or 75% of the prior Districts’ combined 2014 total. 

Savings from Consolidation 

Personnel Costs  

For personnel costs a study was done for only the positions where it was thought potential 
overlap for work tasks performed by the two former Districts might occur.  Existing administrative 
and management functions were looked at, by position and then by function, with estimated 
time data provided by District officials. The time required for each function was measured in FTEs. 
In total, there were 18.0 FTEs of management and administrative employees in the two Districts. 

For each function, assumptions were made about the degree of duplication between the two 
agencies. The assumed percentage of duplication gave a basis on which to assess the time which 



 

 

6 | P A G E  
 

would be required for each function if the two agencies were combined. The result of this part 
of the analysis was a theoretical finding that 4.0 FTEs could be eliminated due to consolidation. 

Two scenarios were constructed that identified particular positions for a combined organization, 
along with the cost of those positions. Scenario 1 matched the functional analysis by assuming 
that 14 administrative and management positions would be needed by a combined District, thus 
saving 4.0 FTEs as compared to the two separate Districts. Scenario 2 is deliberately conservative 
by assuming that 15 administrative and management positions would be needed by a combined 
organization, thus saving only 3.0 FTEs. Where there were salary differences in what seem like 
comparable positions, the scenarios assumed the OLWS would choose the higher salary levels. 
The implication of this assumption is the savings generated by reducing positions would be partly 
offset by the cost of increasing the salaries of OLWD employees who become part of a new 
combined District. 

While both scenarios seem to work on paper, Scenario 2 was more conservative and probably 
more realistic. Because of the then existing vacancy and planned retirements, Scenario 2 also 
would allow a consolidation to take place without employee layoffs. Between the two scenarios, 
the OLWS opted to go with Scenario 2 and eliminated three positions.  All three positions were 
vacated prior to the January 1, 2017 formation of the OLWS. 

Materials and Services Costs 

After arriving at estimates of which positions might be needed by a combined agency and the 
personnel cost savings associated with each scenario, the spotlight was turned to the materials 
and services (M&S) part of the budget.  The consolidation has four main drivers of M&S savings. 
Some M&S costs would go down simply because of having one organization instead of two 
organizations. For example, with the consolidation, there is one board, one budget committee 
with one set of required legal notices, and postage for one set of customer bills with the three 
services billed on only one bill. 

Looking at M&S savings, as stated in the FCS report, there are four main drivers of the savings: 

• First, will be a look at savings simply because of having one organization. 

• Second, costs driven by the number of employees. 

• Third, the costs related to one headquarters building vs two.  Some of these savings have 
not yet come to fruition so cannot be substantiated.  One financial system, one GIS 
system, and other systems will be looked at.   

• And the fourth is more related to one-time costs related to bringing everyone to one 
headquarters and well as other items that have been identified.  



 

 

7 | P A G E  
 

In examining the actual costs, the attention will be on savings as well as added costs.  They will 
be netted to come to the ongoing costs related to the OLWS.  

After examining the M&S line items in detail, FCS estimated that consolidation would yield annual 
savings for M&S of about $211,000 under Scenario 2. 

According to the report, adding together the total ongoing savings in both personnel and M&S 
costs would result in an estimated consolidation savings of about $425,000 per year under 
Scenario 2. 

Savings in Personnel Costs 
Potential Time Savings by Function  

After obtaining rough time estimates for each individual employee, the data was sorted by 
standard function rather than by employee, to determine how much total time was being spent 
on each standard function. 

Based on the time estimates given by the District’s employees and the degree of overlap assumed 
for the various functions, it was determined that a total of 3.4 FTEs could be saved from the 
standard functions if the two Districts were combined into a single District. 

It is still too early to tell if this hypothesis was an accurate one.  Much of this first year has been 
spent in the consolidation of the Districts, most notably, the financial software implementation.  
This has required extra hours of work that will be continuing for several month as the cleanup 
will take some time to complete.  In addition, there are other items on the horizon that will 
occupy the administrative staff’s time such as the new meter change-outs which require data to 
be entered into the financial system.  Administrative staff worked many hours of overtime and 
temporary staff were hired to help with the added workload attributed to the consolidation and 
financial software implementation and may need to be continued for much of this fiscal year as 
the workload continues to be high. 

Translating Potential Time Savings into Dollars 

At the time of the official consolidation, three positions had been vacated; one General Manager, 
the Administration Services Manager, and one Administrative Assistant position.  At this point 
there is no plan to reduce staff any further.  As staff’s time is freed up in one area there may be 
some shifting of duties to cover areas that are currently lacking. 

At the consolidation onset, OLSW’s General Manager had retired leaving OLWD’s General 
Manager as the General Manager of the new District.  He has since retired, and there is a new 
General Manager. 



 

 

8 | P A G E  
 

Per the assumption of the FCS report, the OLWD’s Finance Director is now the Finance Director 
of the new District and serves as the manager of the administration staff. 

Also, as predicted in the FCS report, the administrative position at the wastewater treatment 
plant retired in June of 2016, thus giving OLWS the three vacant positions as the work of 
consolidating the two Districts began.   

Salary Reconciliation 

As noted earlier, OLSD had generally higher salaries than OLWD.  In constructing scenarios, FCS 
assumed that salaries for positions that appear comparable would be reconciled to the higher 
level. There are two reasons for this assumption: 

First for the managers: one potential rationale for the OLSD’s higher management salaries was 
the fact those managers were part of a larger organization, and had more employees reporting 
directly or indirectly to them. A consolidated District would be even larger than either of its 
component Districts, so the rationale for higher salary levels would still apply. 

For the non-managers: one important factor explaining the OLSD’s higher salaries was the 
unionized workforce. Because a successor District would inherit the union contract, it would not 
be able to reduce salaries for non-management OLWS personnel. Therefore, the new District’s 
only option was to either reconcile to higher salaries or continue the salary disparity. Continuing 
the salary disparity was viewed as unacceptable, so reconciling to the higher level was the result. 

Benchmark Salaries and Average Benefit Percentage 

In constructing scenarios with positions for a combined District, rather than using the actual 
salaries of current employees, FCS used “benchmark salaries” set to 95% of the top of the range. 
This was to allow decisions about particular positions to be abstracted from incumbents. 
Individual employees earned more or less than the benchmark salaries, but in the aggregate, the 
total benchmark salary cost was approximately the same as total actual salaries. 

FCS also averaged the benefit percentage for the two Districts. Mostly due to differing PERS 
charges, former OLWD benefits average 56% of salary cost, while former OLSD benefits average 
41% of salary cost. The scenarios in the FCS report used the weighted average benefits 
percentage, which was 46%. 

Since the purpose of this report is to highlight savings and costs that prevent savings, all 
personnel costs are being analyzed together.   The comparison is to the salaries at the time the 
positions were vacated and all other salaries on December 31, 2016 with the salaries at July 1, 
2017, which was after the union negotiations.   

Using rounded totals, in Scenario 1 the FCS report estimated ongoing personnel savings of 
$214,000 per year.  FCS used benchmark salaries as described above.  This analysis is based 



 

 

9 | P A G E  
 

on actual dollars spent previously and currently.  As shown in the charts below, the savings 
realized far exceeded the estimate with a $418,284 annual savings in salaries and benefits.  
That is a 9% annual savings.   

 

The next graph shows savings (in thousands) were realized in all the listed categories.  One 
remarkable thing about this is in the Employer Paid Insurance category: for all the former 
OLWD employees, life insurance value increased from $10,000 to $50,000, along with the 
addition of both short-term and long-term disability and yet there was still just over $3,000 
in annual savings. 



 

 

10 | P A G E  
 

 

Savings in Materials and Services Costs 
The M&S savings are driven by various factors. Some costs are saved simply because there is now 
one District instead of two. An example of this type of savings would be postage for mailing out 
customer bills. Other M&S costs are reduced because the number of employees would be 
reduced. Another example would be savings from having only one financial system. The M&S 
savings from combining headquarters buildings is not addressed here.  

FCS estimated the consolidation of the two Districts would save $88,861 in materials and 
services; reducing employees would save $45,735 and changing IT software would save $46,300 
for a total savings of $180,896.  However, FCS also estimated there would be costs related to 
reducing to one building before cost savings might accrue which will be analyzed in a separate 
report to be developed later by staff for the Board of the OLWS. 

The chart below outlines twelve key areas where FCS forecasted reduced costs or increased cost.  
To date the cost of telephones and janitorial has seen increases.  With the telephones the District 
chose to keep the more robust albeit more expensive system.  Even with the overall reduction of 
total telephone lines the cost of the service is now nearly $12, 000 more expensive than the 
combined total of the prior Districts.  As for janitorial services, the former OLWD paid slightly less 
than the current cost, however, it was discovered OLWD had not used a state required company 
for their service.  Also, the new janitorial service offers more services than were being performed 
prior to the consolidation.  The increase of $9,766 also includes the increase in the OLSD contract 
now taken over by OLWS.  In all other areas a reduction in cost has been realized.   



 

 

11 | P A G E  
 

 

Focusing on the thirteen areas outlined the combined District is experiencing annual savings in 
M&S of $303,822.  This represents a 35% savings as demonstrated in the graph below. 

 

Reasons for Projected Savings 

Following is a summary of the reasons for the projected ongoing savings. This analysis is 
compared to scenario 2 since the new District is operating under that scenario. With FSC 



 

 

12 | P A G E  
 

projecting savings of $392,000 per year excluding costs related to the building (elections expense 
is actually a biennial cost, it is shown as an annual cost for purposes of this report), the ongoing 
annual savings has far exceeded expectations coming in at $711,106. 

Personnel savings due to reduced staff time spent in billing and collections, front desk/customer 
reception, overall district management, Board support, annual budget process, budget 
monitoring, financial reports, and maintaining the account database for general ledger, accounts 
payable, billing system, GIS, and purchasing functions are where the FCS forecasted the greatest 
savings by the reduction of 3 FTEs for a total savings of $418,284.  

M&S items highlighted come in at a savings of $292,822.  The reason for on-going cost 
savings changes include: 

• Postage and mailing service cost reduced because of having fewer bills to mail out. 

• All Board expenses reduced because of having one Board instead of two. This includes 
Board compensation, Board training and travel, board meeting expenses, and Board 
elections. 

• Annual audit reduced because one District instead of two.  

• Auto allowance reduce because new General Manager has no auto allowance compared 
to both General Managers in the old Districts.  

• Cost of memberships, training and conferences, and mileage reimbursements are all 
reduced because of having three less FTEs and having one District.  

• Office supply costs lower due to fewer administrative employees.  

• The need for computer equipment, software, and related computer services reduced 
because of having fewer administration employees. 

• One legal notice instead of two because of having one District instead of two.  

• Reduced cost of web site maintenance, newsletters to the public, and Board meeting 
expenses because of having one district instead of two.  

• Annual licensing costs for financial system reduced because of combining the two existing 
systems onto one system.  

• Increased phone and janitorial cost because of choosing the richer plans of the two 
districts. 

 

The savings of $711,106 realized from the formation of the new District is significant and 
instrumental in offsetting one-time expenses.  This includes temporary personnel related to the 



 

 

13 | P A G E  
 

software conversion, consultancy cost for a risk assessment to aid in the development of new 
policies and procedures, financial system setup, and other finance assistance related to the 
consolidation, and additional attorney fees to review policies and initial contractual agreements 
of the new District.   

The one-time cost related to the purchase of the new financial software could be viewed as cost 
avoidance since both prior districts were looking at purchasing new software soon, consolidation 
meant only one finance system needed to be purchased.   

There will be future increases such as the annual licensing costs for expanding the maintenance 
management system to add water items and the GIS system since the combine services increases 
the pipe segments raising OLWSD to a new cost tier. 

The benefits in efficiencies continue to surface as the field crews from water and collections work 
together on projects that ultimately save the District money.  Recently they were involved in 
building a driveway at the plant that saved the cost of hiring a contractor.  During some periods 
of low staffing on the sanitary crew, the water crew has been able to help with driving the solids 
truck to the disposal site. Many of the field workers have started cross-training to cover in times 
of need. 

There have been some unanticipated issues during the consolidation process which have 
interrupted the timeline and created some hardships which needed to be worked through.  The 
District has had to fill nine of the thirty-four positions due to employees vacating their positions 
for new endeavors.  Filling the positions and keeping services going has caused additional work 
for the remaining employees and has been time consuming.   It has also caused some lag in the 
timelines initially anticipated.  OLWS is now fully staffed and is focused back on track to complete 
the steps of the consolidation while welcoming and training the nine new employees.  

As stated in the FCS report there is a difference between cost savings and a reduction in the 
budget or rates. In this case, we are talking about cost savings, which might not lead to a reduced 
budget or rates. The normal cost pressures of inflation, capital projects, or regulatory 
requirements can lead to increased costs independent of the effect of a consolidation. For 
example, if a new position were to be needed to meet a stormwater regulatory requirement, 
that would offset the savings created by consolidating the districts. But even in that instance, it 
would still be accurate to state (assuming Scenario 2 savings) that the District expects the ongoing 
cost of a single District to be less than the combined ongoing cost of two separate Districts by 
about $711,000 per year in 2016 constant dollars. Just to provide a frame of reference: savings 
of $425,000 per year represented about 5% of the combined operating budget of the two 
Districts, or roughly two years of inflation.  The savings of $711,000 is nearly 8% of the 2019 
operating budget. 



 
STAFF REPORT 

 
    
To:   Board of Directors 
From:   Sarah Jo Chaplen, General Manager  
Agenda Item:   Commercial Real Estate Broker/ Agent of Record Contract  
Item No.:    5 
Date:   October 16, 2018 

 
    
Action Requested 
 
Authorize the General Manager to sign a contract with Cushman & Wakefield of 
Oregon, Inc., to provide full range of commercial real estate services to Oak Lodge 
Water Services District from 2018-2022. 
 
History 
 
May 2016 Voters in the District passed a measure to consolidate Oak Lodge 

Water District and Oak Lodge Sanitary District into a single district. 
3, 2004. 

January 2017 Oak Lodge Water Services (OLWS) became the new single District.   
Board directed staff to work on consolidating all of the operational 
teams together in order to enhance service delivery, this included 
the built facilities. 

July 2018 General Manager requested Board Facilities Sub-Committee be 
started to work with her on developing a complete range of options 
for the facilities portion of bringing the operational teams together 
and throughout the process until it is finished.  Lynn Fisher and 
Kevin Williams volunteered their expertise. 

October 1, 2018 Request for Proposal (RFP) for the Commercial Real Estate 
Broker/ Agent of Record closed. 

 
Background 
 
In working with the Facilities Sub-Committee, it became clear that expert real estate 
advice would assist the General Manager in making her recommendations to the Board 
for a complete range of options regarding the future use of two headquarters buildings, 
neither of which alone completely meets the District’s needs.  The options need to take 
into account the timing of construction and the realization of the highest potential value 
received for the property(s) in question.  Whether the options reviewed are an 
expansion of a building on one site, or sale of two sites and the purchase of a third, an 
experienced Commercial Real Estate Broker resource will add essential data to the 



  

depth and breadth of the analysis needed.  Once the Board has finalized their decisions 
and directions to the General Manager, the Commercial Real Estate Broker can execute 
the sale(s) and purchases decided upon by the Board. After extensive advertising using 
the OLWS website, the Daily Journal of Commerce and the State Oregon Procurement 
Information Network (ORPIN) one bid was received. The facilities sub-committee of 
Lynn Fisher and Kevin Williams as well as the General Manager thoroughly reviewed 
the bid and found it met all OLWS requirements. Cushman & Wakefield is the 
successful bidder. 
 
Financial Impacts 
 
Typically, a Commercial Brokerage firm is not compensated until a sale, or purchase is 
made and for each real estate transaction a separate agreement is signed which spells 
out the compensation in detail.  As part of the RFP process the potential range of costs 
were addressed by the bidder.  Any separate real-estate agreements will be reviewed 
by the Facilities Sub-Committee and the General Manager who will return to the full 
Board with her recommendations.  Compensation will be calculated differently if OLWS 
leases versus sells or buys.  For leasing typically, many of the costs are covered by the 
landlord depending upon negotiations.  Cushman & Wakefield has proposed a 
commission-based fee structure for disposition and acquisition of property.  The fee 
structure for the development/ disposal of the building(s) will be based on the following 
ranges and are paid per individual transaction: 
 

• For each individual real estate transaction less than $8 million the cost = 5% 
• For each individual real estate transaction between $8 million to $30 million the 

cost = 2% 
• For each individual real estate transaction more than $30 million the cost = 1% 

 
Suggested Board Motion 
 
“I move to authorize our General Manager to negotiate a final contract for Commercial 
Real Estate Broker/ Agent of Record services from 2018-2022 with Cushman & 
Wakefield, subject to final review by the District’s attorney.” 
 
Attachments 
 

1. Advertisement for Commercial Real Estate Broker 
2. RFP for Commercial Real Estate Broker 2018-2022 
3. Sample Personal Services Contract 

 



Oak Lodge Water Services District 

Request for Proposals 

2018-2022 

 

The Oak Lodge Water Services District is seeking proposals of commercial real estate brokers, 
agents, or advisors.  The District intends to select a licensed, qualified firm, or individual to 
provide a full range of commercial real estate services and related services to assist the General 
Manager and the Board in assessing a complete range of options regarding the future use of 
two headquarters buildings, neither of which alone currently fully meets the District’s needs. 
Proposals for the 2018-2022 Commercial Real Estate contract will be received at the District 
Office located at 14496 SE River Road, Oak Grove, Oregon 97267 until 2:00 p.m. on Monday 
October 1, 2018. Proposals received after the 2 p.m. deadline will not be considered and will be 
returned unopened to the proposer(s). 

The Request for Proposal may be obtained for no cost at the District website at 
http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/rfps 

Responses to the Request for Proposals shall be submitted in a sealed envelope plainly 
identifying the RFP name and Proposer’s Name and Address.  Proposals should be addressed to 
Sarah Jo Chaplen, 14496 SE River Road, Oak Grove, Oregon 97267. 

Proposers are advised to check the District’s website regularly for addenda and other pertinent 
notifications. 

Proposals will be opened on October 1, 2018 at 4:00 p.m. at the District’s office identified 
above. 

For additional information regarding this Request for Proposal, please contact Sarah Jo Chaplen 
at (503) 353-4200 or by email at sarahjo@olwsd.org. The District reserves the right to reject any 
and all proposals or to negotiate individually with one or more firms, and to select one or more 
firms on the basis if determined to be in the best interest of the District. 

 

mailto:sarahjo@olwsd.org


 
 
 
 

 
 

Request for Proposals 
 

for 
 

2018-2022 
 

Commercial Real Estate Broker/ 
Agent of Record 

 
 

August 2018 
 

  
 
 
 

Oak Lodge Water Services District 
14496 SE River Road 
Oak Grove, OR 97267 

(503) 353-4230 
 

 



 

OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES DISTRICT, OREGON 

COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE BROKER/ AGENT OF RECORD 

August 30, 2018 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The Oak Lodge Water Services District (District) is an Oregon water and sanitary district with a 
2016 population of approximately 30,000.  The District employs approximately 34 full time staff 
and is governed by an elected Board with five Board members.  The Board acts as the Local 
Contract Review Board for the District.  The District serves its public by providing safe drinking 
water, treating wastewater, and improving surface water quality through its MS4 Permit. 

 

OVERVIEW AND BACKGROUND 

The Oak Lodge Water Services District (District) is requesting proposals of commercial real 
estate brokers, agents, or advisors, hereafter referred to as “company”.  The District intends to 
select a licensed, qualified firm or individual to provide a full range of commercial real estate 
services and related services to assist the General Manager and the Board in assessing a full 
range of options regarding the future use of two headquarters buildings, neither of which alone 
currently fully meets the District’s needs.  In developing the potential range of options, creativity 
and the ability to estimate costs of construction options and income from sale(s) will be 
essential, as is experience working with similar utility businesses and the public sector. The 
company should then be able to work with the District through all the real estate steps of 
implementing the selected option.  The first property is referred to as the Technical Services 
Building and is at 14611 SE River Road, Oak Grove, Oregon 97267.  It is a single-story office 
building of 4,300 square feet, on a 0.5 acre lot, zoned C2. The second property is the District’s 
Administration Building at 14496 SE River Road, Oak Grove, Oregon 97267 and is a 
combination 6,100 single story office/ public works building, with a public works yard and two 
covered garages totaling 6,600 square feet of covered garage storage.  The property area totals 
1.275 acres and is on land zoned as R7.  

 

PURPOSE AND OPPORTUNITY 

District intends to retain a qualified commercial real estate firm or individual agent, broker, or 
advisor to assist in developing the range of options best suited to delivering to the District one 
headquarters building to house the administration, water distribution, sanitary collections and 
technical services teams as well as most of the public works rolling stock and other equipment 
and supplies needed for the District’s utility work.  The District is seeking a commercial real 
estate firm or individual to develop and evaluate a full range of options for a headquarters 
building for the District.  This includes examining the current market for similar alternative 



buildings/ properties which must be sited within the District’s service area and advising the 
District on the best options to sell one or both District buildings in a timely manner that best 
protects the District’s interests.  The company will then market the District property(s) through 
commercial real estate marketing methods until the property(s) sell, or until the contract with the 
commercial real estate company expires.  The company will also execute any real estate 
purchases selected from the analyzed options presented to the General Manager and the 
Board. 

Award of this contract, if any, will be to firm or individual deemed best qualified, in accordance 
with the selection criteria, to perform the services outlined in this RFP, and to perform other 
services as deemed necessary by District.  The District reserves the right to award a contract to 
multiple firms or individuals if the District determines it is in the best interest of the District to do 
so.  The District will award the RFP based on the proposal(s) that provide the greatest value to 
the District.  Compensation, while an important factor, will be only one criterion used to evaluate 
the responses to the RFP. 

The General Manager and Facilities Sub-Committee will evaluate all submissions and make a 
recommendation for services to the District Board.  Please do not attempt to contact any staff or 
official of any participating agency outside of this RFP selection process.  Due to the number of 
interested companies for this project we are unable to grant individual meetings prior to the 
submittal date, but the District may request interviews of the top-scoring responders. 

 

HOW TO RESPOND TO THE RFP: 

The RFP document is available at http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/rfps.  Each Proposer 
shall provide three copies of its response, sealed in an envelope plainly identifying Project 
Name, and Proposer’s Name and Addressed.  Proposals shall be addressed and submitted to 
the following location by 2 p.m. on Monday, October 1, 2018. 

Oak Lodge Water Services District—Sarah Jo Chaplen 

14496 SE River Road 

Oak Grove, Oregon 97267. 

All proposals must arrive at the Oak Lodge Water Services District Office on or before the time 
and date due. Electronically mailed or faxed proposals will not be accepted.  

TIME, DATE, AND PLACE OF OPENING 

Proposals will be opened at 4 p.m. on Monday, October 1, 2018. 

PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS AND SCORING 

The proposals should include all of the following information: 

A) Identifying Information – identify the company, individual, broker, or agent who will 
serve the District.  Include a description of each person’s role in the projects, if more 
than one person is representing the proposer.  Include any business alias information, 
real estate license information, and any proposed sub-contracting arrangements.  
Include physical addresses, contract person(s), phone numbers and e-mail addresses. 



B)  Experience – describe the experience that the firm, individual, broker or agent has in 
the successful sale, purchase, or lease of a headquarters building in the Portland/ 
Metropolitan region where you have assisted clients to expand their current 
headquarters or move their headquarters to a different site.  What parts of the project did 
the company work on and what unique considerations did you need to address to meet 
your client’s goals? Please describe any relevant experience working with other utility 
businesses and with public sector entities. Include an explanation as to how you and 
your company will add value above and beyond other potential proposers. 

C) Compensation – fully identify all commissions, fees, and other compensation (including 
the source thereof), as wells as reimbursable expenses, that will be paid to the firm or 
individual advisor, agent or broker.  Identify and clearly define said expenses including a 
schedule of expenses applicable when acting on behalf of the District as either the 
buyer, the seller, the lessor, or the lessee.  All expenses shall be clearly denoted as 
either a fixed fee or as a percentage of the sales or lease price as applicable.   

D) Terms and Conditions – this RFP includes a draft services agreement the District 
intends to use as the contract with the successful proposer(s).  Please provide any 
additional terms and conditions or proposed modifications to the service agreement.  
The District will negotiate a final agreement with the successful proposer(s) within the 
scope of the services called for by this RFP. 

E) Authorization – proposals must contain the signature of at least one individual who 
authorizes the proposal.  If signed on behalf of a firm, said signatory must provide 
evidence of authority from the firm – typically as an officer, primary agent, or owner.  

F) Project Approach - proposals must contain a description concerning how the project 
would be completed including timelines, information needed from District in order to 
prepare a through analysis, and why the proposed approach and experience are best for 
the District.  The proposer must meet the highest standards prevalent in the industry or 
business most closely involved in providing the services. 

G) Disclosures – proposals must specifically address the following disclosures: 
a. Is the proposer currently or expecting to assist any other organization in a search 

for land or office space within the District’s boundaries? 
b. How does the proposer resolve the situation if a potential or actual conflict of 

interest develops while providing services to the District? 

Failure to provide the above information may disqualify the proposal as non-responsive. 

Proposals will be scored by assigning each Evaluation Criterion a score from 0-100 and 
weighting the score based on the following factors: 

Evaluation Criterion Weighting Factor 
Experience 25% 
Compensation 25% 
Proposed Terms and Conditions 25% 
Project Approach/Conflict Disclosure Process  25% 
  

 

Ranking of Proposals 

Proposals may be ranked by the Selection Review Committee based on evaluation of 
responses and interviews (if any), with the first-ranked Proposal being that Proposer which is 
deemed to be the most appropriate, all in the sole judgement of the Selection Review 
Committee. The District seeks to select the most qualified proposer.   



Proposal scores will be totaled and ranked.  Any Proposal in response to this RFP shall be 
considered de facto permission to the District to disclose the results, when completed, to 
selected reviewers at the sole discretion of the District. 

 

OTHER PROVISIONS 

District’s Rights Reserved – District reserves the right to accept or reject any or all proposals 
in whole, or in part, to waive any irregularities in any proposal, to accept the proposal, which in 
the judgement of District is most advantageous to District and to re-advertise if desired. 

Conflict of Interest -By submitting a proposal, the proposer declares that it presently has no 
known interest, and shall acquire no interest, direct or indirect, that would conflict in any manner 
or degree with the performance of its services hereunder.  Proposers further agree that, in the 
performance of the agreement, no person having any such interest shall be employed. 

Ownership – All documents and materials prepared pursuant to this RFP and the resulting 
contract will become the property of District.  District shall have the unrestricted authority to 
publish, disclose, distribute and otherwise use, in whole or in part, any reports, data or other 
materials prepared under this process. 

Verbal Agreement - No verbal agreement or conversation with any appointed official or 
employee of any of the parties involved, either before, during or after the submittal of a proposal 
shall affect or modify any of the terms or obligations herein contained, nor shall such verbal 
agreement or conversation entitle a proposer to any additional compensation or consideration 
whatsoever under the terms of this RFP. 

Changes – The District may, from time to time, request changes in the RFP.  Such changes 
shall be incorporated in written addenda to this RFP.  It is the responsibility of each Proposer to 
obtain any addenda, which will be made available on the District’s website - 
http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/rfps.   

Anti-Discrimination - No proposer shall discriminate against any person or applicant for 
employment because of race, color, creed, religion, sex, national origin or ancestry, age, marital 
status, physical or mental disability, political beliefs or affiliations, or sexual orientation. 

Protests – A proposer wishing to protest the procurement process, must make the protest in 
accordance with ORS 279B.400 through 279B.425 and OAR 137-046-0470. 

QUESTIONS 

All questions about this RFP must be directed only to Sarah Jo Chaplen, General Manager at 
sarahjo@olwsd.org. 

POSTED 

• Daily Journal of Commerce 
• Oregon Procurement Information Network 
• Oak Lodge Water Services District website http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/rfps 



    Contract No. _____________  

Engineering Services Agreement  Rev. 9/2015  1  

  
 

SAMPLE COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE 
BROKER/ AGENT OF RECORD SERVICES 

AGREEMENT WITH 
OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES DISTRICT  

  
THIS AGREEMENT, by and between Oak Lodge Water Services District, a special district formed under the 
authorization of ORS 264 and ORS 450, hereinafter called "District" and (Name and Address of Firm), whose 
authorized representative is (Name of Representative), hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor.”  
  

RECITALS  
  
WHEREAS, the District desires to consider options for either the expansion of the existing building or for the 
construction or acquisition of a new headquarters building, including the potential sale of Oak Lodge Water 
District property(s) as part of that project; and  
  
WHEREAS, the accomplishment of the work and services described in this Agreement is necessary and essential 
to the achievement of that task for the District; and  
  
WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to render professional commercial real estate broker 
services for the on-going work described in this Agreement, and the Contractor is willing and qualified to perform 
such services;  
  
THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and covenants contained herein, the parties hereby agree as 
follows:  
  
1.  Contractor’s Scope of Services  

The Contractor shall perform professional commercial real estate broker services relevant to the Project 
in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein, and as provided in Exhibit A, which is 
attached hereto and by this reference made a part of this Agreement (“Scope of Services”).  Except as 
otherwise modified in this Agreement, the Scope of Services shall include the proposal by Contractor 
dated _____ and which served as the basis for the District’s award of this Agreement to Contractor. 

  
2.  Effective Date and Duration  

This agreement shall become effective upon the date of execution by the District and shall expire, unless 
otherwise terminated or extended, on June 30, 2022, whichever comes first.  By mutual written 
agreement of the parties, this Agreement may be extended for an additional period or periods not to 
exceed two years beyond the initial term.  All work under this Agreement shall be completed prior to 
the expiration of this Agreement.  

  



    Contract No. _____________  

Engineering Services Agreement  Rev. 9/2015  2  

3.  Contractor’s Fee and Payment 
A.           Fee 

District shall pay Contractor for services performed under this Agreement in accordance with 
the rates set forth in Exhibit B [To be determined, based on structure and terms of successful 
proposal(s) and final negotiation with District] 
 

B.  Payment Schedule 
[To be based on proposal and determined after negotiations]  

 C.  Payment for Special Services  
Only when directed in writing by the District and signed by both parties as an addendum to this 
Agreement, the Contractor shall furnish or acquire for the District the professional services 
based on the hourly rate schedule as described in Exhibit A of this contract for minor project 
additions and/or alterations.  

 D.  Cost Records  
The Contractor shall furnish cost records for all billings pertaining to other than lump sum fees 
to substantiate all charges.  For such purposes, the books of account of the Contractor shall be 
subject to audit by the District.  The Contractor shall complete work and cost records for all 
billings in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  

 E.  Contract Identification  
The Contractor shall furnish to the District its employer identification number, as designated by 
the Internal Revenue Service, or social security number, as the District deems applicable.  

 F.  Payment – General  
1) Contractor shall pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from employees 

pursuant to ORS 316.167.  

2) Contractor shall pay employees at least time and a half pay for all overtime worked in 
excess of 40 hours in any one week except for individuals under the contract who are 
excluded under ORS 653.010 to 653.261 or under 29 USC sections 201 to 209 from 
receiving overtime.  

3) Contractor shall promptly, as due, make payment to any person, co-partnership, 
association or corporation, furnishing medical, surgical and hospital care or other 
needed care and attention incident to sickness or injury to the employees of Contractor 
or all sums which Contractor agrees to pay for such services and all moneys and sums 
which Contractor collected or deducted from the wages of employees pursuant to any 
law, contract or agreement for the purpose of providing or paying for such service.  

4) The District certifies that sufficient funds are available and authorized for expenditure 
to finance costs of this contract.  

5) Contractor shall make payments promptly, as due, to all persons supplying services or 
materials for work covered under this contract.  Contractor shall not permit any lien or 
claim to be filed or prosecuted against the District on any account of any service or 
materials furnished.  

6) If Contractor fails, neglects or refuses to make prompt payment of any claim for labor, 
materials, or services furnished to Contractor, sub-consultant or subcontractor by any 
person as such claim becomes due, District may pay such claim and charge the amount 



    Contract No. _____________  

Engineering Services Agreement  Rev. 9/2015  3  

of the payment against funds due or to become due to the Contractor.  The payment of 
the claim in this manner shall not relieve Contractor or its surety from obligation with 
respect to any unpaid claims.  

  
4.  Ownership of Plans and Documents:  Records  

A.   The District shall have unlimited authority to use the materials received from the Contractor in 
any way the District deems necessary.  Any use, re-use or alteration of any materials other than 
as contemplated by the applicable Scope of Services shall be at the District’s sole risk, unless 
written permission has been received from Contractor prior to any such use.  

B. The District shall make copies, for the use of and without cost to the Contractor, of all of its 
maps, records, laboratory tests, or other data pertinent to the work to be performed by the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement, and also make available any other maps, records, or 
other materials available to the District from any other public agency or body.  

C. The Contractor shall furnish to the District, copies of all maps, records, field notes, and tests 
which were developed in the course of work for the District and for which compensation has 
been received by the Contractor at no additional expense to the District except as provided 
elsewhere in this Agreement.  

  
5.  Assignment/Delegation  

Neither party shall assign, sublet or transfer any interest in or duty under this Agreement without the 
written consent of the other and no assignment shall be of any force or effect whatsoever unless and 
until the other party has so consented.  If District agrees to assignment of tasks to a subcontract, 
Contractor shall be fully responsible for the negligent acts or omissions of any subcontractors and of all 
persons employed by them, and neither the approval by District of any subcontractor nor anything 
contained herein shall be deemed to create any contractual relation between the subcontractor and 
District.  

  
6. Commercial Real Estate Broker/ Agent of Record is Independent Contractor  

A. The District’s General Manager, or designee, shall be responsible for determining whether 
Contractor’s work product is satisfactory and consistent with this agreement, but Contractor is 
not subject to the direction and control of the District.  Contractor shall be an independent 
contractor for all purposes and shall be entitled to no compensation other than the 
compensation provided for under Section 3 of this Agreement.  

B. Contractor is an independent contractor and not an employee of District.  Contractor 
acknowledges Contractor’s status as an independent contractor and acknowledges that 
Contractor is not an employee of the District for purposes of workers compensation law, public 
employee benefits law, or any other law.  All persons retained by Contractor to provide services 
under this contract are employees or agents of Contractor and not of District.  Contractor 
acknowledges that it is not entitled to benefits of any kind to which a District employee is 
entitled and that it shall be solely responsible for workers compensation coverage for its 
employees and all other payments and taxes required by law.  Furthermore, in the event that 
Contractor is found by a court of law or an administrative agency to be an employee of the 
District for any purpose, District shall be entitled to offset compensation due, or to demand 
repayment of any amounts paid to Contractor under the terms of the agreement, to the full 
extent of any benefits or other remuneration Contractor receives (from District or third party) 



    Contract No. _____________  

Engineering Services Agreement  Rev. 9/2015  4  

as a result of said finding and to the full extent of any payments that District is required to make 
(to Contractor or to a third party) as a result of said finding. 
  

C. The undersigned Contractor hereby represents that no employee of the District or any 
partnership or corporation in which a District employee has an interest, has or will receive any 
remuneration of any description from the Contractor, either directly or indirectly, in connection 
with the letting or performance of this Agreement, except as specifically declared in writing.  

D. If this payment is to be charged against Federal funds, Contractor certifies that he/she is not 
currently employed by the Federal Government and the amount charged does not exceed 
his/her normal charge for the type of service provided.  

E. Contractor and its employees, if any, are not active members of the Oregon Public Employees 
Retirement System and are not employed for a total of 600 hours or more in the calendar year 
by any public employer participating in the Retirement System.  

F. Contractor certifies that it currently has an appropriate business license or will obtain one prior 
to delivering services under this Agreement.  

G. Contractor is not an officer, employee, or agent of the District as those terms are used in ORS 
30.265.  

  
7.  Indemnity  

A. The District has relied upon the professional ability and training of the Contractor as a material 
inducement to enter into this Agreement.  Contractor represents to the District that the work 
under this contract will be performed in accordance with the highest professional standards of 
skill and care exercised by members of the Contractor’s profession under similar conditions and 
circumstances as well as the requirements of applicable federal, state and local laws, it being 
understood that acceptance of Contractor’s work by the District shall not operate as a waiver or 
release.   

B. Contractor shall fully defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Oak Lodge Water Services District, 
its employees, board members, volunteers and agents from any and all claims, lawsuits, 
demands, causes of action, liability, loss, damage, equitable relief, personal injury and/ or 
wrongful death), whether brought by an individual or other entity, or imposed by  a court of law 
or by administrative action of any federal, state or local governmental body or agency, arising 
out of, in any way whatsoever, any acts, omissions, negligence, or willful misconduct on the part 
of the Contractor, its employees, board members, volunteers and agents.  This indemnification 
applies to and includes, without limitation, the payment of all penalties, fines, judgements, 
awards, decrees, attorney’s fees, and related costs of expenses, and any reimbursements to Oak 
Lodge Water Services District for any and all legal fees, expenses, and costs incurred by it. 

 
8.  Insurance  

Contractor and its subcontractors shall maintain insurance acceptable to District in full force and effect 
throughout the term of this contract.  Such insurance shall cover risks arising directly or indirectly out of 
Contractor's activities or work hereunder, including the operations of its subcontractors of any tier.  Such 
insurance shall include provisions that such insurance is primary insurance with respect to the interests 
of District and that any other insurance maintained by District is excess and not contributory insurance 
with the insurance required hereunder.  

  



    Contract No. _____________  

Engineering Services Agreement  Rev. 9/2015  5  

The policy or policies of insurance maintained by the Contractor and its subcontractors shall provide at 
least the following limits and coverages:  

  
A. Professional Liability and Commercial General Liability Insurance  

Contractor shall obtain, at Contractor’s expense, and keep in effect during the term of this 
contract, Professional Liability Insurance, Commercial General Liability Insurance, and Auto 
Liability Insurance covering Bodily Injury and Property Damage on an “occurrence” form.  This 
coverage shall include Contractual Liability insurance for the indemnity provided under this. 
Such insurance shall be primary and non-contributory.  The following insurance will be carried:  

  
B. Commercial Automobile Insurance  

Contractor shall also obtain, at Contractor’s expense, and keep in effect during the term of the 
contract Commercial Automobile Liability coverage on an “occurrence” form including 
coverage for all owned, hired, and non-owned vehicles.  The Combined Single Limit per 
occurrence shall not be less than $2,000,000.  

C.  Workers’ Compensation Insurance the Contractor, its subcontractors, if any, and all employers 
providing work, labor or materials under this Contract who are subject employers under the 
Oregon Workers’ Compensation Law shall comply with ORS 656.017, which requires them to 
provide workers’ compensation coverage that satisfies Oregon law for all their subject workers.   

   
Out of State Contractors must provide workers’ compensation coverage for their workers that 
complies with ORS 656.126.  This shall include Employer’s Liability Insurance with coverage limits 
of not less than $500,000 each accident.  

 
D.  Additional Insured Provision  

The Commercial General Liability Insurance Policy and Automobile Policy shall include the 
District its officers, directors, and employees as additional insureds with respect to any liabilities 
that occur in connection with this contract.   
 

E.  Notice of Cancellation or Non-Renewal 
Contractor is responsible to provide the District at least 30 days written notice prior to any 
cancellation, material change, or intent to non-renew insurance coverage. Any failure to comply 
with this provision will not affect the insurance coverage provided to the District.  The 30 days’ 
notice of cancellation provision shall be physically endorsed onto the policy. 

 
F.  Insurance Carrier Rating  

Coverage provided by the Contractor must be underwritten by an insurance company or Pool 
deemed acceptable by the District.  The District reserves the right to reject all or any insurance 
carrier(s) with an unacceptable financial rating.  

 
G.  Certificates of Insurance 

As evidence of the insurance coverage required by the contract, the Contractor shall furnish a 
Certificate of Insurance to the District.  No contract shall be affected until the required 
certificates have been received and approved by the District.  A renewal certificate will be sent 
to the address below at least 30 days prior to coverage expiration.  

  



    Contract No. _____________  

Engineering Services Agreement  Rev. 9/2015  6  

Certificates of Insurance should read “Insurance certificate pertaining to contract for 
(Description of Work).  The District, its officers, directors and employees shall be added as 
additional insureds with respects to this contract.  “Contractor insurance coverage is primary” 
shall be written into the description portion of certificate.  

 
H.  Primary Coverage Clarification  

The parties agree that Contractor’s coverage shall be primary to the extent permitted by law.  
The parties further agree that other insurance maintained by the District is excess and not 
contributory insurance in any for any reason regarding the insurance required in this section.  

 
I.  Cross-Liability Clause  

A cross-liability clause or separation of insureds clause will be included in general liability. 
 

Contractor's insurance policy shall contain provisions that such policies shall not be canceled, or 
their limits of liability reduced without 30 days prior notice to District.  A copy of each insurance 
policy, certified as a true copy by an authorized representative of the issuing insurance company, 
or at the discretion of District, in lieu thereof, a certificate in form satisfactory to District 
certifying to the issuance of such insurance shall be forwarded to:  

   
Contract No. _____________  
District Attn:  Sarah Jo Chaplen   
Business Phone:  503-653-1653 
Business Fax:  503-653-0586 
14611 SE River Road    
Oak Grove, Oregon 97267  

  
Such policies or certificates must be delivered prior to commencement of the work.  Thirty days 
cancellation notice shall be provided District by mail to the name at the address listed above in 
event of cancellation or non-renewal of the insurance.  

  
The procuring of such required insurance shall not be construed to limit Contractor’s liability 
hereunder.  Notwithstanding said insurance, Contractor shall be obligated for the total amount 
of any damage, injury, or loss to the extent caused by negligence or wrongful acts in the 
performance of services with this contract.  

 
9.  Termination Without Cause  

At any time and without cause, District shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to terminate this 
Agreement by giving notice to Contractor.  If District terminates the contract pursuant to this paragraph, 
it shall pay Contractor for services rendered to the date of termination.  

  
10.       Breach and Remedy   

Upon breach of this Agreement, the parties shall have all rights and remedies provided by law or under 
this Agreement.  

  
  



    Contract No. _____________  

Engineering Services Agreement  Rev. 9/2015  7  

11.  Non-Waiver  
The failure of either party to insist upon or enforce strict performance by the other party of any of the 
terms of this Agreement or to exercise any rights hereunder, should not be construed as a waiver or 
relinquishment to any extent of its rights to assert or rely upon such terms or rights on any future 
occasion.  

  
12.  Method and Place of Giving Notice, Submitting Bills and Making Payments  

All notices, bills and payments shall be made in writing and may be given by personal delivery, mail, 
email or by fax.  Payments may be made by personal delivery, mail, or electronic transfer.  The following 
addresses shall be used to transmit notices, bills, payments, and other information:  
  

District   (Contractor's Firm Name):  

Attn:  Sarah Jo Chaplen  Attn: (insert contract manager's name)  
14496 SE River Road  
Oak Grove, Oregon 97267  

Address: (insert contract manager's address)  

Phone: (503) 353-4200 Phone: (insert #)  
Fax: (503) 653-1973 Fax: (insert #)  
Email Address: sarahjo@olwsd.org  Email Address: (insert address)  

 
and when so addressed, shall be deemed given upon deposit in the United States mail, postage prepaid, 
or when so faxed, shall be deemed given upon successful fax.  In all other instances, notices, bills and 
payments shall be deemed given at the time of actual delivery.  Changes may be made in the names and 
addresses of the person to whom notices, bills and payments are to be given by giving written notice 
pursuant to this paragraph.  

  
13.  Merger  

This writing is intended both as a final expression of the Agreement between the parties with respect to 
the included terms and as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the Agreement.  No 
modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless and until it is made in writing and signed by both 
parties.  

  
14.  Force Majeure  

Neither District nor Contractor shall be considered in default because of any delays in completion and 
responsibilities hereunder due to causes beyond the control and without fault or negligence on the part 
of the parties so disenabled, including but not restricted to, an act of God or of a public enemy, civil 
unrest, volcano, earthquake, fire, flood, epidemic, quarantine restriction, area-wide strike, freight 
embargo, unusually severe weather or delay of subcontractor or supplies due to such cause; provided 
that the parties so disenabled shall within ten days from the beginning of such delay, notify the other 
party in writing of the cause of delay and its probable extent.  Such notification shall not be the basis for 
a claim for additional compensation.  Each party shall, however, make all reasonable efforts to remove 
or eliminate such a cause of delay or default and shall, upon cessation of the cause, diligently pursue 
performance of its obligation under the Agreement.  

  
15.  Non-Discrimination  

Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable requirements of federal and state civil rights and 
rehabilitation statues, rules, and regulations.  Contractor also shall comply with the Americans with 



    Contract No. _____________  

Engineering Services Agreement  Rev. 9/2015  8  

Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, ORS 659A.142, and all regulations and administrative rules 
established pursuant to those laws.  

  
16.  Errors  

Contractor shall perform such additional work as may be necessary to correct negligent errors in the 
work required under this Agreement without undue delays and without additional cost.  

  
17.  Extra (Changes) Work  

Only General Manager may authorize extra (and/or change) work.  Failure of Contractor to secure 
authorization for extra work shall constitute a waiver of all right to adjustment in the contract price or 
contract time due to such unauthorized extra work and Contractor thereafter shall be entitled to no 
compensation whatsoever for the performance of such work.  

  
18.  Governing Law  

The provisions of this Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the provisions of the laws of the 
State of Oregon.  Any action or suits involving any question arising under this Agreement must be 
brought in the appropriate court of the State of Oregon.  
  

19.  Compliance With Applicable Law  
Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local laws and ordinances, including but not 
limited to ORS 279B.020, 279B.220, 279B.225, 279B.230, and 279B.235, which are incorporated herein.  
If Contractor is a foreign contractor as defined in ORS 279A.120, Contractor shall comply with that 
section and the District must satisfy itself that the requirements of ORS 279A.120 have been complied 
with by Contractor before District issues final payment under this agreement.  Contractor shall not 
provide or offer to provide any appreciable pecuniary or material benefit to any officer or employee of 
District in connection with this Agreement in violation of ORS chapter 244. By executing this Agreement, 
Contractor certifies it is in compliance with all tax laws of the State of Oregon and will remain in 
compliance during the term of this Agreement. 

  
20.  Conflict Between Terms  

It is further expressly agreed by and between the parties hereto that should there be any conflict 
between the terms of this instrument in the proposal of the contract, this instrument shall control and 
nothing herein shall be considered as an acceptance of the said terms of said proposal conflicting 
herewith.  

  
21.  Access to Records  

District shall have access to such books, documents, papers and records of Contractor as are directly 
pertinent to this Agreement for the purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts and transcripts.  

  
22.  Audit  

Contractor shall maintain records to help assure conformance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, and to help assure adequate performance and accurate expenditures within the contract 
period.  Contractor agrees to permit District, the State of Oregon, the federal government, or their duly 
authorized representatives to audit all records pertaining to this Agreement to help assure the accurate 
expenditure of funds.  

  



    Contract No. _____________  

Engineering Services Agreement  Rev. 9/2015  9  

23.  Severability  
In the event any provision or portion of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable or invalid by any 
court of competent jurisdiction, the validity of the remaining terms and provisions shall not be affected 
to the extent that it did not materially affect the intent of the parties when they entered into the 
agreement.  

  
24.  Complete Agreement  

This Agreement and attached exhibit(s) constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties.  No 
waiver, consent, modification, or change of terms of this Agreement shall bind either party unless in 
writing and signed by both parties.  Such waiver, consent, modification, or change if made, shall be 
effective only in specific instances and for the specific purpose given.  There are no understandings, 
agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified herein regarding this Agreement.  
Engineer, by the signature of its authorized representative, hereby acknowledges that he/she has read 
this Agreement, understands it and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions.  

  
  
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, District has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized undersigned 
officer and Contractor has executed this Agreement on the date hereinabove first written.  
  
OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES  
  
  __________________  
Signature    
  
  __________________  
Print Name & Title  
  
  __________________  
Date  
  
CONTRACTOR  
  
 __________________  
Signature    
  
  __________________  
Print Name & Title  
  
  __________________  
Date  
  



  

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
To:   Board of Directors 
From:   Kelly Stacey, Finance Director    
Agenda Item:  Adoption of Finance Policies   
Item No.:    6 
Date:   October 16, 2018    

 
 
Background 
 
Financial policies are central to a strategic, long-term approach to financial 
management. Some of the most powerful arguments in favor of adopting 
formal, written financial policies include their ability to help governments: 

1. Institutionalize good financial management practices. Formal policies usually 
outlive their creators, and, thus, promote stability and continuity. They also 
prevent the need to re-invent responses to recurring issues. 

2. Clarify and crystallize strategic intent for financial management. Financial 
policies define a shared understanding of how the organization will develop 
its financial practices and manage its resources to provide the best value to 
the community. 

3. Define boundaries.  Financial policies define limits on the actions staff may 
take. The policy framework provides the boundaries within which staff can 
innovate in order to realize the organization's strategic intent. 

4. Support good bond ratings and thereby reduce the cost of borrowing.    
5. Promote long-term and strategic thinking. The strategic intent articulated by 

many financial policies necessarily demands a long-term perspective from the 
organization. 

6. Manage risks to financial condition. A key component of governance 
accountability is not to incur excessive risk in the pursuit of public 
goals.  Financial policies identify important risks to financial condition. 

7. Comply with established public management best practices. The Government 
Finance Officers Association (GFOA), through its officially adopted Best 
Practices endorsement of National Advisory Council on State and Local 
Budgeting (NACSLB) budget practices and the GFOA Distinguished Budget 
Presentation Award Program, has recognized financial policies as an 
essential part of public financial management. 

 
Overview 
 
Last month the board was presented with seven Financial policies.  After the 
Board’s initial review, the suggested edits to the policies were made and the 



  

revised policies are attached.  The Low-Income Rate Relief Policy also has a 
minor conflict with our Rules and Regulations in the renewal timing.  Laura 
Westmeyer says it is a non-urgent update that we will need to do to our Rules 
and Regulations. Per the labor attorney, the Surplus Property Disposal Policy 
has been sent to the Union for review.   
 
Recommendation 
 
“I move to approve the attached financial policies after final approval from the 
Union. The Finance Director, General Manager and Attorney will finalize.”  
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Budget Policy 
2. Dept Policy 
3. Fund Balance Reserve Policy 
4. Investment Policy 
5. Low Income Rate Relief Policy 
6. Revenue Policy 
7. Surplus Property Disposal Policy 

a. Surplus Request Form 
 



Oak Lodge Water 
Services District 

  
  
  

 
 

Budget Policy 
  
 

Adopted xxxxxxx 
 
 
 

This document supersedes any and all previous budget policies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Budget Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

1 
 

I. Purpose 
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for Oak Lodge Water Services District 
(District) to account for public funds, to manage municipal finances wisely, and to plan for the 
provision of services desired by the public through the budget cycle.   
 
This policy is designed to provide conceptual standards for financial decision-making, enhance 
consistency in financial decisions, and establish parameters to use in directing the day-to-day 
financial affairs of the District.   
 

II. Scope 
This policy governs the budgeting process, monitoring of budget execution, performance 
monitoring, and any revision of the budget. 

 
III. Objectives 

The primary objectives of budget activities shall be: 
• To ensure that the annual budgeting process is performed in a timely manner and supports 

the District’s financial and operational planning objectives and processes. 
• To ensure actual versus budget variance is monitored and that significant variances are 

explained and reported. 
• To ensure that expenditures made are in line with program objectives. 
• To ensure that budgets are reviewed periodically for relevance and revised as necessary. 

 
To the extent possible, the District’s budget process will: 

• Incorporate a long-term perspective, 
• Establish linkages to broad organizational goals, 
• Focus budget decisions on results and outcomes, 
• Involve and promote effective communication with stakeholders, and 
• Provide incentives to District management and employees. 
 

 
IV. Policy Statement 

 
A. Oregon Local Budget Law  

The District must follow the requirements of Oregon Local Budget Law.  
 

B. Long-term Focus 
The District recognizes the importance of long-term strategic planning.  Similarly, it 
recognizes that prudent financial planning considers the multi-year implications of financial 
decisions.  The District shall maintain a long-term focus in its financial planning that is 
mindful of the long-term objectives of the District. 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Budget Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

2 
 

C. Conservatism 
Revenues will be projected conservatively, but realistically, considering: 

1. past experience,  
2. the volatility of the revenue source, 
3. inflation and other economic conditions, and 
4. the costs of providing the related service. 

 
Expenditures will be projected conservatively considering: 

1. a conservative but likely scenario of events (versus “worst case”),  
2. specific, identified needs of the program or service,  
3. historic consumption and trends, and 
4. inflation and other economic trends. 

 
D. Matching Concept 

The District will make an effort to match one-time resources with one-time uses in the 
development of the budget.  Similarly, recurring resources will be identified with recurring 
uses to the extent possible. 
 
If it becomes necessary to use one-time resources to balance the District’s budget, a plan for 
achieving a structural balance will be developed simultaneously that identifies revenue 
enhancements or expenditure decreases to bring the budget back into balance 
 

E. Contingencies and Unappropriated Ending Fund Balance 
Contingencies will be budgeted in all operating funds to provide flexibility and to address 
unforeseen circumstances that may arise after the budget is adopted.  There shall be no 
expenditures from contingencies.  Transfers of appropriations to expenditure categories 
may be made with Board of Director Resolution. 
 
The District will report an unappropriated ending fund balance in the debt service funds 
equal to the first scheduled debt service payment of the subsequent year.  Unappropriated 
fund balances may not be appropriated or spent.  Unappropriated balances will then be 
available and appropriated in the following year to ensure adequate resources to cover debt 
service. 
 

F. Budget Development 
1. The operating budget is the District’s financial operating plan.  All funds will be 

subject to appropriation by the Board of Directors. 
2. The budget will be balanced for each fund.  The proposed cash resources of each 

fund (beginning of year fund balance plus estimated receipts) will equal or exceed 
appropriations.  When necessary, the following budget-balancing strategies will be 
used, in order of priority: 

a. Reduce expenditures through improved productivity. 
b. Shift expenses to other parties. 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Budget Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

3 
 

c. Create new service fees or increase existing fees and charges. 
d. Reduce or eliminate services. 

3. Unencumbered appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year.   
4. The Finance Director shall serve as the District’s Budget Officer, and as such will 

present the proposed budget to the Budget Committee for consideration and 
eventual approval.  The General Manager is the Finance Director’s alternate. 

5. Public hearings will be held to obtain public input on the District’s proposed and 
approved budget. 

6. The District’s budget shall be prepared on the modified accrual basis.  The budget 
will be sufficiently detailed to identify all significant sources and uses of funds.  
Actual prior year data and projected current year results will be presented for 
comparative purposes. 

7. The budget will be adopted by the Board of Directors no later than June 30. 
 

G. Budget Modification 
1. The adopted budget may be amended to transfer appropriations between funds or 

budget categories through resolution of the Board of Directors. 
2. A supplemental budget may be adopted by the Board of Directors, following a 

public hearing, to increase the adopted appropriations of any fund. 
 
 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 

Oak Lodge Water 
Services District 

  
  
  

 
 

Debt Policy 
  
 

Adopted xxxxxxx 
 
 
 

This document supersedes any and all previous debt policies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Debt Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

1 
 

I. Purpose 
This Debt Policy for the Oak Lodge Water Services District (OLWSD or District) is established 
to help ensure that all debt is issued both prudently and cost effectively.  This policy sets forth 
comprehensive guidelines for the financing of capital expenditures of OLWSD.  Adherence to the 
policy is essential to ensure that the Board of Directors maintains a sound debt position and 
protects the credit quality of its obligations. 
 

II. Governing Authority 
The District’s debt policy shall be operated in conformance with Oregon Revised Statutes, 
applicable federal law and other regulatory requirements.  The Finance Director will maintain the 
debt policy and develop recommendations for debt financing.  The policy will be reviewed 
annually and reported by the Finance Director and General Manager to the District’s Board of 
Directors. 
 

III. Scope 
This policy applies to all financing activities of the District with regard to drinking water, sanitary 
sewer and watershed protection systems. 
 

IV. Objectives 
The objectives of the policy shall be that: 
 

i. the District obtain financing only when necessary, 
ii. the process for identifying the timing and amount of debt or other financing be as 

efficient as possible, 
iii. the most favorable interest rate and other related costs be obtained, and 
iv. when appropriate, future financial flexibility be maintained. 

 
 

V. Conditions of Debt 
 

1. Debt Limits 
i. Legal Restrictions 

• The District shall observe and comply with all legal restrictions including 
State constitution or law, local charter, by-laws, resolution or ordinance, or 
covenant, and bond referenda approved by voters. 
 

ii. Public Policies 
• The District shall observe and support appropriate public policy 

considerations including the purposes for which debt proceeds may be used 
or prohibited,  

• The types of debt that may be issued or prohibited, the relationship to and 
integration with the Capital Improvement Program, and policy goals related 
to economic development, including potential public-private partnerships.  
 
  

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Debt Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

2 
 

iii. Financial Restrictions  
A. Direct Debt 
The District shall develop and maintain financial information in the 
consideration and evaluation of its debt position including the ratio of debt 
per capita, the ratio of debt to personal income, the ratio of debt to taxable 
property value, and debt service payments as a percentage of general fund 
revenues or expenditures. 

 
B. Revenue Debt 
The District may consider issuance of revenue bonds as an alternative to 
other types of financing when the situation and conditions of the borrowing 
so indicate, and upon advice from financial advisors and/or bond counsel. 
 
C. Conduit Debt 
The District shall not engage in the issuance of conduit debt. 
 
D. Short-term Debt 
The District may engage in short-term financing if cash or working capital 
needs so dictate.  All short-term borrowings should reflect the same 
objectives as those identified for debt financing above. 
 
E. Variable Rate Debt 
The District may consider issuance of variable rate debt as an alternative to 
other types of financing when the situation and conditions of the borrowing 
so indicate, and upon advice from financial advisors and/or bond counsel. 

 
2. Debt Structuring Practices 

The District shall consult with financial advisors and bond counsel, and within the 
framework of applicable accounting and reporting requirements to identify and 
implement sound debt structuring practices for each type of bond to the best advantage of 
the District, including: 

• Maximum term 
• Average maturity 
• Debt service pattern (i.e. equal payments or equal principal amortization) 
• Use of optional redemption features that reflect market conditions and/or 

needs of the District, 
• Use of variable or fixed-rate debt, credit enhancements, short-term debt, and 

limitations as to when, and to what extent, each can be used, and 
• Other structuring practices should be considered, such as capitalizing interest 

during the construction of the project and deferral of principal, and/or other 
internal credit support, including general obligation pledges. 

 
 
 

 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Debt Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

3 
 

3. Debt Issuance Practices 
The District shall employ sound practices for debt issuance in the context of best 
practices and strong internal controls, including: 

• Selection and use of professional service providers, including an independent 
financial advisor, to assist with determining the method of sale and the 
selection of other financing team members, 

• Criteria for determining the sale method (competitive, negotiated, private 
placement) and investment of proceeds, 

• Use of comparative bond pricing services or market indices as a benchmark 
in negotiated transactions, as well as to evaluate final bond pricing results, 

• Criteria for issuance of refunding bonds, and 
• Use of credit ratings, minimum bond ratings, determination of the number of 

ratings, and selection of rating services. 
 
 

4. Debt Management Practices 
The District shall manage outstanding debt to the direct advantage of the District 
and ultimately to the benefit of rate payers.  In doing so, the District shall: 
• Establish and maintain appropriate funds and accounting structures to 

properly support budgeting, recording, and reporting of debt service 
activities, 

• Establish, document, and maintain a system of internal control over debt 
activities including Board approvals for debt issuance and proper 
authorization for debt service payments, and 

• Provide for periodic review of the District’s debt position for purposes of 
reporting to the Board of Directors and evaluation of opportunities for 
refunding or other adjustments to the portfolio. 
 

 
 

 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 

 

  

Oak Lodge Water 
Services District 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

Fund Balance and Reserve 
Policy 

 
 

Adopted xxxxxxx 
 
 
 

This document supersedes any and all previous fund balance and reserve policies. 
 

 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Fund Balance and Reserve Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 
 

1 

 

I. Purpose 
The District wishes to maintain existing service levels without unnecessary increases in rates or 
fees and maintain a stable financial position during periods of economic uncertainty.  To that 
end, the District will establish prudent reserves in certain funds in order to ensure financial 
stability throughout the fiscal year including provision for unforeseen contingencies and 
consideration to revenue timing.  This policy establishes threshold minimums for the District’s 
funds and is intended to serve as a guide for operational, budgetary, and policy decisions made 
by the Board of Directors and management.  

 
II. Definition 

Fund balance is defined as the difference between assets and liabilities in a fund.  Reserves are 
broadly referred to as the portion of fund balance held in reserve to provide a buffer against 
risk, unforeseen circumstances, or for planned future expenditures.   
 
For purposes of this policy, the terms “fund balance” and “reserves” may be used together and 
interchangeably to refer to amounts retained in the District’s various funds for purposes of 
offsetting risk, providing flexibility and stability, or for specific future expenditures.  
 
An adequate fund balance is critical to lessen the impact of revenue shortfalls and/or 
unanticipated expenditures over time and provide a lower level of financial risk.  Fund balance 
also serves as a source of bridge funding from year to year, allowing the District to maintain or 
transition to sustainable service levels. 

 
III. Policy Statement 

The District will establish and maintain a minimum fund balance in identified funds to:   
1. Provide sufficient resources to meet cash flow needs; 
2. Maintain an investment grade bond rating capacity; 
3. Cover unforeseen emergencies; 
4. Avoid short-term borrowing to fund operations; and  
5. Set aside funds for major capital projects or equipment purchase when deemed 

appropriate. 
 

Fund balance targets for respective funds are as follows: 
 

Drinking Water Fund 
A minimum fund balance equal to three (3) months of operations or 25% of budgeted 
expenditures in the Fund. 

 
Wastewater Reclamation Fund 
A minimum fund balance equal to three (3) months of operations or 25% of budgeted 
expenditures in the Fund. 

 
Watershed Protection Fund 
A minimum fund balance equal to three (3) months of operations or 25% of budgeted 
expenditures in the Fund. 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 

2 

 
Water Capital Reserve Fund 
A minimum balance adequate to spread the cost of replacement of capital assets over 
the life of the respective assets.  Additionally, the minimum balance should be 
consistent with identified funding needs of the District’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) 

 
Wastewater Capital Reserve 
A minimum balance adequate to spread the cost of replacement of capital assets over 
the life of the respective assets.  Additionally, the minimum balance should be 
consistent with identified funding needs of the District’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) 
 
Watershed Protection Capital Reserve 
A minimum balance adequate to spread the cost of replacement of capital assets over 
the life of the respective assets.  Additionally, the minimum balance should be 
consistent with identified funding needs of the District’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) 
 
Wastewater Revenue Bond Debt Service 
A minimum fund balance equal to the first debt service payment due in the subsequent 
fiscal year. 
 
Wastewater GO Bond Debt Service 
A minimum fund balance equal to the first debt service payment due in the subsequent 
fiscal year. 
 

 



 

Oak Lodge Water 
Services District 

  
  
  

 
 

Investment Policy 
  
 

Adopted xxxxxxx 
 
 
 

This document supersedes any and all previous investment policies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

1 
 

I. Purpose 
This Investment Policy defines the parameters within which funds are to be invested by Oak 
Lodge Water Services District (OLWSD or District).  OLWSD is a special district whose purpose is 
to provide drinking water, sanitary sewer collection and treatment, and watershed protection.  
This policy also formalizes the framework, pursuant to ORS 294.135, for the District’s investment 
activities to ensure effective and judicious management of funds within the scope of this policy. 
 
These guidelines are intended to be broad enough to allow designated investment staff to 
function properly within the parameters of responsibility and authority, yet specific enough to 
adequately safeguard the investment assets. 
 

II. Governing Authority 
The District’s investment program shall be operated in conformance with Oregon Revised 
Statutes and applicable federal law.  Specifically, this investment policy is written in 
conformance with ORS 294.035; 294.040; 294.052; 294.135; 294.145; and 294.810.  All funds 
within the scope of this policy are subject to laws established by the state of Oregon.  Any 
revisions or extensions of these sections of the ORS shall be assumed to be part of this 
investment policy immediately upon being enacted. 
 

III. Scope 
This policy applies to activities of the District with regard to investing the financial assets of 
temporary surplus funds resulting from time elapsed between receipt of revenues and 
disbursement of those funds within all funds managed by the District.  The amount of funds 
falling within the scope of this policy over the next three years is expected to range between $5 
million and $15 million. 
 

IV. Objectives 
The primary objectives, in priority order, of investment activities shall be: 
 

1. Preservation of Invested Capital 
Investment activities shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the 
preservation of capital and the protection of investment principal in the overall 
portfolio.  The goal is to mitigate credit risk and interest rate risk. 
 

2. Liquidity 
The investment portfolio shall remain liquid to meet all reasonably anticipated 
operating requirements.  Furthermore, the portfolio should consist largely of securities 
with active secondary or resale markets.  A portion of the portfolio also may be placed 
in the Oregon Short Term Fund, which offers next-day liquidity.  Where possible and 
prudent, the portfolio should be structured so that investments mature concurrent with 
anticipated demands. 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

2 
 

3. Return 
The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a market rate 
of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into consideration the 
safety and liquidity needs of the portfolio. Although return consists of both principal 
return (gains and losses due to market value fluctuations) and income return (yield), this 
policy discourages active trading and turnover of investments. Investments should 
generally be held to maturity. 
 

V. Standards of Care 
 

1. Prudence 
The standard of prudence to be used by investment officials shall be the "prudent 
person" standard and shall be applied in the context of managing an overall portfolio. 
Investment officers acting in accordance with written procedures and this investment 
policy and exercising due diligence shall be relieved of personal responsibility for an 
individual security's credit risk or market price changes, provided deviations from 
expectations are reported and appropriate action is taken to control adverse 
developments within a timely fashion as defined in this policy.  
 
The "prudent person" standard states:  

 
“Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then 
prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in 
the management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, 
considering the probable safety of their capital as well as the probable income 
to be derived.” 
 

2. Ethics and Conflicts of Interest 
Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal 
activity that could conflict with the proper execution and management of the 
investment program, or that could impair their ability to make impartial decisions. 
Employees and investment officials shall disclose any material interests in financial 
institutions with which they conduct business. Disclosure shall be made to the governing 
body. They shall further disclose any personal financial/investment positions that could 
be related to the performance of the investment portfolio. Employees and officers shall 
refrain from undertaking personal investment transactions with the same individual 
with whom business is conducted on behalf of the District. Officers and employees shall, 
at all times, comply with the State of Oregon Government Standards and Practices code 
of ethics set forth in ORS Chapter 244. 
 
 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

3 
 

3. Delegation of Authority and Responsibilities 
i. Governing Body 

The District’s Board of Directors will retain ultimate fiduciary responsibility for 
invested funds.  
 

ii. Delegation of Authority 
Authority to manage investments within the scope of this policy and operate 
the investment program in accordance with established written procedures and 
internal controls is granted to the Finance Director, hereinafter referred to as 
Investment Officer, and derived from the following: ORS 294.035 to 294.053, 
294.125 to 294.145, and 294.810.  
 
No person may engage in an investment transaction except as provided under 
the terms of this policy and the procedures established by the Investment 
Officer. The Investment Officer shall be responsible for all transactions 
undertaken and shall establish a system of controls to regulate the activities of 
subordinate officials.  
 
All participants in the investment process shall seek to act responsibly as 
custodians of the public trust. No officer or designee may engage in an 
investment transaction except as provided under the terms of this policy and 
supporting procedures. 
 

iii. Investment Municipal Adviser   
The Finance Director may engage the services of one or more external 
investment managers or advisors to assist in the management of the District’s 
investment portfolio in a manner consistent with this investment policy, and in 
accordance with the District’s procurement policies and practices. All 
investment transactions by approved investment advisers must be pre-
approved in writing by the Investment Officer and compliant with this 
Investment Policy.  
 

VI. Transaction counterparties, Investment Advisers and Depositories 
 

1. Broker/Dealers 
The Investment Officer shall determine which broker/dealer firms and registered 
representatives are authorized for the purposes of investing funds within the scope of 
this investment policy. A list will be maintained of approved broker/dealer firms and 
affiliated registered representatives.  
 
The following minimum criteria must be met prior to authorizing investment 
transactions. The Investment Officer may impose more stringent criteria.  

i. Broker/Dealer firms must meet the following minimum criteria:  

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

4 
 

A. Be registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)  
B. Be registered with the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA)  
C. Provide most recent audited financials  
D. Provide FINRA Focus Report filings 

 
ii. Approved broker/dealer employees who execute transactions with the District 

must meet the following minimum criteria:  
A. Be a registered representative with the Financial Industry Regulatory 

Authority (FINRA);  
B. Be licensed by the State of Oregon;  
C. Provide certification (in writing) of having read; understood; and agreed 

to comply with the most current version of this investment policy. 
 

iii. The Investment Officer may want to establish policies for engaging 
broker/dealer firms and registered representatives that are more restrictive 
than stated in this policy.  Additional requisites or due diligence items may 
include:  

A. Positive references from at least three other local government clients.  
B. As part of the periodic due diligence review, inquiries with other local 

government clients with regard to their recent experiences with 
broker/dealer firms or registered representatives and any change in 
relationship status.  

C. Requirement that approved registered representatives provide 
notification within 30 days of any formal investigations or disciplinary 
actions initiated by federal or state regulators.  

D. Requirement that prospective registered representatives have an 
established history of advising local governments with similar amounts 
of assets under management. 

 
2. Direct Issuers 

Obligations that are permitted for purchase by this policy may be purchased directly 
from the issuer. 
 

3. Investment Advisers 
A list will be maintained of approved advisers selected by conducting a process of due 
diligence. 

i. The following items are required for all approved Investment Advisers: 
A. The investment adviser firm must be registered with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission (SEC) or licensed by the State of Oregon (Note: 
Investment adviser firms with assets under management > $100 million 
must be registered with the SEC, otherwise the firm must be licensed by 
the State of Oregon). 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

5 
 

B. All investment adviser firm representatives conducting investment 
transactions on behalf of the District must be registered representatives 
with FINRA. 

C. All investment adviser firm representatives conducting investment 
transactions on behalf of the District must be licensed by the State of 
Oregon. 

D. Certification, by all of the adviser representatives conducting 
investment transactions on behalf of this entity, of having read, 
understood and agreed to comply with this investment policy. 

 
ii. A periodic (at least annual) review of all investment advisers under contract will 

be conducted by the Investment Officer to determine their continued eligibility 
within the portfolio guidelines. Factors to consider would be: 

A. Pending investigations by securities regulators 
B. Significant changes in net capital 
C. Pending customer arbitration cases 
D. Regulatory enforcement actions 

 
iii. The Investment Officer may want to establish guidelines or policies for engaging 

investment advisers’ services that are more restrictive than stated in this policy. 
Additional requisites or due diligence items may include: 

A. Positive references from at least three other local government clients of 
a prospective investment adviser firm. 

B. As part of the periodic due diligence review, inquiries with other local 
government clients of approved investment advisers with regard to 
their recent experiences with the adviser and any change in the 
relationship status. 

C. Requirement that approved investment advisers provide notification 
within 30 days of a relationship termination by an Oregon based local 
government. 

D. Requirement that approved investment adviser provide notification 
within 30 days of any formal investigations or disciplinary actions 
initiated by federal or state regulators. 

E. Requirement that prospective investment advisers have an established 
history of advising local governments with similar amounts of assets 
under management. 

 
4. Depositories 

All financial institutions who desire to become depositories must be qualified Oregon 
Depositories pursuant to ORS Chapter 295. 
 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

6 
 

5. Competitive Transactions 
i. The Investment Officer shall obtain and document competitive bid information 

on all investments purchased or sold in the secondary market. Competitive bids 
or offers should be obtained, when possible, from at least three separate 
brokers/financial institutions or through the use of a nationally recognized 
trading platform. 

ii. In the instance of a security for which there is no readily available competitive 
bid or offering on the same specific issue, then the Investment Officer shall 
document quotations for comparable or alternative securities. 

iii. When purchasing original issue instrumentality securities, no competitive 
offerings will be required as all dealers in the selling group offer those securities 
as the same original issue price. However, the Investment Officer is encouraged 
to document quotations on comparable securities. 

iv. If an investment adviser provides investment management services, the adviser 
must retain documentation of competitive pricing execution on each 
transaction and provide upon request. 

 
VII. Administration and Operations 

 
1. Delivery vs. Payment 

All trades of marketable securities will be executed (cleared and settled) by delivery vs. 
payment (DVP) to ensure that securities are deposited in the District’s safekeeping 
institution prior to the release of funds. 
 

2. Third-Party Safekeeping 
Securities will be held by an independent third-party safekeeping institution selected by 
the District. All securities will be evidenced by safekeeping receipts in the District’s 
name. Upon request, the safekeeping institution shall make available a copy of its 
Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAE) No. 16. 
 

3. Internal Controls 
The Investment Officer is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate 
internal control structure designed to reasonably assure that invested funds are 
invested within the parameters of this Investment policy and, protected from loss, theft 
or misuse. Specifics for the internal controls shall be documented in writing. The 
established control structure shall be reviewed and updated periodically by the 
Investment Officer. 
 
The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not 
exceed the benefits likely to be derived and the valuation of costs and benefits requires 
estimates and judgments by management. The internal controls shall address the 
following points at a minimum: 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

7 
 

i. Compliance with Investment Policy 
ii. Control of collusion 

iii. Separation of transaction authority from accounting and record keeping 
iv. Custodial safekeeping 
v. Avoidance of physical delivery of securities whenever possible and address 

control requirements for physical delivery where necessary 
vi. Clear delegation of authority to subordinate staff members 

vii. Confirmation of transactions for investments and wire transfers in written or 
digitally verifiable electronic form 

viii. Dual authorizations of wire and automated clearing house (ACH) transfers 
ix. Staff training 
x. Review, maintenance and monitoring of security procedures both manual and 

automated 
 

4. An external auditor shall provide an annual independent review to assure compliance 
with Oregon state law and the District’s policies and procedures. 

 
VIII. Suitable and Authorized Investments 
 

1. Permitted Investments 
The following investments are permitted pursuant to ORS 294.035, 294.040, and ORS 
294.810.  

• U.S. Treasury Bills 
• U.S. Treasury Notes 
• U.S. Treasury Zero Coupon Securities (STRIPS) 
• Government Sponsored Enterprise Discount Notes 
• Bankers Acceptances 

All Bankers Acceptances shall be purchased from the following listed 
financial institutions, or any others as may be approved by the Board of 
Directors.  Bankers Acceptances need not be in the name of the listed 
financial institution issuing the investment, but all such investments 
shall be made with a "qualified financial institution" as defined in ORS 
294.035. 

• Bank of America 
• KeyBank of Oregon 
• Northwest Investment Services, Inc. 
• Seattle Northwest Securities Corporation 
• U. S. National Association 
• Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 

 
• Certificates of Deposit 

Purchase of Certificates of Deposit shall require the financial institution 
to issue a Certificate of Participation to cover the outstanding CD. 

• Repurchase Agreements 
All Repurchase Agreements will be fully collateralized by U.S. 
Government and U.S. Agency obligations.  The financial institution will 
provide a signed repurchase agreement. 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

8 
 

• Commercial Paper 
Investments in commercial paper must be rated A-1 or P-1 by Standard 
& Poor’s or Moody’s. Commercial Paper ratings may be A-2 or P-2 or 
better if issued on Oregon business enterprises and shall be with a 
qualified financial institution, a holding company, or an Oregon 
business, all as referenced in ORS 294.035(12).  Specific requirements 
apply under ORS 294.035(9)(c) for purchasing the lower rated debt. 

• Corporate Notes 
Investments in corporate notes are limited to those issued under 
section 3(a)(2) or 3(a)(3) (but not under Section 4(2)) of the Securities 
Act of 1933. Corporate notes must be issued by a commercial, industrial 
or utility business enterprise, or on behalf of a financial institution. 

  
Corporate notes must be rated AA or Aa.  Corporate note ratings may 
be A or better if issued on Oregon business enterprises when they meet 
the specific requirements under ORS 294.035(9)(c) for purchasing the 
lower rated debt.  
 

In addition to the above, the District may elect to participate in the Local Government 
Investment Pool. 
 

2. Approval of Permitted Investments 
If additional types of securities are considered for investment, per Oregon state statute 
they will not be eligible for investment until this Policy has been amended and the 
amended version adopted by the District. 
 

3. Prohibited Investments 
i. Private Placement or “144A” Securities 

Private placement or “144A” securities are not allowed. For purposes of the 
policy, SEC Rule 144A securities are defined to include commercial paper 
privately placed under section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933. 
 

ii. US Agency Mortgage-backed Securities 
US agency mortgage-backed securities such as those securities issued by FNMA 
and FHLMC are not allowed. 
 

iii. Securities Lending 
The District shall not lend securities nor directly participate in a securities 
lending program. 
 

4. Demand Deposits and Time Deposits  
i. All demand deposits and time deposits (Examples of time deposits are: 

certificates of deposit and savings accounts) shall be held in qualified Oregon 
depositories in accordance with ORS Chapter 295.   

ii. Demand deposits in qualified depository institutions are considered cash 
vehicles and not investments and are therefore outside the scope and 
restrictions of this policy. Pursuant to ORS 294.035(3)(d), time deposits, 
certificates of deposit and savings accounts are considered investments and 
within the scope of this policy. 

 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

9 
 

5. Repurchase Agreements  
i. ORS 294.035 (3)(j) requires repurchase agreement collateral to be limited in 

maturity to three years and priced according to percentages prescribed by 
written policy of the Oregon Investment Council or the Oregon Short Term Fund 
Board.  

ii. ORS 294.135 (2) limits the maximum term of any repurchase agreement to 90 
days. 

iii. The OSTF Board has adopted the following margins:  
A. US Treasury Securities: 102%  
B. US Agency Discount and Coupon Securities: 102%  
C. Mortgage Backed and Other*: 103%  

*Limited to those securities described in ORS 294.035(1) 
 

IX. Investment Parameters  
 

1. Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a security or a portfolio will lose some or all of its value due to 
a real or perceived change in the ability of the issuer to repay its debt. Credit risk will be 
mitigated by the following guidelines: 
  

i. Diversification  
It is the policy of the District to diversify its investments. Where appropriate, 
exposures will be limited by security type; maturity; issuance, issuer, and 
security type, Allowed security types and Investment exposure limitations are 
detailed in the table below.  
 

ii. Recognized Credit Ratings  
Investments must have a rating from at least one of the following nationally 
recognized statistical ratings organizations (NRSRO): Moody’s Investors Service; 
Standard & Poor’s; and Fitch Ratings Service as detailed in the table below. 
Ratings used to apply the guidelines below should be investment level ratings 
and not issuer level ratings.  
 

iii. Portfolio Average Credit Rating  
The minimum weighted average credit rating of the portfolio’s rated 
investments shall be Aa/AA/AA by Moody’s Investors Service; Standard & 
Poor’s; and Fitch Ratings Service respectively.  
 

iv. Exposure Constraints and Minimum Investment Credit Ratings  
The following table limits exposures among investments permitted by this 
policy. 
 

(This table contains sample restraints. Local Governments should also consult applicable State Statutes and legal guidelines):  

Issue Type Maximum % 
Holdings 

Minimum Ratings 
Moody’s/S&P/Fitch 

US Treasury Obligations 100% None 
US Agency Securities 
      Per Agency (Senior 
Obligations Only) 

100% 
33% 

- 
- 

Oregon Short Term Fund (Local 
Government Investment Pool) 

Maximum allowed 
per ORS 294.810 

- 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

10 
 

Banker’s Acceptances 25%(1) A1+/P1/F1+ 
Time Deposits/Savings 
Accounts/Certificates of 
Deposit(2) 

      Per Institution 

50% 
 

25% 

- 

Repurchase Agreements 5% - 
Corporate Debt (Total) 
      Corporate Commercial Paper 
           Per Issuer 
      Corporate Bonds 
           Per Issuer 

15%(3) 

15%(3) 

2.5%(4) 

10%(3) 

2.5%(4) 

- 
 

A1/P1/F1 
 

Aa/AA/AA 
Municipal Debt (Total) 
      Municipal Commercial Paper 
      Municipal Bonds 

10% 
10% 
10% 

- 
A1/P1/F1 
Aa/AA/AA 

(1) 25% Maximum per ORS 294.035(D)  
(2)As authorized by ORS 294.035(3)(d)  
(3) 35% Maximum per ORS 294.035(D)  
(4) 5% Maximum per ORS 294.035(D) 

 
v. Determining a Security’s Rating  

A single rating will be determined for each investment by utilizing the lowest 
security level rating available for the security from Standard and Poor’s, 
Moody’s Investor Services and Fitch Ratings respectively. 
 

vi. Restriction on Issuers With Prior Default History  
Per ORS 294.040, the bonds of issuers listed in ORS 294.035 (3)(a) to (c) may be 
purchased only if there has been no default in payment of either the principal of 
or the interest on the obligations of the issuing county, port, school district or 
city, for a period of five years next preceding the date of the investment. 
 

2. Liquidity Risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that an investment may not be easily marketable or redeemable. 
The following strategies will be employed to mitigate liquidity risks:  
 

i. The value of at least 25% of funds available for investing or three months of 
budgeted operating expenditures will be invested in the Oregon Short Term 
Fund, with a qualified depository institution, or investments maturing in less 
than 30 days to provide sufficient liquidity for expected disbursements. 

 
ii. Funds in excess of liquidity requirements are allowed for investments maturing 

in greater than one year. However, longer-term investments tend to be less 
liquid than shorter term investments. Portfolio investment maturities will be 
limited as follows: 

 
Total Portfolio Maturity Constraints: 

Maturity Contraints Minimum % of Total Portfolio 
Under 30 days 25% or three months 

Estimated Operating Expenditures 
Under 1 year 50% 
Under 3 years 100% 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

11 
 

 
iii. Reserve or Capital Improvement Project monies may be invested in securities 

exceeding the maximum term if the maturities of such investments are made to 
coincide as nearly as practicable with the expected use of the funds. 

 
iv. Larger issuance sizes enhance liquidity, as there are likely to be a greater 

number of investors. Issuance sizes above a minimum amount qualify a 
corporate or municipal debt bond issuance for index eligibility. Index eligible 
bonds have a significantly larger investor base, which improves liquidity. 

 
v. Limiting investment in a specific debt issuance improves secondary market 

liquidity by assuring there are other owners of the issuance. 
 
 

Issue Type Maximum % of 
Issuance* (Par) 

US Agency Securities 
Corporate Debt (Total) 
      Corporate Commercial Paper 
      Corporate Bonds 

50% 
 

100% 
25% 

Municipal Bonds 25% 
 *The par amount issued under a single CUSIP 
 

3. Interest Rate Risk  
Longer-term investments have the potential to achieve higher returns but are 
also likely to exhibit higher market value volatility due to the changes in the 
general level of interest rates over the life of the investment(s). Interest rate risk 
will be mitigated by providing adequate liquidity for short term cash needs, and 
by making longer-term investments only with funds that are not needed for 
current cash flow purposes. Certain types of securities, including variable rate 
securities, securities with principal pay-downs prior to maturity, and securities 
with embedded options, will affect the interest rate risk profile of the portfolio 
differently in different interest rate environments. The following strategies will 
be employed to control and mitigate adverse changes in the market value of the 
portfolio due to changes in interest rates:  
 

i. Where feasible and prudent, investment maturities should be matched 
with expected cash outflows to mitigate market risk. 

ii. To the extent feasible, investment maturities not matched with cash 
outflows, including liquidity investments under one year, should be 
staggered to mitigate reinvestment risk. 

iii. No commitments to buy or sell securities may be made more than 14 
days prior to the anticipated settlement date, or receive a fee other 
than interest for future deliveries. 

iv. The maximum percent of callable securities in the portfolio shall be 5%; 
v. The maximum stated final maturity of individual securities in the 

portfolio shall be three years, except as otherwise stated in this policy. 
vi. The maximum portfolio average maturity (measured with stated final 

maturity) shall be 1.5 years. 
 

 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

12 
 

 
X. Investment of Proceeds from Debt Issuance 

 
1. Investments of bond proceeds are restricted under bond covenants that may be 

more restrictive than the investment parameters included in this policy. Bond 
proceeds shall be invested in accordance with the parameters of this policy and 
the applicable bond covenants and tax laws. 

 
2. Funds from bond proceeds and amounts held in a bond payment reserve or 

proceeds fund may be invested pursuant to ORS 294.052. Investments of bond 
proceeds are typically not invested for resale and are maturity matched with 
outflows. Consequently, funds within the scope of ORS 294.052 are not subject 
to this policy’s liquidity risk constraints within section IX (2). 

 
XI. Investment of Reserve or Capital Improvement Funds 

  
1. Pursuant to ORS 294.135(1)(b), reserve or capital Improvement project monies 

may be invested in securities exceeding three years when the funds in question 
are being accumulated for an anticipated use that will occur more than 18 
months after the funds are invested, then, upon the approval of the Board of 
Directors, the maturity of the investment or investments made with the funds 
may occur when the funds are expected to be used. 

 
XII. Guideline Measurement and Adherence 

 
1. Guideline Measurement  

Guideline measurements will use market value of investments. 
 

2. Guideline Compliance  
i. If the portfolio falls outside of compliance with adopted investment 

policy guidelines or is being managed inconsistently with this policy, the 
Investment Officer shall bring the portfolio back into compliance in a 
prudent manner and as soon as prudently feasible. 

 
ii. Violations of portfolio guidelines as a result of transactions; actions to 

bring the portfolio back into compliance and; reasoning for actions 
taken to bring the portfolio back into compliance shall be documented 
and reported to the General Manager, and the Board if so directed. 

 
iii. Due to fluctuations in the aggregate surplus funds balance, maximum 

percentages for a particular issuer or investment type may be exceeded 
at a point in time. Securities need not be liquidated to realign the 
portfolio; however, consideration should be given to this matter when 
future purchases are made to ensure that appropriate diversification is 
maintained. 

 
XIII. Reporting and Disclosure  

 
1. Compliance  

The Investment Officer shall prepare quarterly and annual reports that allows 
the Board of Directors to ascertain whether investment activities during the 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

13 
 

reporting period have conformed to the investment policy. The report will 
include, at a minimum, the following: 
 

i. A listing of all investments held during the reporting period showing: 
par/face value; accounting book value; market value; type of 
investment; issuer; credit ratings; and yield to maturity (yield to worst if 
callable). 

ii. Average maturity of the portfolio at period-end 
iii. Maturity distribution of the portfolio at period-end 
iv. Average portfolio credit quality of the portfolio at period-end 
v. Average weighted yield to maturity (yield to worst if callable 

investments are allowed) of the portfolio 
vi. Distribution by type of investment 

vii. Transactions since last report 
viii. Distribution of transactions among financial counterparties such as 

broker/dealers 
ix. Violations of portfolio guidelines or non-compliance issues that 

occurred during the prior period or that are outstanding. This report 
should also note actions (taken or planned) to bring the portfolio back 
into compliance. 

 
2. Performance Standards/ Evaluation  

At least annually, the Investment Officer shall report comparisons of investment 
returns to relevant alternative investments and comparative Bond Indexes. The 
performance of the portfolio should be compared to the performance of 
alternative investments such as available certificates of deposit; the Oregon 
Short Term Fund; US Treasury rates; or against one or bond indices with a 
similar risk profile (e.g., Bond indexes comprised high grade investments and 
maximum maturities of three years).  
 
When comparing performance, all fees and expenses involved with managing 
the portfolio shall be included in the computation of the portfolio’s rate of 
return. 
 

3. Marking to Market  
The market value of the portfolio shall be calculated at least annually and a 
statement of the market value of the portfolio shall be issued at least annually. 
 

4. Audits  
Management shall establish an annual process of independent review by the 
external auditor to assure compliance with internal controls. Such audit will 
include tests deemed appropriate by the auditor. 
 

XIV. Policy Maintenance and Considerations 
 

1. Review  
The investment policy shall be reviewed at least annually to ensure its 
consistency with the overall objectives of preservation of principal, liquidity and 
return, and its relevance to current law and financial and economic trends. The 
annual report should also serve as a venue to suggest policies and 
improvements to the investment program, and shall include an investment plan 
for the coming year. 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Investment Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

14 
 

 
2. Exemptions  

Any investment held prior to the adoption of this policy shall be exempted from 
the requirements of this policy. At maturity or liquidation, such monies shall be 
reinvested as provided by this policy.  
 

3. Policy Adoption and Amendments  
This investment policy and any modifications to this policy must be formally 
approved in writing by the Board of Directors. 
 
This policy must be submitted to the Oregon Short Term Fund (OSTF) Board for 
review if: 
 

i. This policy allows maturities beyond 18 months unless the funds are 
being accumulated for a specific purpose, including future construction 
projects, and upon approval of the Board of Directors, the maximum 
maturity date matches the anticipated use of the funds (ORS 
294.135(1)(b) and 294.135(3)).  

 
This policy has not yet been submitted to the Oregon Short Term Fund 
Board for comment. 

 
Regardless of whether this policy is submitted to the OSTF Board for comment, 
this policy shall be re-submitted not less than annually to the Board of Directors 
for approval. 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 

Oak Lodge Water 
Services District 

  
  
  

 
 

Low-income Rate Relief Policy 
  
 

Adopted xxxxxxx 
 
 
 

This document supersedes any and all previous low-income rate relief policies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Low-income Rate Relief Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 

1 
 

 

I. Purpose 
The purpose of this policy is to allow eligible District customers to obtain a discounted rate on a 
portion of their bill.   
  

II. Scope 
This policy applies to residential customers of Oak Lodge Water Services District seeking rate relief 
on the basis of low-income resulting in economic hardship.  Approved low-income applicants will 
receive a 50% reduction on the eligible portions of their bill.  Eligible portions include water base 
rate, sanitary sewer charge, and watershed protection fee.  Water consumption charges are not 
eligible for discount.     

 
III. Policy Statement 

The District encourages low-income customers to take advantage of District programs that provide 
relief from economic hardship.  The Finance Director or their designee shall administer the Low-
income rate relief policy to the direct benefit of the District’s customers in accordance with this and 
all other applicable policies of the District. 
 
A. Financing of Program 
Drinking water, sanitary sewer and surface water management service charges shall be established 
at a level sufficient to cover revenue losses resulting from District customers qualifying for a 
reduced rate pursuant to District ordinance. The District shall budget resources to fund the revenue 
losses due to the program at the rate of 0.5 percent of budgeted drinking water, sanitary sewer and 
surface water management rate revenue.  This budgeted amount shall serve as a cap to the 
program’s cost which will require Board of Directors’ approval to exceed upon Budget Committee 
Approval. 

 
B. Eligibility 

To be eligible for low-income rate relief applicants must meet the following minimum 
qualifications: 
1. The applicant must be a residential customer or user of the District; and 
2. The property served must be occupied and used by the applicant as his or her principal 

residence during the period for which rate relief is applied; and 
3. If the applicant is not current, they must setup and adhere to an approved payment plan to 

bring the account current; and 
4. The applicant’s family, of which the applicant is a member, shall not exceed the gross 

annual household income levels as defined by the United States Housing and Urban 
Development Department as “Very Low Income” for the Portland-Vancouver area, most 
recent version. 

5. The applicant must make written application on a form provided by the District; and 
6. The applicant must provide proof of income status in a form determined by the District; 

and 
7. The applicant may not own real property other than that associated with their principal 

residence for which the application is submitted. 
8. "Family" means one person or two or more persons related by blood, marriage, legal 

adoption or guardianship; or a group of not more than five persons, all or part of whom are 
not related by blood, marriage, legal adoption or guardianship, living together as a simple 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Low-income Rate Relief Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 

2 
 

 

housekeeping and economic unit in the dwelling occupying the property for which the 
reduced rate is applied. 

9. Enrollment in the rate reduction program ends if the applicant can no longer meet one or 
more of the program requirements or is disqualified for a violation of the policy. 

 
 

C. Rate Relief 
1. Rate reductions, if granted, are based on complete calendar months and commence on the 

first day of the month following the date the application is approved by the General 
Manager; and 

2. Rate relief will last until April of the year after the initial application is approved.  It is the 
applicant’s duty to reapply for the program annually.  If the District has not received the 
renewal application by March 31 each year the rate will revert to the standard service 
charge; and 

3. Billings will not be prorated for partial month eligibility; and 
4. The District will not retroactively adjust charges. 

 
D. Contract 

The application required under this policy shall be in a form provided by the District and shall 
contain a signed statement of agreement to abide by all terms of this policy and such 
subsequent rules and regulations as may be adopted by the Board.   
1. Proof of Eligibility - Applicants must file with the District proof of eligibility in the form of a 

Federal or State tax filing form for the previous year, or other acceptable official document 
as the District may require. 

2. Termination of Rate Reduction - Reduced rates for customers shall be terminated in the 
event of the occurrence of any of the following circumstances: 
a. Minimum income levels are exceeded; 
b. Applicant defaults in the performance of the terms and provisions of his/her contract 

with the District (including delinquency on services or other assessments); 
c. Applicant moves from the dwelling; 
d. Applicant (if an owner) sells, trades or otherwise relinquishes ownership of the 

dwelling; 
e. Applicant fails to comply with any rule or regulation adopted; refuses to provide 

information to or hinders any investigation by the District into the continued eligibility 
of the applicant for reduced rates; makes any false or misleading statement in 
connection with a request to obtain or retain a rate reduction; or receives benefits 
under this policy with knowledge that he or she does not qualify for such benefits. 

 
E. Confidentiality 

To the maximum extent possible under the law, the applications, records and other information 
relating to rate reduction requests shall be kept confidential by the District. 
 

F.  Violation and Penalty 
1. A violation of this policy shall be punishable by a penalty equal to twenty percent of the 

moneys owed and shall disqualify the further participation in the program. 
2. Each violation of a separate provision of this policy shall constitute a separate offense and 

each day that a violation of this policy is committed or permitted to continue shall 
constitute a separate offense. 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Low-income Rate Relief Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 

3 
 

 

3. The disqualification of any person for violation of this policy shall disqualify such person 
from eligibility for a period of two years.  

4. Multiple disqualifications of any person for violation of this policy shall disqualify such 
person from eligibility in perpetuity. 

 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 

Oak Lodge Water 
Services District 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

Revenue Policy 
 
 

Adopted xxxxxxx 
 
 
 

This document supersedes any and all previous revenue policies. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Revenue Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 
 

1 

 

I. Purpose 
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for Oak Lodge Water Services District to 
encourage diversification and stabilization of the revenue base in order to minimize the effects 
of fluctuations in revenue yield. 
 

II. Scope 
This policy is designed to provide general principles and guidelines to promote effective control 
over, and proper accounting of revenues from external sources and the related accounts 
receivable. 
 

III. Objectives 
• Revenue received by the District shall be utilized in accordance with this policy. 
• Revenue received for specific funds within the District shall be utilized for expenses and 

obligations of that fund. 
• All revenue is accurately recorded in the District’s accounting system in the period in 

which it is earned. 
• Appropriate internal controls and sound financial business practices are adopted for the 

recognition and billing of revenue, the collection and timely recording and deposit of 
cash receipts, and the management of accounts receivable. 

IV. Policy Statements 
A. High level Roles and Responsibilities 
The District will assign roles and responsibilities according to skills, knowledge, and expertise 
necessary to accomplish the respective tasks, and to maintain an appropriate separation of 
duties consistent with strong internal controls. 

• The General Manager 
1. Provide guidance and advice on compliance to the political structures, 

political office-bearers and officials of the District. 
• The Finance Director 

1. Administratively in charge of the budget; 
2. Advise the General Manager on the exercise of powers and duties 

assigned to the General Manager; 
3. Advise Senior Managers and other officials in the exercise of powers 

and duties assigned to them; and 
4. Must perform such budgeting, accounting, analysis, financial reporting, 

cash management, debt management, supply chain management, 
financial management, review and other duties as delegated by the 
General Manager to the Finance Director. 

• Senior Management 
1. Managing and coordinating the financial administration of the District. 

• Any Official or External Consultant duly appointed 
1. Performs any operation in respect to the revenue management given by 

the Finance Director or General Manager. 
B. Determination of Fees and Charges 

The District shall ensure that all fees and charges have a basis in the associated cost of 
providing the related service.  Full costing shall be determined for all services, including 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Revenue Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 
 

2 

 

direct costs of materials, labor, and related services as well as any appropriate allocation 
of overhead or indirect costs. 
 

C. Utility Billing 
The District shall ensure the completeness and accuracy of billings to all utility 
customers as a basis for revenues collected. 

• Water services 
1. Meters shall be read on a regular cycle as a basis for accurate billing of 

usage to customers. 
2. Property owners shall be responsible for utility charges to the property.  

The District will not establish accounts in the name of renters. 
3. Utility bills are considered due upon receipt by the customer.  Bills are 

considered delinquent on the 15th day of the month billed.  Utility 
accounts are subject to termination of service once past due, and upon 
serving 7 days written notice to the account holder and at the physical 
address listed for the account. 

4. The District may assess delinquent charges, interest, and additional fees 
for termination and/or reestablishment of service. 

5. Once annually a customer may apply for an adjustment of their bill 
related to a documented water leak.  The customer must present 
evidence of the repairs in order to be eligible for an adjustment. 
Underground leaks from the back of the meter up to the foundation are 
eligible for adjustments.  Leak adjustments are not granted for leaking 
faucets, leaking toilets, sprinkler systems or accidental over-watering.  
To determine the adjustment amount, an average of water usage must 
be calculated. The average is calculated using the last three (3) years 
water consumption for the same time period as the leak. This amount is 
considered the User’s actual water use and the User is billed for this 
amount at the current retail rate. The remaining usage shall be 
calculated as follows:  

a. The billing shall reflect the North Clackamas County Water 
Commission wholesale water rate plus associated costs of 
delivering water to customers.  

b. The Sanitary Sewer variable charges will be adjusted from the 
winter average calculation. 

• Wastewater services 
1. Wastewater usage fees will be based on the winter average 

(determined based on four (4) months out of five (5) between 
November and March) usage of water at the physical address listed for 
the account, and will be reevaluated annually. 

• Watershed protection services 
1. Fees are based on relative equivalent service units (ESU’s) as 

determined by the District for each utility account. 
• Utility adjustments to customer accounts may be initiated and approved by 

utility staff up to $200.  Any adjustment in an amount exceeding $200 must be 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Revenue Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 
 

3 

 

approved by the Finance Director or his/her designee. 
 

D. Detailed Role of Finance Director 
• That the District has effective revenue collection systems 
• That the revenue due to the District is calculated on a monthly basis; 
• That all money received is promptly deposited in the District’s primary and 

other bank accounts; 
• That the District has and maintains a management, accounting and information 

system which— 
1. Recognizes revenue when it is earned; 
2. Accounts for debtors; and  
3. Accounts for receipts of revenue; 

• That the District has and maintains a system of internal controls in respect to 
debtors and revenue, as may be prescribed; 

• That the District charges interest on arrears, except where the Board has 
granted exemptions in accordance with its budget-related policies and within a 
prescribed framework; and 

• That all revenue received by the District, including revenue received by any 
collecting agent on its behalf, is reconciled at least  on a quarterly basis. 

E. Receipt of Revenue to the District 
• Cash transactions are verified by two employees to ensure that cash is 

properly recorded and deposited. 
• Receipts are given to all customers who pay with cash.  Customers paying with 

check are offered a receipt and customers who pay with debit/credit are 
offered a confirmation number. 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


Oak Lodge Water 
Services District 

  
  
  

 
 

Surplus Property Disposal Policy 
  
 

Adopted xxxxxxx 
 
 
 

This document supersedes any and all previous surplus property disposal policies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Surplus Property Disposal Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

1 
 

I. Purpose 
The purpose of this policy is to establish an efficient and effective method for disposal of the 
District’s surplus property. This policy does not include real property disposal. 
 

II. Scope 
This policy directs the timely, efficient, cost-effective and safe disposition of surplus property in 
a manner consistent with the best interest of the District. 

 
III. Governing Authority 

All guidelines within the scope of this policy are subject to laws established by the State of 
Oregon.  Any revisions or extensions of relevant sections of the ORS shall be assumed part of 
this surplus property disposal policy immediately upon being enacted. 
 

IV. Policy 
Surplus property with commercial value will be disposed of in a cost effective and efficient 
manner that achieves the highest net resale proceeds for the District.  Surplus property with 
little or no commercial value or when the disposal and sales efforts are judged more costly than 
estimated net proceeds, may be transferred, donated, or eventually disposed of through salvage 
contracts or other cost effective and efficient means. Items that are broken, unusable or have 
no commercial, salvage or donation value may be declared as “trash” and efficiently and safely 
disposed of as such. 
 

1. The District employee responsible for property he/she wishes to have declared surplus 
shall complete the surplus request form (See Appendix A) including a complete 
description of the item, location, condition, and estimated fair market value. Items 
valued over $1,000.00 must be declared surplus by the Board of Directors. The 
employee requesting that the item be declared surplus and his/her supervisor/manager 
must sign the completed form before sending it to the Finance Director.  The Finance 
Director will coordinate all requests to have property surplussed to the Board of 
Directors.  Items under $1,000 must be declared surplus by the Finance Director or their 
designee.  
 

2. The requesting division will coordinate the notification to other District divisions 
through email.  Internal District divisions will be given first priority in using the surplus 
items. If the item is no longer of value to the District, the item may be disposed of in the 
following methods: 

a. Sell or transfer to another governmental agency, subject to the public notice 
and hearing requirements, for property with a value in excess of $50,000. 

b. Sell the item through a sealed-bid process.  
c. The Finance Director or their designee may establish a selling price based upon 

an independent appraisal or published schedule of values generally accepted by 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Surplus Property Disposal Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

2 
 

the insurance industry, schedule and advertise a sale date, and sell to the first 
buyer meeting the sales terms. 

d. Trade the item in for new replacement equipment.  
e. Send the item to the State surplus program.  
f. Dispose as scrap metal - – see #8 below.  
g. Donate the item to any organization operating within or providing a service to 

residents of the state of Oregon, which is recognized by the Internal Revenue 
Service as an organization described in section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended. 

h. Properly discard the item if the item is broken, unusable, and/or hazardous. 
Documentation and pictures must be provided for an item to be disposed of. 
 

3. Disposal of Property with Minimal Value.  Surplus property which has a value of less 
than $1,000.00, or for which the costs of sale are likely to exceed sale proceeds, may be 
disposed of by any means determined to be cost-effective, including disposal as waste.  
The employee making the disposal shall make a record of the value of the item and the 
manner of disposal. 

 
4. Discarding of surplus item(s) is the last option to be used unless the item is broken, 

unusable or has no commercial, salvage or donation value and/or the District has 
exhausted all other options for disposal. 

 
5. If the item is sold or transferred, the receiving individual or party must sign an “As-

Is/Where-Is” Statement and/or Liability Waiver. If the District is responsible for the pick 
up or transfer of the item, it must obtain the signature of the individual or party 
receiving the item on the form and forward the form to the Finance Director for filing. 

 
6. Public Auction: Auctions must be sufficiently advertised in the manner most likely to 

obtain a competitive bidding pool for the property.  Employees of the District may 
purchase surplus property from the District only at an advertised auction, and only if the 
employee submits the highest bid for such property. 
 

7. If the item is sold, the proceeds will be given to the Finance Director to be deposited 
into the fund that accounts for the asset. Checks for surplus items are to be made 
payable to Oak Lodge Water Services District (OLWSD). 

 
8. Vehicles 

a. For vehicles being surplussed, the requesting division shall attach to the surplus 
request form a printout from Kelly Blue Book with the estimated value of the 
vehicle. 

b. District logos and other markings identifying vehicles as District property shall 
be removed prior to sale. 

 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 Surplus Property Disposal Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 

 

3 
 

9. Personal Use Items 
a. An item (or indivisible set) of specialized and personal use may be sold to the 

employee or retired or terminated employee for whose use it was purchased.  
These items may be sold for fair market value without bid and by a process 
deemed most efficient by the General Manager.  Items with no market value 
may be given to the employee or retired or terminated employee. 

 
10. Scrap Metal 

a. The surplus request form shall be submitted to the Finance Director prior to 
when the scrap load is delivered to the recycling company. After delivery, 
weight ticket and check will be given to the Finance Director to include with the 
surplus request form for documentation.  

 
 

 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 

 

 

 

Appendix A  



 

 

 

 

SURPLUS REQUEST FORM 
DATE OF REQUEST: 

REQUESTED MOVE DATE: 

WORKORDER NUMBER: 
Transferred From: Transferred To: 
Department:  
Contact Person:  
Building & Room:  
Phone:  
Fax:  

Email:  

List asset items separately identified by Asset ID# and Serial Number. Non-asset items may be grouped by type and do not 

require Asset ID# and Serial Numbers. Condition: (1) Good - functionally operational, (2) Fair - limited repairs necessary 

(3) 
Poor - major repairs necessary (4) Scrap 
Line Quantity Asset ID# Serial Number Description (Item, Make, & Model) Condition/Value 

1      

2      

3      

4      

5      

6      

7      

8      

9      

10      

11      

12      

Remarks: 

SIGNATURE REQUIRED - PLEASE ALLOW UP TO TEN (10) BUSINESS DAYS FOR REMOVAL 
RELEASING DEPARTMENT  Manager Approval 

RELEASED BY: RECEIVED BY: 

SIGNATURE: SIGNATURE: 

 
DATE: 

 
DATE: 

Releasing official's signature certifies the asset information if applicable is correct and all software and data has been removed prior to 
being transferred. 

 
 
 
 
 

Surplus Form 1 Rev. 10/31/2018 



 

 

 

 

SURPLUS REQUEST FORM CONTINUATION SHEET 
All asset items must be listed separately and identified by Asset ID# and Serial Number. Non-asset items may be 
grouped by 
type and do not require Asset ID# and Serial Numbers. Condition: (1) Good - functionally operational, (2) Fair - limited 
repairs necessary (3) Poor - major repairs necessary (4) Scrap 
Line Quantity Asset ID# Serial Number Description (Item, Make, & Model) Condition/Value 
13      

14      

15      

16      

17      

18      

19      

20      

21      

22      

23      

24      

25      

26      

27      

28      

29      

30      

31      

32      

33      

34      

35      

36      

37      

38      

39      

40      

41      

42      

43      

44      

REMARKS: 

PAGE  OF   Surplus Form 1-1 Rev. 10/31/2018 



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

    
To:    Board of Directors 
From:   Aleah Binkowski-Burk 
Agenda Item: Review of Additional Employee Handbook Policies  
Item No.: 7 
Date:    October 16, 2018 
 
Overview 
Over the next several months, we will be submitting additional Employee Handbook Polices for Board 
review. After the Board’s initial review, the policies will be presented to the Union. Some of the 
policies contain language that could be interpreted as a change to the terms and conditions of 
employment for AFSCME represented team members. The National Labor Relations Act requires us 
to give the Union a minimum of 14 days to review the policies and decide whether to demand to 
bargain with the District over the changes the policies could implement.  Once the Union has 
reviewed the policies and any appropriate changes are made, they will be brought back to the Board 
for final approval. 
 
Background 
The attached handbook polices are to be added to the existing Oak Lodge Water Services District 
Handbook.  A cybersecurity policy will help the District mitigate risks by protecting the District from 
malicious external and internal users. It lays out a framework and a set of conduct for employees 
using District devices and software. The OLWS ethics policy summarizes acceptable and 
unacceptable behavior as outlined in the Oregon State Government Ethics laws. This policy is a more 
robust version of an existing policy that outlines how our employees should conduct themselves as a 
public employee. 
 
Recommendation 
No action is required.  This month will be for discussion.  The policies attached will be finalized with 
any Board input and brought back a future Board meeting for approval once the Union has been 
given an opportunity to review the policies. 
 
 
Attachments 

1. Ethics Policy 
2. Cybersecurity Awareness Policy 

 
 
 



 

 Oak Lodge Water 
Services District 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

Ethics Policy 
 
 

Adopted xxxxxxx 
Resolution xx-xxxx 

 
 
 

This document supersedes any and all previous ethics policies. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Ethics Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 
 

1 

 

I. Purpose 
The purpose of this policy is to establish a culture of openness, trust and to emphasize the employee’s 
and consumer’s expectation to be treated to fair business practices. This policy will serve to guide 
business behavior to ensure ethical conduct. Effective ethics is a team effort involving the participation 
and support of every District employee.  

 
II. Scope 

This policy applies to officials, employees, contractors, consultants, and other workers at the 
District, including all personnel affiliated with third parties. 
 

III. Objectives 
To adhere to legal, moral, and professional standards of conduct in the fulfillment of 
professional responsibilities. Standards of professional conduct as set forth in this policy are 
promulgated to enhance the performance of all persons engaged in District functions. 
 

IV. Policy Statement 
A. Personnel Standards

 
1. District staff and officials shall demonstrate and be dedicated to the highest ideals of 

honor and integrity in all public and personal relationships to merit the respect, trust, 
and confidence of governing officials, other public officials, employees, and of the 
public. 

2. Employees are expected to conduct themselves in a manner to avoid the appearance of 
impropriety. Conduct that could appear dishonest to a reasonable observer will 
undermine the public trust even if the conduct is not illegal. 

State law prohibits any public official, a term that includes all District employees, from using or 
attempting to use their official position or office to obtain a personal financial gain or to avoid a 
personal financial detriment that would not otherwise be available but for the public official’s holding of 
the official position. 

However, as exceptions to that rule, state law allows public officials to accept the following: 

• official compensation 
• allowed honorarium 
• reimbursement of expenses by an employer 
• unsolicited awards for professional achievement  
• gifts of less than $50 in a calendar year from sources with a legislative or administrative interest 
• unlimited gifts from sources with no legislative or administrative interest 
• items that are expressly excluded from the state’s definition of gift 

State law imposes additional limits on personal gain and avoidance of personal financial detriment that 
would not otherwise be available but for the employee’s holding of a position with the District. District 
employees are responsible for ensuring that their actions comply with state law. Please refer to the 
state’s Guide for Public Officials. The Oregon Government Ethics Commission may be contacted for 
additional resources. 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Ethics Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 
 

2 

 

3. They shall devote their time, skills, and energies to their office both independently and 
in cooperation with other professionals. 

4. They shall abide by approved professional practices and recommended standards. 
5. Employees are expected to recognize the possibility of a potential or actual conflict of 

interest they may have and disclose the conflict, in writing, to their supervisor/manager 
and the HR Manager. The HR Manager and/ or the General Manager shall acknowledge 
the potential or actual conflict in writing and determine whether such conflict can be 
resolved if appropriate. A copy of the disclosure and subsequent acknowledgement shall 
be placed in the District personnel file. 

6. Employees must not take any official action, the effect of which would be to the 
employee’s private financial gain or loss, without first notifying the General Manager 
and immediate supervisor in writing of the actual or potential conflict of interest, and 
obtaining approval prior to taking such action. Nor may an employee allow the purchase 
by the District of any goods and services from a business with which the employee is 
associated, except when the purchase is expressly authorized by the Board through 
proper procedure. 

B. Employees may not solicit private business from fellow employees or from citizens while on 
duty and/or in uniform or otherwise readily identifiable as a City employee, such as while in 
a District vehicle. Responsibility as Public Officials 
1. District staff and District officials shall recognize and be accountable for their 

responsibilities as officials in the public sector. 
2. They shall be sensitive and responsive to the rights of the public and its changing needs. 
3. They shall strive to provide the highest quality of performance and counsel. 
4. They shall exercise prudence and integrity in the management of funds in their custody 

and in all financial transactions. 
5. They shall uphold both the letter and the spirit of the constitution, legislation, and 

regulations governing their actions and report violations of the law to the appropriate 
authorities. 

C. Professional Development 
1. District staff and officials shall be responsible for maintaining their own competence, for 

enhancing the competence of their colleagues. All staff and officials shall promote 
excellence in public service. 

D. Professional Integrity – Information 
1. District staff and officials shall demonstrate professional integrity in the issuance and 

management of information. 
2. They shall not knowingly sign, subscribe to, or permit the issuance of any statement or 

report which contains any misstatement or which omits any material fact. 
3. They shall prepare and present statements and financial information pursuant to 

applicable law and generally accepted practices and guidelines. 
4. They shall respect and protect privileged information to which they have access by 

virtue of their office. 
5. They shall be sensitive and responsive to inquiries from the public and the media, within 

the framework of District policy. 
6. Employees may not use information received because of District employment for 

private gain, or to avoid financial detriment if the information is confidential or not 
readily available to the public. Information that is public may not be readily available to 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Ethics Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 
 

3 

 

the public if a special request is required to obtain the information or, special 
knowledge, such as that acquired as a District employee, is needed to take advantage of 
the information. 

7. Employees must not use their employment in any way to obtain financial gain or avoid 
financial detriment for the employee, their household, or family members or for any 
business, not-for-profit organization, or other separate legal entity, which the employee 
or a member of the employee’s household or family is associated. 

8. No employee may directly supervise an employee who is a member of their household 
or an employee with whom they are romantically involved. It is the responsibility of the 
supervisor or manager to promptly disclose, in writing, the existence of the relationship 
to the HR Manager, or the General Manager or to the President of the Board of 
Directors to resolve the conflict. 

E. Professional Integrity – Relationships 
1. District staff and officials shall act with honor, integrity, and virtue in all professional 

relationships. 
2. They shall exhibit loyalty and trust in the affairs and interests of the District, within the 

confines of this policy. 
3. They shall not knowingly be a party to or condone any illegal or improper activity. 
4. They shall respect the rights, responsibilities, and integrity of their colleagues and other 

public officials with whom they work and associate. 
5. They shall manage all matters of personnel within the scope of their authority so that 

fairness and impartiality govern their decisions. 
6. They shall promote equal employment opportunities, and in doing so, oppose any 

discrimination, harassment, or other unfair practices. 
F. Conflict of Interest 

1. District staff and officials shall actively avoid the appearance of or the fact of conflicting 
interests. 

2. They shall discharge their duties without favor and shall refrain from engaging in any 
outside matters of financial or personal interest incompatible with the impartial and 
objective performance of their duties. 

3. They shall not, directly or indirectly, seek or accept personal gain, which would 
influence, or appear to influence, the conduct of their official duties. 

4. Employees must not award business to a member of their household or family 
regardless of the mechanism used to provide that business. This prohibition includes the 
use of limited purchase orders or procurement cards to provide business to a household 
or family member. 

5. They shall not use public property or resources for personal or political gain. 
6. All Board members, District Staff and key District officials shall sign a Conflict of Interest 

statement. 
 

 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 

 

  

Oak Lodge Water 
Services District 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

Cybersecurity Awareness 
Policy 

 
 

Adopted xxxxxxx 
Resolution xx-xxxx 

 
 
 

This document supersedes any and all previous cybersecurity policies. 
 

 
 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


  Cybersecurity Awareness Policy 
 Adopted xxxxxx 
 
 
 

1 

 

I. Purpose 
The purpose of this policy is to inform the District’s users (employees, contractors, Board 
members) of their obligatory requirements for protecting the technology and information assets 
of the District.   
 

II. Policy Statement 
It is the obligation of all users of District systems to protect technology and information assets 
from unauthorized access, theft, and destruction. 

 
III. Definitions 

Confidential Information 
· Personnel information 
· Classified financial information 
· Customer data 
· Data about partners 
· Data about vendors 
· Patents, formulas, or new technologies 

 
Operational Information 
· All non-confidential information 

 
District Technology and Information Assets 
· Computer hardware, CPU, Email, web, application servers, PC systems, application software, 

system software, cell phones, tablets, etc. 
· System software including:  operating systems, database management systems, backup and 

restore software, and communications protocols. 
· Application software used by various District departments including custom written 

software applications and commercial off-the-shelf software packages. 
· Communications network hardware and software including:  routers, routing tables, hubs, 

modems, multiplexers, switches, firewalls, private lines, and associated network 
management software and tools. 

· Electronic records, data, information or communications (Email, messaging, social media, 
etc.) including information in any form created, processed, stored, or transmitted under the 
District’s purview. 

 
IV. Data Use and Ownership 

A. All data created using District electronic assets are the property of the District.  Any 
employee personal information stored on any electronic asset belonging, including, but not 
limited to cell phones, tablets laptops and personal computers to the District shall have no 
presumption of privacy or confidentiality. 

B. Employees may use District electronic assets provided that the use adheres to this policy 
and to all other relevant District policies, state and federal laws, does not impose additional 
costs on the District, or does not interfere with their normal duties. Personal use of the 

http://www.oaklodgewaterservices.org/


 

2 

District’s electronic assets resulting in increased District expenses may result in 
reimbursement owed to the District and could result in disciplinary action. 

C. Employees that have access to and use of electronic assets as part of their duties must have 
basic skills in the proper use of the asset. 

D. All employee interactions with social media on behalf of the District or representing the 
District in any way shall follow any relevant Social Media policy. 

E. All electronic assets that are the property of the District shall be managed by the District’s IT 
Representative under the direction of the General Manager: 
1. Employees will not add, move, or remove assets without the prior approval of the IT 

Contractor. 
2. Employees may be issued electronic assets and accessories as part of their job 

responsibilities. In this event: 
a. The employee will be issued assets at the request of their manager. 
b. Employees are responsible to know and follow the appropriate protection, use, and 

care of this District property. 
c. All replacements for loss or damage must be approved by the employee’s manager.  
d. In the event of loss or damage, the lost item must be immediately reported to the 

employee’s manager and the District’s IT Representative. 
e. The IT Representative will maintain an inventory of authorized electronic assets and 

the employee authorized to use the asset. 
F. For security and maintenance purposes, the General Manager may authorize the monitoring 

or modification of electronic assets, systems, and network traffic at any time. 
G. The IT Representative may be requested to audit electronic assets on a periodic basis to 

ensure compliance with this policy. 
H. The IT Representative, through approval from the General Manager, may restrict any 

external and internal access of any employee for the protection of the District. 
I. External access methods are limited to those provided by the District and authorized by the 

General Manager for the specific application.  
J. With General Manager approval, authorized individuals may access, retrieve, read, and 

delete any electronic record, data, information, or communication that is created on, 
received through, or sent by any means using District resources in accordance with the 
District’s records management policy. 

 
V. Security and Proprietary Information 

A. Employees should take all reasonable precautions to prevent unauthorized access to District 
electronic assets and information. 

B. Authorized users are responsible for the security of their accounts and their means of 
authentication. 

C. Employees must immediately report any and all suspected security breaches or threats to 
management or the District’s IT representative. 

 
VI. Unacceptable Use 

A. Employees shall not engage in any activity that is illegal under local, state and federal law, or 
in violation of any District policy, while utilizing District-owned resources. 



 

3 

B. Employees shall not violate the rights of any person or company protected by copyright, 
trade secret, patent or other intellectual property, or similar laws or regulations. 

C. Employees shall not travel outside of the U.S. with District information or electronic assets 
without prior approval of the General Manager. 

 
VII. Prohibited Uses 

Employees are prohibited from: 
A. Introducing malicious programs or allowing unauthorized users access to the computing 

environment; 
B. Circumventing, or attempting to circumvent, the security measures of any District electronic 

asset; 
C. Transporting or transferring confidential information outside of the District network unless 

using an authorized system; 
D. Saving confidential District information to a personal computer or device; 
E. Installing or distributing software products on or from District resources for which the 

District does not have an active license; 
F. Purchasing or installing software during their employment without the approval of the 

General Manager, or his/her designee; 
G. Installing for personal use any software licensed to the District; 
H. Accessing online entertainment, games, or playing games using District resources; 
I. Attempting to obscure or forge the source of communications originating from the District 

(spoofing); 
J. Participating in any form of harassment via a District resource, whether through content, 

frequency, or number of communications; 
K. Effecting security breaches that include, but are not limited to, accessing data which the 

employee is not an intended recipient or logging into a server or account that the employee 
is not expressly authorized to access; 

L. Effecting disruption of service or network monitoring; and 
M. Port scanning or security scanning 
N. Employees may be exempted from these restrictions during the course of their required 

job responsibilities with the express approval of the General Manager. 
 

VIII.  Enforcement 
Any employee found to have violated this policy may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination of employment. 

 
IX. Interpretation 

Any questions regarding the intent or application of this policy should be directed to Human 
Resources or the General Manager. 



 
STAFF REPORT 

 
    
To:   Board of Directors 
From: Sarah Jo Chaplen, General Manager and Tommy Brooks, District 

Attorney 
Agenda Item:   Amendments to OLWSD Purchasing Rules  
Item No.:    8 
Date:   October 9, 2018 

 
    
Action Requested 
 
Presentation and discussion of revisions to the OLWSD Purchasing Rules. 
 
History 
 
December 6, 2016 The Board approved Resolution 16-06 adopting Purchasing Rules 

for the consolidated district. 
June 19, 2018 The Board approved Resolution 18-07 revising provisions in the 

Purchasing Rules relating to Architectural and Engineering services 
 
Background 
 
District employees have regularly encountered difficulties efficiently implementing the 
District’s current Purchasing Rules (Rules).  The Rules were originally adopted in 
December 2016 following consolidation of the sanitary and water districts.  While the 
Rules are comprehensive, they are not user friendly.  Some of the difficulties 
encountered can be attributed to the actual formatting of the document, but the 
substantive provisions of the Rules have also created issues.  For example, during a 
review of the Rules this past summer, staff, along with counsel, discovered a major 
difference from the State’s Purchasing Rules that we did not believe was the intent of 
the Board when the Rules were originally approved. Specifically, it was discovered that 
the District’s ability to use an On-Call Engineering or Architecture Consultant was 
severely limited.  As a result, staff recommended a specific change to the Rules to 
expand the District’s authority in line with what the State’s Purchasing Rules allow.  The 
Board approved that change through Resolution 18-07.   
 
As staff continued to use the Rules for other purchases, it became evident that the 
District would continue to encounter issues that the Rules simply do not appear to 
address.  Some of the state’s rules have also changed since the original adoption of the 
Rules, and the District is obligated to review its Rules on a regular basis to ensure those 
changes are incorporated.  Because the District was unexpectedly having to spend staff 



  

and attorney resources to ensure compliance with the Rules, and because the District 
needs to update the rule periodically, the General Manager, in consultation with the 
District’s attorney, determined that it would be more efficient to re-do the Rules in their 
entirety.  A primary goal of the re-write is to have rules that are more user friendly, and 
also to ensure that the District is operating with as much authority and flexibility as the 
state allows. 
 
The attached draft is a whole-sale re-write of the Rules for the Board’s consideration.  
This version is currently being reviewed by the District’s management team, and will 
also need to be reviewed by the union.  We anticipate that a final version will come back 
to the Board at its November meeting with any appropriate changes necessitated by 
that feedback. 
 
Generally, these proposed Contracting & Purchasing Rules are intended to:  
 

A. Function as the primary document for District staff to follow in public contract 
and purchasing procedure, rather than needing to refer to an Attorney 
General rule, statute, or other administrative rule. 

B. Provide for the greatest level of flexibility and control to the Board of 
Directors, as the local contract review board, while delegating certain 
authority to the General Manager to take action sufficient to allow for smooth 
operations and day-to-day contracts and purchase.  

C. Update the District’s current procurement rules to account for changes in 
state law. 

D. Separate contracting procedure from internal controls and delegation (i.e. 
spending authority of individual staff). 

 
Key changes from the District’s 2016 Purchasing Rules include: 
 

1. Clarifies hierarchy of rules in the event of conflict or ambiguity.  The 2016 
Rules provided that state law and state rules would apply to the District 
except where the local District rules provided for an exception. The 
Proposed Rules specify that the local District rules will prevail in the event 
of a conflict with state rules and statute. If there is a conflict or ambiguity 
discovered within the Proposed Rules, the General Manager may provide 
an interpretation that is consistent with the objectives adopted by the 
Board of Directors. 

2. Creates a more cohesive governing document for contracts and 
purchases.  The 2016 Rules more frequently cross-referenced state law 
rules and statutes such that the reader would need to source the 
information from both the local District rules and state rules and statutes. 
The Proposed Rules aim to incorporate the most common state rules and 
statutes into the document itself to reduce the need for District staff to 
refer to state rules and statute (generally for less common contracts and 
purchases). 



  

3. Eliminates specific authority-grants to staff other than the General 
Manager.  The 2016 Rules expressly provide for certain District staff to 
enter into contracts up to a limited amount. The Proposed Rules provide 
only for the General Manager to enter into direct contracts or delegate the 
General Manager’s authority to District staff.  Under this authority, and 
through the District’s financial policies, contracting authority and spending 
limits can still be delegated to certain positions, and changes to that 
delegation will be easier to make as needed.  

4. Increases ceiling amount for entering into direct appointments for personal 
services and professional services.  The 2016 Rules allow for the District 
to directly appoint personal services and professional services contractors 
up to $10,000, with a competitive process to be used beyond that amount.  
While the District updated that amount for professional services (architects 
and engineers), the new Rules will apply to more services and better 
mirror the state’s rules.  Specifically, The Proposed Rules allow for a more 
flexible direct appointment for personal and professional services 
contractors up to $100,000 without competition. (The Board will still need 
to approve of any direct appointment greater than $50,000.) 

5. Clarifies when resident preference is required and when it is optional.  The 
2016 Rules state generally that the District will endeavor to apply a 
resident preference. The Proposed Rules clarify when the District is 
required to apply resident preference and when it may optionally provide 
for a preference, and incorporates all applicable definitions. 

6. Allows for more flexible public notices.  The 2016 Rules allow for 
electronic advertisement when cost-effective and at the Board Chair’s 
determination. The Proposed Rules allow for publication by any manner 
the General Manager determines is appropriate for that particular 
procurement, except where state law requires a specific type of public 
notice. 

7. Removes surplus property provisions.  The 2016 Rules include a provision 
on disposal of surplus property. The District is currently in the process of 
adopting an independent surplus property rule and procedure that is 
separate from the Rules and for that reason all provisions related to 
surplus property disposal have been removed from the Proposed Rules. 

8. Fully explains the procedure for each procurement process and the criteria 
for evaluation.  The 2016 Rules generally discussed the processes for 
each procurement type. The Proposed Rules outline each type of 
procurement process in more of a step-by-step format and outline the 
applicable criteria for evaluations.  The one exception where the Rules 
refer to the state law is for construction services relating to public 
improvements.  The state rules for such purchases are more prescribed 
and have several alternative methods.  For that reason, it is the attorney’s 
recommendation to continue relying solely on the state rules. 

 
Work Load Impacts 



  

With clearer Rules for purchasing, the amount of time staff has to spend navigating the 
rules, and the amount of time they spend consulting with the attorney, should be 
reduced.   
Suggested Board Motion 
 
No motion is needed at this time.  Staff is seeking feedback from the Board and others 
and will bring a final version back to the Board for approval in November. 
 
Attachments 
 

1. Draft Purchasing Rules 



 

 
 

 
 

OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES DISTRICT 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 

 
October 2018 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Contracting & Purchasing Rules 



 

i 
 

 

Oak Lodge Water Services District  
Contracting & Purchasing Rules 

 
Table of Contents 

I. Introduction. ........................................................................................................................ 1 
A. Purpose of Rules ..................................................................................................... 1 
B. Interpretation of Rules............................................................................................. 1 
C. Specific Provisions’ Precedence over General Provisions ..................................... 1 
D. Conflict with Federal Statutes and Regulations ...................................................... 1 

II. Definitions........................................................................................................................... 2 
A.  Administering agency ............................................................................................ 2 
B.  Affected person ...................................................................................................... 2 
C.  Architectural, engineering, and land surveying services ....................................... 2 
D.  Award ..................................................................................................................... 2 
E.  Bid .......................................................................................................................... 2 
F.  Bidder ..................................................................................................................... 2 
G.  Bid security ............................................................................................................ 2 
H.  Business with which a District employee is associated ......................................... 2 
I.  District.................................................................................................................... 2 
J.  General Manager .................................................................................................... 2 
K.  Closing ................................................................................................................... 2 
L.  Contract or Public Contract ................................................................................... 2 
M.  Contractor .............................................................................................................. 3 
N.  Contract price ......................................................................................................... 3 
O.  Contracting agency ................................................................................................ 3 
P.  Cooperative procurement ....................................................................................... 3 
Q.  Days ....................................................................................................................... 3 
R.  Emergency ............................................................................................................. 3 
S.  Findings.................................................................................................................. 3 
T.  Goods or services ................................................................................................... 3 
U.  Grant ...................................................................................................................... 3 
V.  Immediate family member ..................................................................................... 4 
W. Minority, Women, Service-Disabled Veteran, and Emerging Small Business 

Enterprise  ............................................................................................................... 4 
X.  Nonresident bidder  ................................................................................................ 4 
Y.  Offer ....................................................................................................................... 4 
Z.  Offeror.................................................................................................................... 4 
AA.  Opening .................................................................................................................. 4 
BB.  Original contract .................................................................................................... 4 
CC.  Purchasing agency ................................................................................................. 4 
DD.   Person .................................................................................................................... 4 
EE.   Personal services .................................................................................................... 5 
FF.   Price agreement ...................................................................................................... 5 



 

ii 
 

GG.   Procurement ........................................................................................................... 5 
HH.   Professional services .............................................................................................. 5 
II.  Proposal .................................................................................................................. 5 
JJ.     Proposer ................................................................................................................. 5 
KK.   Proposer security ................................................................................ 5 
LL.    Provider .................................................................................................................. 6 
MM.  Public contract ....................................................................................................... 6 
NN.  Public contracting .................................................................................................. 6 
OO.   Public improvement ............................................................................................... 6 
PP.     Public improvement contract ................................................................................. 6 
QQ.    Recycled product ................................................................................................... 6 
RR.   Related services ...................................................................................................... 6 
SS.    Request for proposals ............................................................................................. 7 
TT.  Request for qualifications ...................................................................................... 7 
UU.   Resident bidder....................................................................................................... 7 
VV.   Revenue generating agreements ............................................................................ 7 
WW. Scope ...................................................................................................................... 7 
XX.  Signed or signature................................................................................................. 7 
YY.   Solicitation ............................................................................................................. 8 
ZZ.   Work ....................................................................................................................... 8 
AAA. Written or in writing ............................................................................................. 8 

III.  Authority ............................................................................................................................. 8 
A. OLWSD Board as Local Contract Review Board. ................................................. 8 
B. Application of Attorney General’s Model Rules of Procedure ............................... 8 
C. Inapplicability of Contracting and Purchasing Rules .............................................. 8 
D. Authority of General Manager ................................................................................ 9 
E. Favorable Terms ................................................................................................... 10 
F. Unauthorized Contracts or Purchases ................................................................... 10 
G. Purchasing from District Employees or Employees’ Immediate Family Prohibited. 

10 
IV. Preferences ........................................................................................................................ 11 

A. Tie Breaker Preference (Mandatory Resident Preference) ................................... 11 
B. Reciprocal Preference (Mandatory Resident Preference) ..................................... 12 
C. Discretionary Local Preference (Optional Local Preference) ............................... 12 
D. Preference for Recycled Materials and Supplies .................................................. 12 
E. Opportunities for Minority, Women, Service-Disabled Veteran, and Emerging 

Small Business Enterprise..................................................................................... 13 

V. General Provisions ............................................................................................................ 13 
A. Public Notice ......................................................................................................... 13 
B. Procedure for Competitive Verbal Quotes and Proposals .................................... 13 
C. Procedure for Informal Written Solicitation ......................................................... 13 
D. Procedure for Competitive Sealed Bidding .......................................................... 14 
E. Procedure for Competitive Sealed Proposals ........................................................ 15 
F. Retroactive Approval ............................................................................................ 17 

VI. Source Selection Methods for Goods or Services, Other Than Personal or Professional 



 

iii 
 

Services ............................................................................................................................. 18 
A. Small Procurements .............................................................................................. 18 
B. Intermediate Procurements ................................................................................... 18 
C. Large Procurements .............................................................................................. 19 

VII. Personal Services Contracts .............................................................................................. 19 
A. Classification of Services as Personal Services .................................................... 19 
B. Requests for Qualifications ................................................................................... 19 
C. Direct Appointment .............................................................................................. 20 
D. Solicitations........................................................................................................... 20 

VIII. Professional Services & Related Services Contracts ........................................................ 21 
A. Direct Appointment .............................................................................................. 21 
B. Informal Solicitations............................................................................................ 22 
C. Formal Selection Procedure .................................................................................. 26 

IX.  Public Improvements ........................................................................................................ 26 
X.  Alternative Source Selection Methods for Goods or Services & Personal Services ........ 26 

A. Sole-Source Procurements .................................................................................... 26 
B. Special Procurements ............................................................................................ 27 
C. Contracts ............................................................................................................... 27 
D. Emergency Procurements ..................................................................................... 29 
E. Cooperative Procurement Contracts ..................................................................... 29 

XI.  Protest and Appeal Procedures ......................................................................................... 29 
A. Protests and Judicial Review of Special Procurements ........................................ 29 
B. Protests and Judicial Review of Sole-Source Procurements ................................. 30 
C. Protests and Judicial Review of Personal Services Procurements ........................ 31 
D. Protests of Cooperative Procurements .................................................................. 32 

  



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 1 

 
 

Contracting & Purchasing Rules 
 
I. Introduction. 

A. Purpose of Rules. These Contracting and Purchasing Rules (“Rules”) are 
adopted by the Oak Lodge Water Services District Board of Directors (“the 
OLWSD Board”), the governing body of the Oak Lodge Water Services District 
(“the District”), to establish the rules and procedures for contracts entered into 
and purchases made by the District. The District’s General Manager is 
responsible for ensuring that these Rules are followed.  It is the policy of the 
District in adopting these Rules to utilize public contracting and purchasing 
practices and methods that maximize the efficient use of District resources and 
the purchasing power of District funds by: 

1. Promoting impartial and open competition; 

2. Using solicitation materials that are complete and contain a clear statement of 
contract specifications and requirements; and 

3. Taking full advantage of evolving procurement methods that suit the 
purchasing needs of the District as they emerge within various 
industries. 

B. Interpretation of Rules.  Except as specifically provided in these 
Rules, public contracts and purchases shall be awarded, administered, and 
governed according to ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, and 279C (the “Public 
Contracting Code”) and the Attorney General’s Model Public Contract Rules 
(“AG Model Rules”), as may be amended from time to time. 

1. It is the District’s intent that these Rules be interpreted to authorize the full use 
of all contracting and purchasing powers described in ORS Chapters 279A, 
279B, and 279C. 

2. The AG Model Rules adopted under ORS 279A.065 shall apply to the 
contracts and purchases of the District to the extent that they do not conflict 
with these Rules or other rules and regulations adopted by the District. 

3. In the event of a conflict between any provisions of these Rules and the 
AG Model Rules, the provisions of these Rules shall prevail. 

4. In the event of a conflict between one or more provisions of these 
Rules, the General Manager shall have the authority to interpret these 
rules consistent with the purposes of the objective set forth above in 
subsection A to resolve the conflict. 

C. Specific Provisions’ Precedence over General Provisions. In the event of a 
conflict between the provisions of these Rules, the more specific provision shall 
take precedence over the more general provision. 

D. Conflict with Federal Statutes and Regulations. Except as otherwise expressly 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 2 

provided in ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, or 279C, applicable federal statutes and 
regulations shall govern when federal funds are involved. 

 
II. Definitions. Unless a different definition is specifically provided herein, or the 

context clearly requires otherwise, the following terms have the meanings set forth 
herein. Additionally, any term defined in the singular includes the meaning of the 
plural, and vice versa. 
A. Administering agency. A contracting agency other than the District that 

solicited and established the original contract in a cooperative procurement for 
goods, services, personal services, professional services, or public improvements. 

B. Affected person. A person whose ability to participate in a procurement is 
adversely impaired by a District decision. 

C. Architectural, engineering, and land surveying services. Professional services 
performed by an architect, engineer, or land surveyor that includes architectural, 
engineering, or land surveying services, separately or any combination thereof. 

D. Award. The decision to enter into a contract or purchase order with a specific 
offeror or proposer. 

E. Bid.  A response to an invitation to bid. 

F. Bidder.  A person who submits a bid in response to an invitation to bid. 

G. Bid security. A form of security submitted or posted by a bidder as a monetary 
guarantee that, if selected, the bidder will accept the award of the contract under 
the terms of the bid. Bid security is either returned, forfeited, or exchanged for a 
different form of guarantee. The form of bid security may be: a surety bond 
signed by the surety, a signed irrevocable letter of credit issued by an insured 
institution as the term is defined in ORS 706.008(11), a cashier’s check, or other 
adequate form of security as determined by the General Manager. 

H. Business with which a District employee is associated.  Any business in which 
a District employee is a director, officer, owner, or employee, or any corporation 
in which a District employee owns or has owned ten percent (10%) or more of 
any class of stock at any point in the preceding calendar year. 

I. District. The Oak Lodge Water Services District, a public water and sanitary 
district and a contracting and purchasing agency. 

J. General Manager. The District’s General Manager or the person designated 
as the acting General Manager in the General Manager’s absence. 

K. Closing. The date and time announced in a solicitation document as the deadline 
for submitting bids or offers. 

L. Contract or Public Contract. A purchase, lease, rental, or other acquisition, by the 
District of personal property, goods, or services, including personal services, 
professional services, public improvements, public works, minor alterations, or 
ordinary repair or maintenance necessary to preserve a public improvement. A public 
contract does not include grants. 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 3 

M. Contractor.  The person who enters into a contract with the District. 

N. Contract price.  As the context requires: 

1. The maximum payment that the District will make under a contract if the 
contractor fully performs under the contract, including bonuses, incentives 
and contingency amounts; 

2. The maximum not-to-exceed payment specified in the contract; or 

3. The unit prices set forth in the contract. 

O. Contracting agency.  A public body authorized by law to conduct a procurement. 

P. Cooperative procurement. A procurement conducted by, or on behalf of, one or 
more contracting agencies. 

Q. Days.  Calendar days. 
R. Emergency.  Involves circumstances that: 

1. Could not have been reasonably foreseen; 

2. Create a substantial risk of loss, damage, or interruption of services, or 
a substantial threat to property, public health, welfare, or safety; and 

3. Require prompt execution of a contract or amendment in order to remedy the 
substantial risks and threats. 

S. Findings. The justification for a conclusion. If the justification relates to a public 
improvement contract, findings may be based on information that include, but is 
not limited to: 

1. Operational, budget, and financial data; 

2. Public benefits; 

3. Value engineering; 

4. Specialized expertise; 

5. Market conditions; 

6. Technical complexity; and 

7. Funding sources. 

T. Goods or services. Supplies, equipment, materials, and services, other than 
personal services, and any personal property, including any tangible, intangible, 
and intellectual property and rights and licenses in relation thereto. The term 
includes good or services, goods and services, and combinations of any of the 
items identified in this definition. 

U. Grant.  An agreement under which: 

1. The District receives money, property, or other assistance, including but not 
limited to, federal assistance that is characterized as a grant by federal law or 
regulation, loans, loan guarantees, credit enhancements, gifts, bequests, 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 4 

commodities, or other assets; 

a. The assistance received by the District is from a grantor for the 
purpose of supporting or stimulating a program or activity of the 
District; and 

b. No substantial involvement by the grantor is anticipated in the program 
or activity other than involvement associated with monitoring compliance 
with grant conditions; or 

2. The District provides money, property, or other assistance, including but not 
limited to, federal assistance that is characterized as a grant by federal law or 
regulation, loans, loan guarantees, credit enhancements, gifts, bequests, 
commodities or other assets; 

a. The assistance is given to the recipient for the purpose of supporting or 
stimulating a program or activity of the recipient; and 

b. No substantial involvement by the District is anticipated in the program 
or activity other than involvement associated with monitoring 
compliance with grant conditions, unless otherwise provided for in an 
agreement related to the grant. 

V. Immediate family member. An employee’s: spouse, and parents thereof; 
children, and spouses thereof; parents, and spouses thereof; siblings, and spouses 
thereof; grandparents and grandchildren, and spouses thereof; and domestic 
partner, and parents thereof. 

W. Minority, Women, Service-Disabled Veteran, and Emerging Small Business 
Enterprise. An enterprise or business that is certified by the State of Oregon’s 
Certification Office for Business Inclusion and Diversity in the Oregon Business 
Development Department as a minority-owned business, a woman-owned business, a 
business that a service-disabled veteran owns, and/or an emerging small business. 

X. Nonresident bidder.  A bidder that is not a resident bidder. 

Y. Offer.  A bid, proposal, quote, or other response to a solicitation document. 

Z. Offeror.  A person who submits an offer. 

AA. Opening. The date, time, and place announced in the solicitation document for 
the public opening of written sealed offers. 

BB. Original contract. The initial contract or price agreement solicited and awarded 
during a cooperative procurement by an administering agency. 

CC. Purchasing agency. An agency that procures goods or services, personal 
services, or public improvements from a contractor based on the original contract 
established by an administering agency in a cooperative procurement. 

DD. Person.  An individual, corporation, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, 
limited liability company, association, joint venture, governmental agency, public 
body, public corporation, or other legal or commercial entity, and any other 
person or entity with legal capacity to contract. 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 5 

EE. Personal services.  Services, other than professional services, that require 
specialized skill, knowledge, and resources in the application of technical or 
scientific expertise or in the exercise of professional, artistic, or 
management discretion or judgment. 

1. Qualifications and performance history, expertise and creativity, and the 
ability to exercise sound professional judgment are typically the primary 
considerations when selecting a personal services contractor, with price being 
secondary. 

2. Personal services contracts include, but are not limited to, the following 
classes of contracts: 

a. Contracts for services performed in a professional capacity, including but 
not limited to, services of an accountant, attorney, auditor, court reporter, 
information technology consultant, physician, or broadcaster; 

b. Contracts for professional or expert witnesses or consultants to provide 
services or testimony relating to existing or potential litigation or legal 
matters in which the District is or may become interested; 

c. Contracts for services as an artist in the performing or fine arts, including 
any person identified as a photographer, film maker, actor, director, 
painter, weaver, or sculptor; 

d. Contracts for services that are specialized, creative, or research-
oriented; and 

e. Contracts for services as a consultant. 

FF. Price agreement.  A contract for the procurement of goods or services at a set 
price which has: 

1. No guarantee of a minimum or maximum purchase; or 

2. An initial order or minimum purchase combined with a continuing contractor 
obligation to provide goods or services with no guarantee of any minimum or 
maximum additional purchase. 

GG. Procurement.  The act of purchasing, leasing, renting, or otherwise acquiring 
goods or services, personal services, or professional services. It includes each 
function and procedure undertaken or required to be undertaken to enter into a 
contract, administer a contract and obtain the performance of a contract for goods 
or services, personal services, or professional services. 

HH. Professional services.  Architectural, engineering, land surveying, 
photogrammetric, transportation planning, or related services, or any 
combination of these services, provided by a consultant. 

II. Proposal.  A response to a request for proposals. 

JJ. Proposer.  A person that submits a proposal in response to a request for 
proposals. 

KK. Proposer security.  A form of security submitted or posted by a 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 6 

proposer as a monetary guarantee that, if selected, the proposer will 
accept the award of the contract under the terms of the proposal. 
Proposer security is either returned, forfeited, or exchanged for a 
different form of guarantee. The form of proposer security may be: a 
surety bond signed by the surety, a signed irrevocable letter of credit 
issued by an insured institution as the term is defined in ORS 
706.008(11), a cashier’s check, or other adequate form of security as 
determined by the General Manager. 

LL. Provider.  As the context requires, a supplier of goods or services, personal 
services, or professional services. 

                MM.    Public contract.  See Contract.  

NN. Public contracting.  Procurement activities relating to obtaining, modifying, 
or administering contracts or price agreements. 

OO. Public improvement.  A project for construction, reconstruction, or major 
renovation on real property, by or for the District. A public improvement does not 
include projects for which no funds of the District are directly or indirectly used, 
except for participation that is incidental or related primarily to project design or 
inspection; or emergency work, minor alteration, or ordinary repair or 
maintenance necessary to preserve a public improvement. 

PP. Public improvement contract.  A contract for a public improvement. A public 
improvement contract does not include a contract for emergency work, minor 
alterations, or ordinary repair or maintenance necessary to maintain a public 
improvement. 

QQ. Recycled product.  All materials, goods and supplies, not less than fifty percent 
(50%) of the total weight of which consists of secondary and post-consumer waste 
with not less than ten percent (10%) of its total weight consisting of post- 
consumer waste. It includes any product that could have been disposed of as solid 
waste, having completed its life cycle as a consumer item, but otherwise is 
refurbished for reuse without substantial alteration of the product’s form. 

RR. Related services.  Personal services, other than architectural, engineering, and 
land survey services, that are related to the planning, design, engineering, or 
oversight of public improvement projects or components thereof, including but 
not limited to: 

1. Landscape architectural services; 

2. Facilities planning services; 

3. Energy planning services; 

4. Space planning services; 

5. Environmental impact studies; 

6. Hazardous substances or hazardous waste or toxic substances testing 
services; 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 7 

7. Wetland delineation studies; 

8. Wetland mitigation services; 

9. Native American studies; 

10. Historical research services; 

11. Endangered species studies; 

12. Rare plant studies; 

13. Biological services; 

14. Archaeological services; 

15. Cost estimating services; 

16. Appraising services; 

17. Material testing services; 

18. Mechanical system balancing services; 

19. Commissioning services; 
20. Project management services; 

21. Construction management services and owner’s representatives service; 
and/or 

22. Land use planning services. 

SS. Request for proposals.  A solicitation document used for soliciting proposals. 

TT. Request for qualifications.  A written document issued by the District 
describing particular services to which potential contractors respond with a 
description of their experience and qualifications that results in a list of potential 
contractors who are qualified to perform those services, but which is not 
intended to create a contract between a potential contractor on the list and the 
District. 

UU. Resident bidder.  A bidder that has paid unemployment taxes or income taxes in 
Oregon during the 12 calendar months immediately preceding submission of the 
bid, has a business address in Oregon, and has stated in the bid that the bidder is 
a resident bidder. 

VV.    Revenue generating agreements.  Contracts or agreements for services that 
generate revenue and that are typically awarded to the offeror proposing the most 
advantageous or highest monetary return. 

WW. Scope.  The range and attributes of the goods or services described in a 
procurement document. 

XX.      Signed or signature. Any mark, word, or symbol attached to or logically 
associated with a document and executed or adopted by a person with the 
authority and intent to be bound. 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 8 

YY. Solicitation.  As the context requires: 

1. A request for the purpose of soliciting offers, including an invitation to bid, a 
request for proposal, a request for quotation, a request for qualifications, or 
other similar documents; 

2. The process of notifying prospective offerors of a request for offers; and/or 

3. The solicitation document. 

ZZ. Work.  The furnishing of all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals 
necessary to successfully complete any individual item in a contract, and 
the successful completion of all duties and obligations imposed by the 
contract. 

AAA. Written or in writing.  Conventional paper documents, whether handwritten, 
typewritten, or printed, including electronic transmissions or facsimile 
documents when required by applicable law or permitted by a solicitation 
document or contract.  

 
III. Authority. 

A. OLWSD Board as Local Contract Review Board. The OLWSD Board is 
designated as the local contract review board of the District and has all of the 
rights, powers, and authority necessary to carry out the provisions of these 
Rules, the Public Contracting Code, and/or the AG Model Rules. 

B. Application of Attorney General’s Model Rules of Procedure. Pursuant to 
ORS 279A.065(6), the District has elected to establish its own rules and policy 
for public contracting and purchasing. Except as provided herein, the AG 
Model Rules do not apply to the District. 

C. Inapplicability of Contracting and Purchasing Rules.  These Rules do not apply to 
the following: 

1. Contracts or agreements to which the Public Contracting Code does not apply; 

2. Contracts, intergovernmental, and interstate agreements entered into 
pursuant to ORS Chapter 190; 

3. Grants; 

4. Acquisitions or disposals of real property or interests in real property; 

5. Procurements from an Oregon Corrections Enterprise program; 

6. Contracts, agreements, or other documents entered into, issued, or 
established in connection with: 

a. The incurring of debt, including any associated contracts, agreements, or 
other documents, regardless of whether the obligations that the contracts, 
agreements, or other documents establish are general, special, or limited; 

b. The making of program loans and similar extensions or advance of funds, 
aid, or assistance by the District to a public or private person for the 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 9 

purpose of carrying out, promoting, or sustaining activities or programs 
authorized by law other than for the construction of public works or 
public improvements; 

c. The investment of funds by the District as authorized by law; or 

d. Banking, money management, or other predominantly financial 
transactions that, by their character, cannot practically be established 
under the competitive contractor selection procedures, based upon the 
findings of the General Manager. 

7. Contracts for employee benefit plans; 

8. Contracts with newspapers and other publications for the placement of 
advertisements or public notices; 

9. Contracts for items where the price is regulated and available from a single 
source or limited number of sources; 

10. Insurance contracts; 

11. Revenue-generating agreements; 

12. Federal agreements where applicable federal statutes and regulations govern 
when federal funds are involved and the federal statutes or regulations conflict 
with any provision of the Oregon Public Contracting Code or these Rules or 
require additional conditions in public contracts not authorized by the Oregon 
Public Contracting Code or these Rules. 

D. Authority of General Manager.  For contracts, purchases, and proceedings covered 
by these Rules, the General Manager is authorized to: 

1. Award contracts and amendments without specific authorization by the 
OLWSD Board whenever the proposed expenditure is included in the 
current fiscal year budget and where: (i) the contract price does not exceed 
$50,000 when the contract term is one year or less; or (ii) the contract 
obligates the District to pay no more than $50,000 on an annual basis when 
the contract term exceeds one year. 

2. Execute contracts and amendments other than those that qualify under 
subsection (1) with specific authorization by the OLWSD Board. 

3. As the purchasing agent for the District, the General Manager is authorized to: 

a. Advertise for bids or proposals without specific authorization from the 
OLWSD Board, when the proposed purchase is included within the 
current fiscal year budget. 

b. Advertise for bids or proposals when the proposed purchase is not 
included within the current fiscal year budget after the OLWSD 
Board approves the proposed budget transfer. 

c. Establish the authority of District employees to make purchases 
of any goods or services within the General Manager’s authority 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 10 

to purchase with limits deemed appropriate by the General 
Manager. 

4. Delegate, in writing, the signature authority described in the above subsection  
(2) and the purchasing powers described in the above subsection (3). In the 
absence of a written delegation to the contrary, and in the absence of the 
General Manager, the signature authority described in the above subsection 
(2) and the purchasing powers described in the above subsection (3) are 
delegated to the Acting General Manager. 

5. Delegate, in writing, the General Manager’s obligations under these rules to make 
any findings, conduct any proceedings, or retain any records to the appropriate 
District employee or consultant. 

6. Adopt forms, procedures, computer software, and administrative rules for all 
District purchases regardless of the amount. 

a. When adopting the forms, procedures, computer software, and/or 
administrative rules, the General Manager shall establish practices and 
policies that: 

i. Do not encourage favoritism or substantially diminish competition; 
and 

ii. Allow the District to take advantage of the cost-saving 
benefits of alternative contracting methods and practices; 

b. The District shall use these forms, procedures, computer software 
and administrative rules unless they conflict with these Rules. 

E. Favorable Terms. Contracts and purchases shall be negotiated on the most 
favorable terms for the District, in accordance with these Rules, other adopted 
ordinances, state and federal laws, policies, and procedures. 

F. Unauthorized Contracts or Purchases. Unauthorized public contracts entered 
into or purchases made without valid authorization shall be voidable at the sole 
discretion of the District. 

1. The District may take appropriate action in response to the execution of 
unauthorized contracts or purchases. 

2. Such appropriate actions include, but are not limited to, providing educational 
guidance, imposing disciplinary measures, and/or holding individuals 
personally liable for such contracts or purchases. 

G. Purchasing from District Employees or Employees’ Immediate Family 
Prohibited. No contract shall be entered into with or purchase made from any 
District employee or employee’s immediate family member, or any business 
with which the employee or employee’s immediate family member is 
associated, unless: 

1. The contract or purchase is expressly authorized and approved by the 
OLWSD Board; or 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 11 

2. The need for the contract or purchase occurs during a state of emergency, and 
the General Manager finds, in writing, that the acquisition from the employee, 
employee’s immediate family member, or business with which the employee 
or employee’s immediate family member is associated is the most expeditious 
means to eliminate the threat to public health, safety, and welfare. 

 
IV. Preferences. 

A. Tie Breaker Preference (mandatory resident preference). If the District 
receives offers that are identical in price, fitness, availability, and quality, and 
the District chooses to award a contract, the preferences provided in ORS 
279A.120 shall be applied prior to the contract award based on the following 
order of precedence: 

1. The District shall award the contract to the offeror who is offering goods, 
services, personal services, or any combination thereof, that are 
manufactured, produced, or to be performed in Oregon. 

2. If two or more offers are for goods, services, or personal services that are 
manufactured, produced, or to be performed in Oregon, the District shall 
award the contract by drawing lots among the identical resident offers. The 
District shall provide such identical resident offerors notice of the date, time, 
and location of the drawing of lots, and an opportunity for those offerors to 
be present when the lots are drawn. 

3. If none of the offers are for goods, services, or personal services that are 
manufactured, produced, or to be performed in Oregon, the District shall 
award the contract by drawing lots among the identical non-resident offers. 
The District shall provide such identical non-resident offerors notice of the 
date, time, and location of the drawing of lots, and an opportunity for those 
offerors to be present when the lots are drawn. 

4. Determining if offers are identical in price, fitness, availability, and 
quality for purposes of applying a Tie Breaker Preference.  

• Bids are identical if the bids are responsive and offer the goods or 
services or personal services described in the Invitation to Bid at 
the same price. 

• Proposals are identical if the proposals are responsive and achieve 
equal scores when scored according to the evaluation criteria set 
forth in the Request for Proposals. 

• Offers received in response to a Special Procurement under ORS 
279B.085 are identical if, after completing the contracting 
procedure, the District determines, in writing, that two or more 
offers are equally advantageous to the District. 

• Offers received in response to an Intermediate Procurement under 
ORS 279B.070 are identical if the offers equally best serve the 
interests of the District, taking into account considerations 
including but not limited to: price, experience, expertise, product 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 12 

functionality, suitability for a particular purpose, and contractor 
responsibility under ORS 279B.110. 

B. Reciprocal Preference (mandatory resident preference). Reciprocal 
preferences under ORS 279A.120, if applicable, must be given when evaluating 
bids. The District shall add a percent increase to the bid of a nonresident bidder 
equal to the percent of the preference given to the bidder in the state in which 
the bidder resides. In determining whether the nonresident bidder’s state gives 
preference to in-state bidders, and the amount of preference that is given to in-
state bidders, if any, the District may rely on the list of reciprocal preferences 
prepared and maintained by the Oregon Department of Administrative Services. 

C. Discretionary Local Preference (optional local preference). If the 
solicitation is in writing and the procurement is not excluded under this 
Section IV (C)(3), the General Manager may provide a specified percentage 
preference of not more than ten percent (10%) for goods fabricated or 
processed entirely in Oregon or services performed entirely in Oregon. In the 
event the General Manager determines that such a preference will be applied, 
the application and amount of the preference must be identified in writing in 
the solicitation document. 
1. When a preference is provided and more than one offeror qualifies for 

the preference, the General Manager may give further preference to a 
qualifying offeror that resides in or is headquartered in Oregon. 

2. The General Manager may establish a preference percentage of ten percent 
(10%) or higher if the General Manager makes a written determination that 
good cause exists to establish the higher percentage, explains the reasons, 
and provides evidence for finding good cause to establish a higher 
percentage. 

3. Discretionary local preference unavailable for certain procurements. The 
discretionary preference described in this Section IV (C) may not be applied 
to a contract for emergency work, minor alterations, ordinary repairs or 
maintenance of public improvements, or to any other construction contract 
that is not defined as a public improvement under ORS 279A.010. 

D. Preference for Recycled Materials and Supplies. Preferences for recycled 
goods shall be given when comparing goods, if applicable under ORS 279A.125. 
The General Manager shall make a written determination for whether the goods 
are manufactured from recycled materials and the criteria used in making such 
determination. Preference shall be given if: 

1. The recycled product is available 

2. The recycled product meets applicable standards 

3. The recycled product can be substituted for a comparable nonrecycled 
product; and 

4. The costs of the recycled product do not exceed the costs of comparable 
nonrecycled products by more than five percent, or a higher percentage if the 
General Manager makes a written determination justifying a 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 13 

higher percentage.  

E. Opportunities for Minority, Women, Service-Disabled Veteran, and Emerging 
Small Business Enterprise. The District aspires to provide opportunities for 
available contracts to Minority, Women, Service-Disabled Veteran (“MWSDV”), and 
Emerging Small Business (“ESB”) Enterprises. To this end: 

1. The District may consult with the State advocate for MWSDV and ESB 
Enterprise to determine the best means to make contracting opportunities 
available.  

2. The District may, in solicitation documents, require that some portion of the work 
be performed, or some portion of the materials be provided, by a MWSDV or 
ESB Enterprise. The District may establish other contract requirements as 
authorized by ORS 279A.107.  

3. The District may use the State of Oregon’s Certification Office for Business 
Inclusion and Diversity Certification Management System Directory to 
authenticate certification of a business or enterprise as a MWSDV or ESB 
Enterprise. 

 
V. General Provisions. 

A. Public Notice. Unless otherwise specifically provided by these Rules, any notice 
required to be published by these Rules may be published using any method the 
General Manager deems appropriate, including but not limited to: mailing notice 
to persons that have requested notice in writing, placing notice on the District’s 
website, placing notice through an electronic procurement system, or publishing 
in statewide trade or local publications. 

B. Procedure for Competitive Verbal Quotes and Proposals. Where allowed by 
these Rules, solicitations by competitive quotes and proposals shall be based on a 
description of the quantity of goods or services to be provided, and may be 
solicited and received by phone, facsimile, or email, as authorized by the General 
Manager. 

1. A good faith effort shall be made to contact at least three (3) potential 
providers. 

2. If three (3) potential providers are not reasonably available, fewer shall 
suffice, but the General Manager shall keep a written record of the efforts 
made to obtain three potential providers as part of the procurement file. 

C. Procedure for Informal Written Solicitation. Where allowed by these Rules, 
informal written solicitations shall be made by a solicitation document sent to not 
fewer than three (3) prospective providers. 

1. The solicitation document shall request competitive price quotes or 
competitive proposals, and shall include: 

a. The date, time, and place that price quotes or proposals are due; 

b. A description or quantity of the good or service required; 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 14 

c. A statement of the time period for which price quotes or proposals must 
remain firm, irrevocable, valid, and binding on the offeror. If no time is 
stated in the solicitation document, the period shall be thirty (30) days; 

d. Any required contract terms or conditions; and 

e. Any required bid form or proposed format. 

2. Price quotes or proposals shall be received by the General Manager at the 
date, time, and place established in the solicitation document. 

a. The General Manager shall keep a written record of the sources of the 
quotes or proposals. 

b. If three (3) quotes or proposals are not reasonably available, fewer shall 
suffice, but the General Manager shall keep a written record of the 
efforts made to obtain quotes or proposals as part of the procurement 
file. 

D. Procedure for Competitive Sealed Bidding.  

1. The District shall issue an invitation to bid, which must include the following 
information: 

a. Time and date by which the bids must be received, and a place where 
the bids must be submitted. The District may receive bids by electronic 
means or direct or permit a bidder to submit bids by electronic means. 

b. Name and title of the person designated to receive bids and the contact 
person for the procurement, if different. 

c. Description of the procurement, which must: identify the scope of work, 
outline the contractor’s anticipated duties, set expectations for the 
contractor’s performance, and include all contractual terms and 
conditions applicable to the procurement. 

d. Time, date, and place for prequalification applications, if any, to be 
filed, and the classes of work, if any, for which bidders must be 
requalified under ORS 279B.120. 

e. All criteria to be used in evaluating the bids. 

f. Additional statements as required by ORS 279B.055. 

2. The invitation to bid may additionally include the following information: 

a. Criteria to determine minimum acceptability, such as inspection, testing, 
quality, and suitability for intended use or purpose. 

b. Criteria that will affect the bid price and that will be considered in 
evaluating for award, including but not limited to: discounts, 
transportation costs. Total costs of ownership or operation of a product 
over the life of the product must be objectively measurable if included. 

3. Bid security. The District may require bid security if the General Manager 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 15 

determines that bid security is reasonably necessary or prudent to protect the 
interests of the District. 

4. Public notice. A public notice may be provided in any manner deemed 
reasonably prudent considering the nature of the procurement. Public notice 
may be published on the District’s website, through an electronic 
procurement system, in a newspaper of general circulation in the area where 
the contract is to be performed, and/or in any other publications as the 
General Manager may determine. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for 
construction contracts over $125,000, the District shall publish at least once 
in a newspaper of general circulation in the area where the contract is to be 
performed, in addition to whatever other publications the General Manager 
may deem appropriate. 

5. Evaluation of bids. The District shall evaluate all bids received before the 
time and date indicated for bid opening. The District may not consider for 
award any bids received after the time and date indicated for bid opening. All 
applicable preferences shall be applied in evaluating the bids. Bids shall be 
evaluated on the requirements and criteria set forth in the invitation to bid. 
No criteria may be used in the evaluation that were not set forth in the 
invitation to bid. 

6. Notice of intent to award.  At least 7 calendar days before the award, the 
District shall provide written notice of its intent to award a contract to all 
bidders. If the General Manager determines that circumstances justify 
prompt execution of the contract, a shorter notice period may be established, 
provided that the specific reasons for the shorter notice period are 
documented in the procurement file.  

7. Finality.  The District’s award shall not be final until the later of either: the 
expiration of the protest period following the notice of intent to award 
pursuant to OAR 137-047-0740, or after the District provides written 
responses to all timely-filed protests denying the protests and affirming the 
award. 

E. Procedure for Competitive Sealed Proposals.  

1. The District shall solicit a request for proposals, which must include the 
following information: 

a. Time and date by which sealed proposals must be received, and a place 
where the proposals must be submitted. The District may receive 
proposals by electronic means or may direct or permit proposers to 
submit proposals by hard copy. 

b. Name and title of the person designated to receive proposals and the 
contact person for the procurement, if different. 

c. Description of the procurement, which must: identify the scope of work, 
outline the contractor’s anticipated duties, set expectations for the 
contractor’s performance, and include all contractual terms and 
conditions applicable to the procurement. 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 16 

d. Time, date, and place for prequalification applications, if any, to be 
filed, and the classes of work, if any, for which proposers must be 
requalified under ORS 279B.120. 

e. Description of the methods by which the District will make the results 
of each tier of competitive evaluation available to the proposers who 
competed in that tier. 

f. Description of the manner in which the proposers who are eliminated 
from further competition may protest the District’s decision. 

g. Additional statements as required by ORS 279B.055. 

2. The request for proposals may additionally include the following 
information: 

a. Contractual terms or conditions that the District reserves for negotiation 
with proposers. 

b. Request that proposers propose contractual terms and conditions that 
relate to the subject matter reasonably identified in the request for 
proposals. 

c. The form or content of the written contract that the District will accept. 

d. The method the District will use to select the contractor, which may 
include but is not limited to: negotiating with the highest ranked 
proposer, competitive negotiations, a multiple-tiered competition that is 
designed to identify a class of proposers that fall within a competitive 
range or to otherwise eliminate from consideration a class of lower 
ranked proposers. 

e. The manner in which the District will evaluate proposals, identifying the 
relative important of price and other factors the District will use to 
evaluate and rate the proposals in the first tier of competition. If the 
District uses more than one tier of competitive evaluation, the request 
for proposals must describe the process the District will use to evaluate 
proposals in the subsequent tiers. 

3. Proposer security. The District may require proposer security if the General 
Manager determines that proposer security is reasonably necessary or 
prudent to protect the interests of the District.  The form of security shall be 
as determined by the General Manager. 

4. Public notice. A public notice may be provided in any manner deemed 
reasonably prudent considering the nature of the procurement. Public notice 
may be published on the District’s website, through an electronic 
procurement system, in a newspaper of general circulation in the area where 
the contract is to be performed, and/or in any other publications as the 
General Manager may determine. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for 
construction contracts over $125,000, the District shall publish at least once 
in a newspaper of general circulation in the area where the contract is to be 
performed, in addition to whatever other publications the General Manager 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 17 

may deem appropriate. 

5. Evaluation of proposals. The District may select the contractor using the 
method provided for in the request for proposals, including but not limited 
to: an award based solely on the rankings of proposals; discussions leading to 
best and final offers; serial negotiations beginning with the highest ranked 
proposer; competitive simultaneous negotiations; multiple-tiered 
competitions; multi-step requests for proposals beginning with first unpriced 
submittals; or a combination of methods or any other authorized method. All 
applicable preferences shall be applied in evaluating proposals. If the District 
awards a contract, the District shall award the contract to the responsible 
proposer whose proposal the District determines in writing is the most 
advantageous to the District, based on the evaluation process and factors 
described in the request for proposals, applicable preferences, and the 
outcome of any negotiations where applicable. Other factors may not be used 
in the evaluation. 

6. Application of public records to proposals. The District may open proposals 
in a manner to avoid disclosing contents to competing proposers during the 
process of negotiation, when applicable; however, the District shall record 
and make available the identity of all proposers as part of the District’s 
public records after the proposals are opened. Proposals are not required to 
be open for public inspection until after the notice of intent to award is 
issued, even when opened at a public meeting. 

7. Notice of intent to award.  At least 7 calendar days before the award, the 
District shall provide written notice of its intent to award a contract to each 
proposer who was evaluated in the final competitive tier. If the General 
Manager determines that circumstances justify prompt execution of the 
contract, a shorter notice period may be established, provided that the 
specific reasons for the shorter notice period are documented in the 
procurement file.  

8. Finality.  The District’s award shall not be final until the later of either: the 
expiration of the protest period pursuant to OAR 137-047-0740, or as set 
forth in the notice of intent to award if different, or after the District provides 
written responses to all timely-filed protests denying the protests and 
affirming the award. 

F. Retroactive Approval. Retroactive approval of a contract means the award or 
execution of a contract where work was commenced without final award or 
execution. The General Manager may make a retroactive approval of a contract 
only if the responsible employee submits a copy of the proposed contract to the 
General Manager, along with a written request for contract retroactive approval, 
that contains: 

1. An explanation of the reason the work was commenced before the contract 
was awarded or executed; 

2. A description of steps being taken to prevent similar occurrences in the future; 

3. Evidence that, but for the failure to award or execute the contract, the 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 18 

employee complied with all other steps required to properly select a contractor 
and negotiate the contract; and 

4. A proposed form of contract. 
VI. Source Selection Methods for Goods or Services, Other Than Personal or 

Professional Services. 

A. Small Procurements. Contracts or purchases of goods or services with a 
contract price of $10,000 or less are small procurements. Small procurements 
are not subject to competitive bidding requirements and no public notice is 
required. 

1. For small procurements of goods or services, the General Manager may 
use any procurement method the General Manager deems practical or 
convenient, including direct negotiation or direct award. 

2. A small procurement contract awarded may be amended to exceed 
$10,000 only in accordance with OAR 137-047-0800, provided that the 
cumulative amendments do not increase the total contract price to more 
than twenty-five percent (25%) of the original contract price. 

B. Intermediate Procurements. Contracts for goods or services with a contract 
price greater than $10,000 and less than or equal to $150,000 are intermediate 
procurements. 

1. Intermediate procurements may be by informal written solicitation. 

2. Negotiations. The General Manager may negotiate with an offeror to 
clarify an informal written solicitation, or to make modifications that will 
make the quote, proposal, or solicitation acceptable or more advantageous 
to the District. 

3. Award. If a contract is awarded, the award shall be made to the offeror whose 
competitive quote or proposal or informal written solicitation the General 
Manager determines will best serve the interests of the District, taking into 
account:  

• Price 

• Experience and expertise 

• Product functionality and suitability for a particular purpose 

• Contractor responsibility under ORS 279B.110 standards 

• Any other relevant considerations 
4. An intermediate procurement contract may be amended to exceed $150,000 

only in accordance with OAR 137-047-0800, provided that the cumulative 
amendments do not increase the total contract price by more than twenty-
five percent (25%) of the original contract price. 

5. Public notice. Public notice is required for intermediate procurements with a 
contract price equal to or exceeding $50,000. 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 19 

C. Large Procurements. Contracts for goods or services with a contract price 
greater than $150,000 are large procurements. 

1. The General Manager may use competitive sealed bidding as set forth in 
ORS 279B.055 and these Rules, or competitive sealed proposals as set 
forth in ORS 279B.060 and these Rules. 

2. The District shall apply the applicable procedure set out in the AG Model 
Rules for processing protests of large procurements. 

 
VII. Personal Services Contracts. 

A. Classification of Services as Personal Services. In addition to the classes of 
personal services contracts identified in the definition of personal services 
contracts, the General Manager may classify additional specific types of services 
as personal services. In determining whether a service is a personal service, the 
General Manager shall consider: 

1. Whether the work requires specialized skills, knowledge, and resources in the 
application of technical or scientific expertise, or the exercise of professional, 
artistic, or management discretion or judgment; 

2. Whether the District intends to rely on the contractor’s specialized 
skills, knowledge, and expertise to accomplish the work; and 

3. Whether selecting a contractor primarily on the basis of qualifications, rather 
than price, would most likely meet the District’s needs and result in 
obtaining satisfactory contract performance and optimal value. 

4. A service shall not be classified as personal services for the purposes of these 
Rules if: 

a. The work has traditionally been performed by contractors selected 
primarily on the basis of price; or 

b. The services do not require specialized skills, knowledge, and resources in 
the application of highly technical or scientific expertise, or the exercise of 
professional, artistic, or management discretion or judgment. 

B. Requests for Qualifications. At the General Manager’s discretion, a request for 
qualifications may be used to determine whether competition exists to perform 
the needed personal services or to establish a non-binding list of qualified 
contractors for individual negotiation, informal written solicitations, or requests 
for proposals. 

1. A request for qualifications shall describe the particular type of personal 
services that will be sought, the qualifications the contractor must have to be 
considered, and the evaluation factors and their relative importance. 

2. A request for qualifications may require information including, but not 
limited to: 

a. The contractor's particular capability to perform the required personal 
services; 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 20 

b. The number of experienced personnel available to perform the required 
personal services; 

c. The specific qualifications and experience of personnel; 

d. A list of similar personal services the contractor has completed; 

e. References concerning past performance; and 

f. Any other information the General Manager deems 
necessary to evaluate the contractor’s qualifications. 

3. A voluntary or mandatory qualifications pre-submission meeting may be held 
for all interested contractors to discuss the proposed personal services. The 
request for qualifications shall include the date, time, and location of the 
meeting. 

4. Unless the responses to a request for qualifications establish that competition 
does not exist, the request for qualifications is canceled, or all responses to the 
request for qualifications are rejected, then all respondents who meet the 
qualifications set forth in the request for qualifications shall receive notice of 
any required personal services and have an opportunity to submit a proposal in 
response to request for proposals. 

C. Direct Appointment. Personal services may be procured through direct 
negotiations and award if: 

1. The estimated contract price does not exceed $100,000 and the 
work is within a budgetary appropriation or approved by the 
OLWSD Board; or 

2. The confidential personal services, including special counsel, or professional 
or expert witnesses or consultants, are necessary to assist with pending or 
threatened litigation or other legal matters in which the District may have an 
interest; or 

3. The nature of the personal service is not project-driven but requires an 
ongoing, long-term relationship of knowledge and trust. 

4. Amendments. Personal services contracts procured by direct negotiation 
pursuant to this section may be amended, provided the amendment is within 
the scope of the original contract and the cumulative amount of the 
amendments does not increase the total contract price by more than twenty- 
five percent (25%) over the original contract price; or the amendment is 
necessary to complete the work being performed and it would be unreasonable 
or impracticable to seek another provider within the time frames needed to 
complete the work. 

5. Public Notice. No public notice of personal services contracts procured by 
direct negotiations is required. 

D. Solicitations. Personal Services that do not qualify for direct appointment under 
subsection (C) may be procured through the same process the District is 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 21 

authorized to use for the procurement of professional services. 
 

VIII. Professional Services and Related Services 

A. Direct Appointment.  The District may enter into a contract directly with a 
consultant providing professional services without following the selection 
procedures set forth elsewhere in these Rules if: 

1. The District finds that an Emergency exists; or  

2. The Estimated Fee to be paid under the Contract does not exceed $100,000; 
or  

3. Where a project is being continued, as more particularly described below, and 
where the estimated fee will not exceed $250,000, the professional services to 
be performed under the contract meet the following requirements: 

a. The services consist of professional services that have been substantially 
described, planned or otherwise previously studied in an earlier contract 
with the same consultant and are rendered for the same project as the 
professional services rendered under the earlier contract; 

b. The estimated fee to be made under the Contract does not exceed 
$250,000; and 

c. The District used either a formal selection procedure at the time of 
original selection to select the consultant for the earlier contract; or 

4. Where a Project is being continued, as more particularly described below, and 
where the estimated fee is expected to exceed $250,000, the professional 
services to be performed under the contract meet the following requirements: 

a. The services consist of or are related to professional services that have 
been substantially described, planned or otherwise previously studied 
under an earlier contract with the same consultant and are rendered for the 
same project as the professional services rendered under the earlier 
contract; 

b. The District used a formal selection procedure applicable to selection of 
the consultant at the time of original selection to select the consultant for 
the earlier contract; and 

c. The District makes written findings that entering into a contract with the 
consultant, whether in the form of an amendment to an existing contract 
or a separate contract for the additional scope of services, will: 

i. Promote efficient use of public funds and resources and result in 
substantial cost savings to the District; and, 

ii. Protect the integrity of the public contracting process and the 
competitive nature of the procurement by not encouraging favoritism 
or substantially diminishing competition in the award of the contract. 

5. The District may select a consultant for a contract under this section of the 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 22 

Rules from the following sources: 

a. A list of consultants the District creates under OAR 137-048-0120 (List of 
Interested Consultants; Performance Record); 

b. Another contracting agency's list of consultants that the contracting 
agency has created under OAR 137-048-0120 (List of Interested 
Consultants; Performance Record), with written consent of that 
contracting agency; or 

c. All consultants offering the required professional services that the District 
reasonably can identify under the circumstances. 

6. The District shall direct negotiations with a consultant selected under this 
section of the Rules toward obtaining written agreement on: 

a. The consultant's performance obligations and performance schedule; 

b. Payment methodology and a maximum amount payable to the consultant 
for the professional services required under the contract that is fair and 
reasonable to the District as determined solely by the District, taking into 
account the value, scope, complexity and nature of the professional 
services; and 

c. Any other provisions the District believes to be in the District’s best 
interest to negotiate. 

B. Informal Solicitations. An informal written solicitation process may be used for 
professional services when the contract price is less than $250,000. 

1. The District may use the informal selection procedure on the basis of 
qualifications alone, or, for related services, on the basis of price and 
qualifications, if the District: 

a. Creates a request for proposals that includes at a minimum the following: 

i. A description of the project for which a consultant's professional 
services or related services are needed and a description of the 
professional services or related services that will be required under 
the resulting contract; 

ii. The anticipated contract performance schedule; 

iii. Conditions or limitations, if any, that may constrain or prohibit the 
selected consultant's ability to provide additional services related to 
the project, including construction services; 

iv. The date and time proposals are due and other directions for 
submitting proposals; 

v. Criteria upon which the most qualified consultant will be selected. 
Selection criteria may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• The amount and type of resources and number of 
experienced staff the consultant has committed to perform 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 23 

the professional services or related services described in 
the request for proposals within the applicable time limits, 
including the current and projected workloads of such staff 
and the proportion of time such staff would have available 
for the professional services or related services; 

• Proposed management techniques for the professional 
services or related services described in the request for 
proposals; 

• A consultant's capability, experience and past performance 
history and record in providing similar professional 
services or related services, including but not limited to 
quality of work, ability to meet schedules, cost control 
methods and contract administration practices; 

• A consultant's approach to professional services or related 
services described in the request for proposals and design 
philosophy, if applicable; 

• A Consultant's geographic proximity to and familiarity 
with the physical location of the project; 

• Volume of work, if any, previously awarded to a 
consultant, with the objective of effecting equitable 
distribution of contracts among qualified consultants, 
provided such distribution does not violate the principle of 
selecting the most qualified consultant for the type of 
professional services required; 

• A consultant's ownership status and employment practices 
regarding women, minorities, service-disabled veterans, 
emerging small businesses, or historically underutilized 
businesses; 

• If the District is selecting a consultant to provide related 
services, pricing policies and pricing proposals or other 
pricing information, including the number of hours 
proposed for the services required, expenses, hourly rates 
and overhead. 

vi. A statement that proposers do so solely at their expense, and District 
is not responsible for any proposer expenses associated with the 
request for proposals; 

vii. A statement directing proposers to the applicable protest procedures; 
and 

viii. A sample form of the contract. 

b. Provides a request for proposals to a minimum of five (5) prospective 
consultants. If fewer than five (5) prospective consultants are available, 
the District shall provide the request for proposals to all available 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 24 

prospective consultants and shall maintain a written record of the 
District’s efforts to locate available prospective consultants for the request 
for proposals. The District shall draw prospective consultants from: 

i. The District’s list of consultants that is created and maintained under 
OAR 137-048-0120 (List of Interested Consultants; Performance 
Record); 

ii. Another contracting agency's list of consultants that is created and 
maintained under OAR 137-048-0120 (List of Interested Consultants; 
Performance Record); or 

iii. All consultants that the District reasonably can locate that offer the 
desired professional services or related services, or any combination 
of the foregoing. 

c. Reviews and ranks all proposals received according to the criteria set 
forth in the request for proposals, and select the three highest ranked 
proposers. 

2. The District may use the informal selection procedure for related services on 
the basis of price proposals and other pricing information alone if the District: 

a. Creates a request for proposals that includes at a minimum the following: 

i. A description of the project for which a consultant's Related services 
are needed and a description of the related services that will be 
required under the resulting contract; 

ii. The anticipated contract performance schedule; 

iii. Conditions or limitations, if any, that may constrain or prohibit the 
selected consultant's ability to provide additional services related to 
the project, including construction services; 

iv. The date and time proposals are due and other directions for 
submitting proposals; 

v. Any minimum or pass-fail qualifications that the proposers must 
meet, including but not limited to any such qualifications in the 
subject matter areas described in these Rules applicable to a request 
for proposals for professional services that are related to the related 
services described in the request for proposals; 

vi. Pricing criteria upon which the highest ranked consultant will be 
selected. pricing criteria may include, but are not limited to, the total 
price for the related services described in the request for proposals, 
consultant pricing policies and other pricing information such as the 
consultant’s estimated number of staff hours needed to perform the 
related services described in the request for proposals, expenses, 
hourly rates and overhead; 

vii. A statement directing proposers to the applicable protest procedures; 
and 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 25 

viii. A sample form of the Contract. 

b. Provides the request for proposals to a minimum of five (5) prospective 
consultants. If fewer than five (5) prospective consultants are available, 
the District shall provide the request for proposals to all available 
prospective consultants and shall maintain a written record of the 
District’s efforts to locate available prospective consultants for the request 
for proposals. The District shall draw prospective Consultants from 
sources similar to the sources authorized for requests for proposals for 
professional services 

c. Reviews and ranks all responsive proposals received, according to the 
total price for the related services described in the request for proposals, 
consultant pricing policies and other pricing information requested in the 
request for proposals, including but not limited to the number of hours 
proposed for the related services required, expenses, hourly rates and 
overhead, and select the three highest-ranked proposers. 

3. When the estimated fee in an informal selection procedure is expected not to 
exceed $150,000, the District is only required to provide the request for 
proposals to three (3) prospective consultants. If fewer than three (3) 
prospective consultants are available, the District shall provide the request for 
proposals to all available prospective consultants and shall maintain a written 
record of the District’s efforts to locate available prospective consultants for 
the request for proposals. 

4. If the District does not cancel a request for proposals after it reviews the 
proposals and ranks each proposer, the District will begin negotiating a 
contract with the highest ranked proposer. The District shall direct contract 
negotiations toward obtaining written agreement on the following: 

a. The consultant's performance obligations and performance schedule; 

b. Payment methodology and a maximum amount payable to the consultant 
for the professional services or related services required under the 
contract that is fair and reasonable to the District as determined solely by 
the District, taking into account the value, scope, complexity and nature 
of the professional service and related services; and 

c. Any other provisions the District believes to be in the District's best 
interest to negotiate. 

5. The District shall, either orally or in writing, formally terminate negotiations 
with the highest ranked proposer, if the District and the proposer are unable 
for any reason to reach agreement on a contract within a reasonable amount 
of time. The District may thereafter negotiate with the second ranked 
proposer, and if necessary, with the third ranked proposer, in accordance with 
this section of the Rules, until negotiations result in a contract. If negotiations 
with any of the top three proposers do not result in a contract within a 
reasonable amount of time, the District may end the particular informal 
solicitation and thereafter may proceed with a new informal solicitation under 
this section or proceed with a formal solicitation. 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 26 

6. The District shall terminate the informal selection procedure and proceed 
with the formal selection procedure if the scope of the anticipated contract is 
revised during negotiations so that the estimated fee will exceed $250,000. 

C. Formal Selection Procedure.  For contracts with consultants providing 
professional services that do not qualify for direct appointment or the informal 
selection procedure, the District shall enter into the contract through the formal 
selection procedure set forth in OAR 137-048-0220. 

 
IX. Public Improvements.   

 
The District shall follow the procedures set forth in the Public Contracting Code for all 
contracts relating to construction services for the development of a public improvement. 
 

X. Alternative Source Selection Methods for Goods or Services & Personal 
Services. 

A. Sole-Source Procurements. A contract may be awarded as a sole-source 
procurement without competition pursuant to this section. 

1. Determination of Sole Source. Before a sole-source contract may be awarded, 
the General Manager shall make written findings that the goods or services, 
personal services, or professional services are available from only one source, 
based on one or more of the following criteria: 

a. The efficient use of existing goods or services, personal services, or 
professional services requires the acquisition of compatible goods or 
services, personal services, or professional services that are available 
from only one source; 

b. The goods or services, personal services, or professional services are 
available from only one source and required for the exchange of software 
or data with other public or private agencies; 

c. The goods or services, personal services, or professional services are 
available from only one source, and are needed for use in a pilot or an 
experimental project; or 

d. Other facts or circumstances exist that support the conclusion that the 
goods or services, personal services, or professional services are 
available from only one source. 

2. Negotiations. To the extent reasonably practical, contract terms advantageous 
to the District shall be negotiated with the sole source provider. 

 
3. Notice. The General Manager shall post notice of any determination that the 
sole source selection method will be used on the District’s website not less than 
seven (7) days prior to the date a sole source contract will be awarded. The notice 
shall describe the goods or services, personal services, or professional services to 
be procured, identify the prospective contractor and include the date and time 
when, and place where, protests of the use of a sole source selection method must 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 27 

be filed. 

B. Special Procurements. In its capacity as the local contract review board for the 
District, the OLWSD Board, upon its own initiative or upon request of the 
General Manager, may create special selection, evaluation, and award 
procedures for, or may exempt from competition, the award of a specific 
contract or class of contracts as provided in this section. 

1. Basis for Approval. The approval of a special solicitation method or 
exemption from competition must be based upon a record before the 
OLWSD Board that contains the following: 

 
a. The nature of the contract or class of contracts for which the special 

solicitation or exemption is requested; 

b. The estimated contract price or cost of the project, if relevant; 

c. Findings to support the substantial cost savings, enhancement in quality 
or performance, or other public benefit anticipated by the proposed 
selection method or exemption from competitive solicitation; 

d. Findings to support the reason that approval of the request would be 
unlikely to encourage favoritism or diminish competition for the public 
contract or class of public contracts, or would otherwise substantially 
promote the public interest in a manner that could not practicably be 
realized by complying with the solicitation requirements that would 
otherwise be applicable under these regulations; 

e. A description of the proposed alternative contracting methods to be 
employed; and 

2. In making a determination regarding a special selection method, the 
OLWSD Board may consider the type, cost, amount of the contract or class 
of contracts, number of persons available to make offers, and such other 
factors as it may deem appropriate. 

3. Hearing. The District shall approve the special solicitation or exemption 
after a public hearing before the OLWSD Board. 

a. At the public hearing, the District shall offer an opportunity for 
any interested party to appear and present comment. 

b. The OLWSD Board shall consider the findings and may approve the 
exemption as proposed or as modified by the OLWSD Board after 
providing an opportunity for public comment. 

C. Contracts. Subject to award at the General Manager’s discretion. The 
following classes of contracts may be awarded in any manner that the General 
Manager deems appropriate to the District’s needs, including by direct 
appointment or purchase. Except where otherwise provided, the General 
Manager shall make a record of the method of award. 

1. Amendments. Contract amendments shall not be considered to be separate 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 28 

contracts if made in accordance with these Rules. 

2. Copyrighted Materials; Library Materials. Contracts for the acquisition of 
materials entitled to copyright, including but not limited to, works of art and 
design, literature and music, or materials even if not entitled to copyright, 
purchased for use as library lending materials. 

3. Equipment Repair. Contracts for equipment repair or overhauling, provided 
the service or parts required are unknown and the cost cannot be determined 
without extensive preliminary dismantling or testing. 

4. Government-Regulated Items. Contracts for the purchase of items for which 
prices or selection of suppliers are regulated by a governmental authority. 

5. Non-Owned Property. Contracts or arrangements for the sale or other 
disposal of abandoned property or other personal property not owned by the 
District. 

6. Specialty Goods for Resale. Contracts for the purchase of specialty goods by 
the District for resale to consumers. 

7. Sponsorship Agreements. Sponsorship agreements, under which the 
District receives a gift or donation in exchange for recognition of the 
donor. 

8. Renewals. Contracts that are being renewed in accordance with their terms 
are not considered to be newly issued contracts and are not subject to 
competitive procurement procedures. 

9. Temporary Extensions or Renewals. Contracts for a single period of one (1) 
year or less, for the temporary extension or renewal of an expiring and non- 
renewable, or recently expired, contract, other than a contract for public 
improvements. 

10. Temporary Use of District-Owned Property. The District may negotiate and 
enter into a license, permit or other contract for the temporary use of 
District-owned property without using a competitive selection process if: 

a. The contract results from an unsolicited proposal to the District based 
on the unique attributes of the property or the unique needs of the 
proposer; 

b. The proposed use of the property is consistent with the District’s use 
of the property and the public interest; and 

c. The District reserves the right to terminate the contract without penalty, 
in the event that the District determines that the contract is no longer 
consistent with the District’s present or planned use of the property or 
the public interest. 

11. Used Property. The General Manager may contract for the purchase of used 
property by negotiation if such property is suitable for the District’s needs and 
can be purchased for a lower cost than substantially similar new property. 
a. For this purpose, the cost of used property shall be based 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 29 

upon the life- cycle cost of the property over the period for which the 
property will be used by the District. 

b. The General Manager shall record the findings that support the purchase. 

12. Utilities. Contracts for the purchase of steam, power, heat, water, 
telecommunications services, and other utilities. 

13. Conference/Meeting Room Contracts. Contracts entered into for meeting 
room rental, hotel rooms, food and beverage, and incidental costs related to 
conferences and District-sponsored workshops and trainings. 

D. Emergency Procurements. When the General Manager determines that 
immediate execution of a contract within the General Manager’s authority is 
necessary to prevent substantial damage or injury to persons or property, the 
General Manager may execute the contract without competitive selection and 
award or OLWSD Board approval, but, where time permits, competitive quotes 
should be sought from at least three (3) providers. 

1. When the General Manager enters into an emergency contract, the General 
Manager shall, as soon as possible in light of the emergency circumstances, 
document the nature of the emergency, the method used for selection of the 
particular contractor, and the reason why the selection method was deemed 
in the best interest of the District and the public. 

2. The General Manager shall also notify the OLWSD Board of the 
facts and circumstances surrounding the emergency execution of 
the contract. 

E. Cooperative Procurement Contracts. Cooperative procurements may be made 
without competitive solicitation as provided in the Public Contracting Code. 

 
 

XI. Protest and Appeal Procedures. 

A. Protests and Judicial Review of Special Procurements. An affected person 
may protest the request for approval of a special procurement as provided in this 
section. 

1. Delivery; Late Protests. An affected person shall deliver a written protest to 
the General Manager within seven (7) days after the first date of public notice 
of a proposed special procurement, unless a different period is provided in the 
public notice. The protest period begins on the date the first notice was 
published in any form. 
a. The written protest shall include a fee in an amount established in a 

schedule adopted by the General Manager to cover the costs of 
processing the protest. 

b. A protest submitted after the timeframe established under this subsection 
is untimely and shall not be considered. 

2. Content of Protest.  The written protest shall include: 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 30 

a. Identification of the requested special procurement; 

b. A detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds for the protest; 

c. Evidence or documentation supporting the grounds on which the protest is 
based; 

d. A description of the resulting harm to the affected person; and 

e. The relief requested. 

3. Additional Information. The General Manager may allow any person to 
respond to the protest in any manner the General Manager deems 
appropriate, by giving such persons written notice of the time and manner 
whereby any response shall be delivered. 

4. District Response. The General Manager shall issue a written 
disposition of the protest in a timely manner. 

a. If the General Manager upholds the protest, in whole or in part, the 
General Manager may, in the General Manager’s sole discretion, 
implement the protest in the approval of the special procurement, deny 
the request for approval of the special procurement, or revoke any 
approval of the special procurement. 

b. If the General Manager upholds the protest, in whole or in part, the 
District shall refund the fee required to be delivered with the protest. 

5. Judicial Review. An affected person may not seek judicial review of a denial 
of a request for a special procurement. 

a. Before seeking judicial review of the approval of a special procurement, 
an affected person shall exhaust all administrative remedies. 

b. Judicial review shall be in accordance with ORS 279B.400. 

B. Protests and Judicial Review of Sole-Source Procurements. An affected 
person may protest the determination that goods or services or a class of goods or 
services are available from only one source as provided in this section. 

1. Delivery; Late Protests. An affected person shall deliver a written protest to 
the General Manager within seven (7) days after the first date of public notice 
of a proposed sole source procurement is placed on the District’s website, 
unless a different period is provided in the public notice. 
a. The written protest shall include a fee in an amount established in a 

schedule adopted by the General Manager to cover the costs of 
processing the protest. 

b. A protest submitted after the timeframe established under this subsection 
is untimely and shall not be considered. 

2. Content of Protest.  The written protest shall include: 

a. A detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds for the protest; 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 31 

b. Evidence or documentation supporting the grounds on which the protest is 
based; 

c. A description of the resulting harm to the affected person; and 

d. The relief requested. 

3. Additional Information.  The General Manager may allow any person to 
respond to the protest in any manner the General Manager deems appropriate 
by giving such person written notice of the time and manner whereby any 
response shall be delivered. 

4. General Manager Response. The General Manager shall issue a written 
disposition of the protest in a timely manner. 

a. If the General Manager upholds the protest, in whole or in part, the 
proposed sole-source contract shall not be awarded. 

b. If the General Manager upholds the protest, in whole or in part, the 
District shall refund the fee required to be delivered with the protest. 

5. Judicial Review. An affected person may not seek judicial review of an 
election not to make a sole-source procurement. 

a. Before seeking judicial review of the approval of a sole-source 
procurement, an affected person shall exhaust all administrative remedies. 

b. Judicial review shall be in accordance with ORS 279B.400. 

C. Protests and Judicial Review of Personal Services Procurements. An affected 
person may protest the procurement of a personal services contract as provided in 
this section. 

1. Delivery. Unless otherwise specified in the solicitation document, the protest 
shall be in writing and delivered to the General Manager. 

a. The written protest shall include a fee in an amount established in a 
schedule adopted by the General Manager to cover the costs of 
processing the protest. 

b. Protests of the procurement of a specific contract as a personal services 
contract shall be made prior to closing. 

c. Protests to the award or an intent to award a personal services contract 
shall be made within seven (7) days after issuance of the intent to award, 
or if no notice of intent to award is given, within forty-eight (48) hours 
after award. 

d. Protests submitted after the timeframe established under this subsection 
are untimely and shall not be considered. 

2. Contents of Protest.  The written protest shall: 

a. Specify all legal or factual grounds for the protest as follows: 

 



OLWSD Contracting & Purchasing Rules  

 

 
  Page | 32 

i. A person may protest the solicitation on the grounds that the contract 
is not a personal services contract or was otherwise in violation of 
these Rules or applicable law. The protest shall identify the specific 
provision of these Rules or applicable law that was violated. 

ii. A person may protest award or intent to award for the reason that: 

• All proposals ranked higher than the affected persons are 
nonresponsive; 

• The District failed to conduct the evaluation of proposals 
in accordance with the criteria or processes described in 
the solicitation document; 

• The District abused its discretion in rejecting the affected 
person’s proposal as nonresponsive; or 

• The evaluation of proposals or the subsequent determination of 
award is otherwise in violation of these Rules or applicable law. 

iii. The protest shall identify the specific provision of these Rules or 
applicable law that was violated by the District’s evaluation or 
award; 

b. Include evidence or supporting documentation that supports the grounds 
on which the protest is based; 

c. A description of the resulting harm to the affected person; and 

d. The relief requested. 

3. Additional Information.  The General Manager may allow any person to 
respond to the protest in any manner the General Manager deems appropriate 
by giving such person written notice of the time and manner whereby any 
response shall be delivered. 

4. General Manager Response. The General Manager shall issue a written 
disposition of the protest in a timely manner. 

a. If the General Manager upholds the protest, in whole or in part, the 
proposed personal services contract procurement shall be cancelled, or 
the contract shall not be awarded, as the case may be. 

b. If the General Manager upholds the protest, in whole or in part, the 
District shall refund the fee required to be delivered with the protest. 

5. Judicial Review. Before seeking judicial review, an affected person shall 
exhaust all administrative remedies. Judicial review shall be in accordance 
with ORS 279B.420. 

D. Protests of Cooperative Procurements. Protests of the cooperative procurement 
process, contents of a solicitation document, or award may be filed with the 
District only if the District is the administering agency and under the applicable 
procedure described herein. 



  

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
To:   Board of Directors 
From:   Kelly Stacey, Finance Director    
Agenda Item:  Resolution No. 18-11 Closure of Oak Lodge Water Flex 
   Spending Account at Clackamas Federal Credit Union  
Item No.:    9 
Date:   October 16, 2018    

 
 
Background 
 
The former Oak Lodge Water District self-managed their employee flex 
spending account.  When the program was set up in the early 2000s a bank 
account was also set up at Clackamas Federal Credit Union to deposit the 
monies.   
 
Beginning July 1, 2018 Oak Lodge Water Services District contracted with an 
outside company to manage their employee flex spending account.  Because of 
this the account at Clackamas Federal Credit Union is no longer needed. 
 
Overview 
 
Clackamas Federal Credit Union has been contacted and to close the account 
they need a Resolution of the Board of Directors granting authority to close the 
account and a signed copy of the Board Minutes. 
 
The attached Resolution authorizes Kelly Stacey, the Finance Director, to close 
the account.  It also requires the money be promptly deposited into the Oak 
Water Services Wells Fargo Checking account. 
 
Suggested Board Motion 
 
“I move to approve Resolution No. 18-11 authorizing Kelly Stacey, the Finance 
Director, to close the Clackamas Federal Credit Union and promptly deposit the 
funds into the OLWS Wells Fargo Checking account.” 
 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution No. 18-11 
 
 



 
BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF 
OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES DISTRICT 

 
 
 

In the Matter of Closing the Clackamas 
Federal Credit Union account 
XXXXXX7861 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 18-11 

 
 

THIS MATTER came before the Board of Directors of Oak Lodge Water Services 
District, a sanitary and water district organized under Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) Chapter 
450 and Chapter 264, regarding closing the Clackamas Federal Credit Union Account. 

 

WHEREAS, 
 
 

WHEREAS, 
 
 

WHEREAS, 
 
 

WHEREAS, 
 
 

Be it  Resolved, 

the District has funds in Clackamas Federal Credit Union from the former 
Oak Lodge Water District. 

 
the Clackamas Federal Credit Union account was set up for the 
District to self-manage the employee’s flex spending account. 

 
the District has opted to have an outside company manage the 
employee’s flex spending account beginning July 1, 2018 therefore the 
Clackamas Federal Credit Union account is no longer needed. 

 
· Clackamas Federal Credit Union requires a resolution by the Board of 
Directors to close the account. 

·  
· that the Board of Directors of Oak Lodge Water Services District 
hereby authorize Kelly Stacey, the Finance Director, to close the 
account at Clackamas Federal Credit Union. 

    Be it 
Further Resolved, that the money from Clackamas Federal Credit Union be promptly deposited 
 into the District’s Wells Fargo checking account. 

 

ADOPTED this 16th day of October 2018. 
 

OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES 
DISTRICT 

 
 
       By: 
       ________________________________________ 
        Nancy Gibson, Board President 
        
 
       By:  
       ________________________________________ 
        Susan Keil, Secretary



 
STAFF REPORT 

 
To:   Board of Directors 
From:   Kelly Stacey, Finance Director    
Agenda Item:  Finance Department Report   
Item No.:    10a 
Date:   October 16, 2018    

 
 
Below is an update of various efforts of the Finance/Administration department:
    
Yearend 
 
We were able to complete the Springbrook Fixed Asset module implementation 
for OLWS in time to compute depreciation for the 2018 financial audit.  Audit 
items continued to be the focus for September. We are on tract to finish 
everything before the auditors arrive in a few weeks to complete their fieldwork 
for this year’s audit.   We are looking forward to the audit being complete, so we 
can move on to budget. 
 
Other Items: 
 
We are still finishing up the conversion to Springbrook for the NCCWC and the 
CRWP, with the payroll go-live coming at the end of October. This has been 
mostly a do-it-yourself project, but much less time consuming than OLWS.  I 
completed my analysis of the FCS report.  Researching this report has been 
educating in a very positive way.  I hope by taking the extra time to put this 
together, that the Board will be confident that a thorough analysis was 
accomplished. 
 
Budget is beginning to occupy our thoughts and calendars.  The forecast we 
are putting together will help with the budgeting process.  Stay tuned for the 
budget process to start soon.   
 
At the request of the administration team, we have union approval to extended 
Matt Parla until the end of December to help with cleanup of the Utility Billing 
module. The transition has presented a number of unforeseen challenges. As 
the six-month mark for joint billing approaches, additional staff time are 
important for timely completion of:  
 

• Review of delinquent accounts for collections. Requires review of 
data from all three software to ensure the data is submitted to collections 
and removing balances from any accounts sent to collections.  



  

• Review of payment plan accounts. This issue prevents some 
delinquent accounts from receiving shut-off notices. All payment plans 
need to be reviewed and corrected.  

• Account review and verification. Continue to correct and update 
account information, including flagging wastewater services, reviewing 
winter averages, confirming credits imported correctly to customer 
accounts.  

• Oregon Unclaimed Property funds. Part of the data clean up in Incode 
prior to the software transition. Credits removed from over 600 closed 
accounts need to be verified and sent to the State of Oregon’s unclaimed 
property division.  

• Support on day-to-day customer service tasks. Will permit billing to 
process backlogged tasks including:  

o Reviewing SDCs from the past six months and confirming all new 
services are correctly billed.  

o Review of sanitary sewer rates on multi-family residences and 
splitting up rates across multiple accounts as needed.  

o New meter transitioning. Involves massive amounts of data entry 
within a sensitive time-frame.  

 
Brad Rafish, from PlanB Consultancy, complete his interviews with employees 
and is work on the Risk Assessment report to come soon.  This will be a great 
help in pointing out gaps in our processes and systems organization wide as we 
put together procedures to implement the policies which we will be bringing to 
the Board over the next several months.   
 
Policy work is continuing.  We will bring more to you in the coming months.  As 
the policies are approved, I will work to put into place practices and procedures 
to meet the requirements of the policies.   
 
I will be on vacation from November 1 through November 9.  Upon my return 
we will be diving into the budget season.   
 
 



   
 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

 
To:   Board of Directors     
From:   Todd Knapp, Operations Manager Field  
Agenda Item: Field Operations Report  
Item No.:  10b 
Date:   October 16, 2018    

 

Background 
The Board has requested updates at the Regular Meetings of the Board on the status of 
the District’s Operations. 

Operations Administration 

This past month in September I attended a Lucity conference, in which I learned a lot of 
what Lucity is capable of doing.  Upon my return, I was able to create the next 
preventive maintenance work orders for basin “A” and graphically show the lines and 
their progress.    
 
This month I am including a picture and a table that shows the next basin the crew is 
currently working on, it is basin “A”, it contains 41,705 feet and runs along the 
Willamette river. As with the other basins that run along the river, it contains a lot of 
easement work and with the purchase of our new easement machine, it should make 
the work easier to accomplish.  
 



Operations Report 
September 18th, 2018 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 

 
 
The water side, crews were busy with the normal day to day operations, the View Acres 
main electrical power supply pole, from PGE has been fully rebuilt and restored. 
 
 
 
Field Operations Monthly Report for September 2018 
 
Highlights for the month: 
 

• Meters replaced, new services added, and leaks repaired (See chart) 
• Map of the next collections system basin 
• Water consumption for September: 112,001,000 Gallons (Below the 10-year average 

of 114,949,700) (See metered monthly consumption chart) 

Basin Feet 
B 96,499.52 

2A 95,671.72 
C 81,391.69 
A 41,705.56 

2B 37,225.82 
2C 31,439.54 
F 24,742.12 
D 24,077.82 
2E 19,956.61 
E 18,536.75 

2D 10,760.04 
G 8,324.33 
2F 8,115.89 

Other 24,945 

 523,392 



To Date Monthly Year 1 5 Year
Month Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Totals % % %

TV Inspection 2,512 11,906 13,532 8,961 4,566 4,987 5,092 1,548 1,942 9,212 7,875 6,239 78,372 71.52% 74.87% 14.97%
Hydrocleaning 6,967 8,539 13,085 10,206 4,472 2,328 4,723 513 4,906 8,953 8,638 5,367 78,697 61.53% 75.18% 15.04%
Target Goal 8,723 8,723 8,723 8,723 8,723 8,723 8,723 8,723 8,723 8,723 8,723 8,723 104,677 100.00% 100.00% 20.00%
Grease Line 3,625 5,105 3,276 3,625 10,227 3,859 3,625 4,757 3,625 3,276 11,061 4,225 60,286

To Date Monthly Year 2 5 Year
Month Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Totals % % %

TV Inspection 4,308 10,281 10,488 25,077 94.31% 23.96% 19.77%
Hydrocleaning 3,619 9,456 6,197 19,272 86.74% 18.41% 18.72%
Target Goal 10,902 10,902 10,902 32,706 100.00% 25.00% 26.25%
Grease Line 3,276 4,757 3,625 11,658

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
Total Feet 523,392 523,392 523,392 523,392 523,392
Target Per Year 104,678 104,678
Target Per Month 8,723 8,723
Make up 26,142

YEARLY PROGRESS

FY 2017-2018

FY 2018-2019

Oak Lodge Water Services Collections Report

42%

39%

19%

Current Month
TV Inspection Hydrocleaning Grease Line

JUL-18 AUG-18 SEP-18 OCT-18 NOV-18 DEC-18 JAN-19 FEB-19 MAR-19 APR-19 MAY-19 JUN-19

TV Inspection Hydrocleaning Target Goal

130,821

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 120,000 140,000

2018-2019  

2018-2019 Yearly Progress (Year 2)

TV Inspection

Hydrocleaning

Target Goal

523,392
97,969
103,449

0 100,000 200,000 300,000 400,000 500,000 600,000

5 YEAR PLAN

5 Year Plan Progress

TV Inspection

Hydrocleaning

Target Goal

HydrocleaningTV Inspections Current Target



 Fiscal Year 
2018 - 2019 Month

Meters 
Replaced

New 
Services

Iron Services 
Renewed

Plastic Services 
Renewed

Service Leaks 
Repaired

Main Leaks 
Repaired

2019 June
2019 May
2019 Apr
2019 Mar
2019 Feb
2019 Jan
2018 Dec
2018 Nov
2018 Oct
2018 Sep 25 4 3
2018 Aug 90 4 2
2018 July 19 4 1

134 12 0 5 0 1

Oak Lodge Water Services Water Report

Yearly Total

25

90

19

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

JUNE

MAY

APR

MAR

FEB

JAN

DEC

NOV

OCT

SEP

AUG

JULY

20
18

 -
20

19

REPLACED METER CHART 2018 - 2019 

Meters Replaced

1

3

2

444

JUNEMAYAPRMARFEBJANDECNOVOCTSEPAUGJULY

AC
TI

VI
TY

MONTH

SERVICE and MAIN ACTIVITY 2018 - 2019



Total Average 10 Year
January February March April May June July August September October November December Yearly Con Daily Demand % Ave

2003 82,674,600 88,370,400 72,820,000 82,357,000 82,416,000 128,520,000 170,652,000 172,726,000 127,198,000 94,416,000 85,037,000 83,285,000 1,270,472,000 3.48
2004 91,933,000 89,441,000 86,755,000 97,665,000 111,392,000 130,863,000 172,883,000 172,499,000 110,696,000 95,973,000 90,079,000 86,823,000 1,337,002,000 3.66
2005 84,976,000 79,415,000 74,996,000 80,616,000 79,088,000 92,885,000 120,871,000 168,248,000 125,172,000 87,512,000 83,230,500 80,773,500 1,157,783,000 3.17
2006 83,697,000 84,098,667 75,580,333 83,028,000 99,436,000 107,501,000 166,449,000 164,957,000 132,989,000 100,180,000 85,350,000 81,587,000 1,264,853,000 3.47
2007 85,179,000 83,766,000 75,622,455 82,508,545 90,129,000 124,696,000 149,207,000 161,512,000 147,980,000 96,159,000 83,445,000 81,921,000 1,262,125,000 3.46
2008 85,466,000 82,200,000 73,405,000 77,221,722 83,162,278 94,885,000 149,422,000 144,592,000 114,830,000 84,307,000 79,094,000 79,319,000 1,147,904,000 3.14 104.63%
2009 82,042,000 75,196,000 67,364,000 76,238,000 79,968,000 111,127,286 151,804,000 155,069,000 117,099,000 83,457,000 77,782,000 79,107,000 1,156,253,286 3.17 105.39%
2010 77,735,000 75,975,000 67,986,000 75,943,000 76,903,000 76,720,000 125,996,000 151,590,000 105,880,000 81,052,000 80,389,000 77,515,000 1,073,684,000 2.94 97.87%
2011 78,266,000 74,983,000 67,462,000 73,285,000 71,613,000 81,189,000 104,328,000 130,684,000 125,733,000 74,646,000 72,657,000 70,555,000 1,025,401,000 2.81 93.47%
2012 73,041,000 70,104,000 65,501,000 70,380,000 75,148,000 83,256,000 108,236,000 142,023,000 121,981,000 90,545,000 73,672,000 72,454,000 1,046,341,000 2.87 95.38%
2013 73,277,000 72,051,000 63,866,000 71,906,000 86,085,000 101,278,000 132,837,000 144,354,000 103,403,000 75,217,000 72,624,000 73,180,000 1,070,078,000 2.93 97.54%
2014 72,052,000 74,566,000 63,886,000 72,171,000 77,889,000 97,978,000 120,411,000 135,271,000 120,008,000 78,257,000 69,534,000 66,200,143 1,048,223,143 2.87 95.55%
2015 70,840,857 70,318,000 63,972,000 71,515,000 77,173,000 121,185,000 151,728,000 139,696,000 105,238,000 92,781,000 83,966,000 85,368,000 1,133,780,857 3.11 103.35%
2016 93,522,000 82,637,000 76,044,000 86,443,000 90,989,000 114,745,667 128,722,333 144,599,000 113,212,000 77,196,000 72,766,000 72,839,000 1,153,715,000 3.16 105.16%
2017 80,205,000 75,867,000 68,040,000 73,822,000 74,515,000 101,310,000 136,262,000 154,085,000 122,113,000 79,860,000 75,718,000 73,584,000 1,115,381,000 3.06 101.67%
2018 74,389,000 73,219,000 66,754,000 74,713,000 87,263,000 115,543,000 136,887,000 158,433,000 112,001,000
2019
2020

10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year Average 10 Year ADD Winter Ave
78,644,686 74,491,600 67,087,500 74,641,600 79,754,600 100,433,195 129,721,133 145,580,400 114,949,700 81,731,800 75,820,200 75,012,114 3.01 76,049,467

Summer Ave
130,083,744

MonthYear

0

20,000,000

40,000,000

60,000,000

80,000,000

100,000,000

120,000,000

140,000,000

160,000,000

180,000,000

Ja
nu

ar
y

Fe
br

ua
ry

M
ar

ch

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne Ju
ly

Au
gu

st

Se
pt

em
be

r

O
ct

ob
er

N
ov

em
be

r

De
ce

m
be

r

OLWSD'S Metered Monthly Consumption 2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018



   
 

 
 

 Staff Report 
 

 
To:   Board of Directors     
From:   David Mendenhall, Plant Superintendent    
Agenda Item: Plant Operations 
Item No.:  10c 
Date:   October 16, 2018    

Background: 
The Board has requested updates at the Regular Meetings of the Board on the status of 
the District’s Operations. 

Water Reclamation Facility Operations  

September was really “dial it in” month.  Only small adjustments were needed to 
maintain a very steady operation of the treatment plant.  The average sludge age for the 
month was 9.5 days and by all indications that is the range we want to stay in. Effluent 
turbidity and test results were very consistently good all month.  I mentioned last month 
that we wanted to have some blankets in the clarifiers, so we lowered the return rate.  
That was successful, and we got some good dense blankets.  We are now gradually 
increasing the return rate to thin the solids out a bit in the blanket.  As the season 
changes and temperatures go down the activated sludge nitrification will slow down and 
too much time for solids in the clarifier would not be good.  

Operations continued to work on calculations and in particular David Hawkins was 
working on a process balance to be able to numerically prove out our plant 
performance. We receive very consistently about 4200 lbs of Biochemical Oxygen 
Demand (BOD) every day.  Right now, we are wasting 1750 lbs of solids per day and 
that looks to be perfect.  We have very minimal solids leaving the plant (about 160 
lbs/day) so we have about 2350 lbs that can’t be calculated. In the activated sludge 
process there is consumption and changing of BOD into water and other constituents 
that don’t get wasted.  But that can’t be taking care of all those pounds.  We have a 
piece of equipment called the drum screen and it removes debris and other solids from 
the aeration basins via the screen mixed liquor pumps. Based on the Cannibal 
experience that screen removed quite a bit of the BOD attributed to the Cannibal 
process.  By solving the Mean Cell Residence Time (MCRT) equation for that missing 
BOD the MCRT number comes out very close to the sludge age number. We know then 
that the drum screen really acts like a primary clarifier in our plant.  What this all means 
is that our calculations jive with what we are seeing in the plant.  The amount of food 
and microorganisms are in a good balance and we can finally say without a doubt what 
targets work best with the way we are running the plant and we will monitor and adjust 
to maintain those targets.  



Operations and Maintenance Report 
October 16th, 2018 
Page 2 of 5 
 
 
We did have an exceedance of our e-Coli bacteria permit limit on the 24th.  The grab 
sample that was taken returned a very high number that did not correlate at all with our 
effluent conditions. Built into the permit requirements are provisions to do extra testing 
to show that your high result was an anomaly.  Chuck Adams knew exactly what to do 
when the high number was apparent and set the extra sampling into motion. This 
consists of samples taken and set up every four hours, five times in a row.  Our new 
operator Matt Westergaard volunteered to take care of that extra sampling.  He also 
located the exact procedure on line and created the spreadsheet we will attach to the 
Discharge Monitoring Report (DMR). The 5 additional results came out great and offset 
the high day meaning no permit violation.  The best explanation we could come up with 
was that maybe somebody walking on the grating loosened some debris or goose 
droppings and they dropped into the channel.  

The other impact all of this refinement of operations has is on solids handling.  The 
steady wasting and process has been producing better solids removal on the belt press 
and less of it.  For September only 104 cubic yards were hauled to Madison Farms 
compared with 244 in August.   

On the maintenance side, we had some big projects going on.  We had APSCO come 
out and determined what we needed to do to the two influent pumps. Saving time and 
freight costs, Randy Leniger hauled the pumps up to the Seattle area to the APSCO 
shop to have the rebuild done. When they are finished we’ll go get them and bring them 
back.  Interesting note: it is nearly as far to haul biosolids to Madison Farms as it is to 
Kirkland WA but there is a lot less traffic!   

The liner on the conveyor from the solids handling building was replaced and everything 
put back in service the same day. Randy and Jayson Kahler did a great job getting it 
prepped and getting the new parts installed mostly painlessly.  

A more troublesome project has been working on the UV influent valves. The long-
awaited parts came in for the #2 valve.  Before we started work on that one we wanted 
to complete the shaft replacement on the #1 valve.  That went well until during an 
operation of the valve itself, the gear that we were concerned about on the #2 side 
broke on the #1 side and it stopped working altogether in the open position.  After some 
planning, the action was to take the 90-degree gear off the new part and then we 
wanted to remove the broken gear box from #1 and replace it with the new part.  
However, to access the submerged non-functioning valve, we had to “zero flow” the 
plant.  This means Operations diverting all the flow from the aeration basins into an 
empty clarifier and then no flow goes into the effluent lines.  The water in those pipes 
needs to be pumped out though and the whole crew assisted by the Vactor truck crew 
did that.  Jayson descended into the vault and removed the old gears which turned out 
to be trashed. He then installed the new part and reattached the shaft. Then he 
manually closed the valve so that we could put the plant back online and program the 
limits on the actuator from above.  Later it was discovered that the valve would not open 
with the electric actuator. The actuator had bad gears as well and broke during 
operation.  We had to do another zero flow the next week to remove the actuator and 
manually open the valve.  A wheel was attached to the shaft above, so we can manually 



Operations and Maintenance Report 
October 16th, 2018 
Page 3 of 5 
 
 
operate while we pursue rebuilding the actuator or getting a new one.  He also manually 
closed the valve.  The project has issues, but it would not have been possible to do this 
work a year ago.  The lower solids inventory and resulting redundancy allowed for the 
zero-flow operation.   

I attended the Lucity Users conference in Palm Springs CA in September. Lucity is an 
asset management/work order software system that the District owns and uses for 
keeping track of plant and sewer system infrastructure and equipment. We are 
interested in expanding its use to Water Operations and revitalizing its current 
applications.  It was valuable to me to learn more of the operation of the program but 
also to see the variety of functions it can perform.   

 

    

   

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

Attachments:  
 

10C (i) – Operations Staff Report Rainfall vs Flow data correlation March 2018 - 
September 2018 

10C (ii) – Plant Performance BOD-SS graph March 2018-September 2018 
                                                                                                                         



Operations and Maintenance Report 
October 16th, 2018 
Page 4 of 5 
 
 

       

        Photo 1 The new liner installed                        Photo 2 Randy working on liner installation

       

Photo 3 Worn gears                                                        Photo 4 Pumping out the valve box  



Operations and Maintenance Report 
October 16th, 2018 
Page 5 of 5 
 
 

                   

  Photo 5 Actuator pieces                                               Photo 6 Jayson and the valve  

                  

Photo 7 Planning                                                            



0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

1 8 1 5 2 2 2 9 5 1 2 1 9 2 6 3 1 0 1 7 2 4 3 1 7 1 4 2 1 2 8 5 1 2 1 9 2 6 2 9 1 6 2 3 3 0 6 1 3 2 0 2 7

R
ai

n
 (

in
ch

e
s)

 -
In

fl
u

e
n

t 
Fl

o
w

 (
M

G
D

)

Mar through Sep

Rainfall - Flow



0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

3/5 3/12 3/19 3/26 4/2 4/9 4/16 4/23 4/30 5/7 5/14 5/21 5/28 6/4 6/11 6/18 6/25 7/2 7/9 7/16 7/23 7/30 8/6 8/13 8/20 8/27 9/3 9/10 9/17 9/24

Effluent Water Quality 

--- Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) --- Suspended Solids (TSS)

New Permit Maximum Limit
Monthly Average

m
ill

ig
ra

m
s/

Li
te

r

Current Permit Maximum Limit
Monthly Average



 
STAFF REPORT 

 
    
To:   Board of Directors 
From:   Technical Services Team  
Agenda Item:   Technical Services Monthly Report  
Item No.:    10d 
Date:   October 16, 2018 

 
    
Below is an update of various Technical Services Program efforts: 
 
Outreach and Education 
 
September kicks off the school year for outreach and education programming. Through 
different partnerships OLWS is lined up to work with students from Rex Putnam High 
School, New Urban High School, View Acres Elementary School, Oak Grove 
Elementary School, Riverside Elementary School, and Candy Lane Elementary School. 
One of the District outreach and education goals is to interface with students in our 
District at least once during elementary and once during high school.  
 
OLWS outreach staff will spend several dates in the field in October with school 
partners. Through small investments in partnership programs, we are able to get our 
whole water message with a focus on water quality in front of students. As part of these 
investments, we also host tours of the Water Reclamation Facility and help facilitate 
tours of the Drinking Water Treatment Facility. 
 
Outreach extends to the general public through several other regional partnerships. 
These include OLWS participation in the Clackamas County Water Education Team 
(CCWET) and the Regional Coalition for Rivers and Streams (RCCRS). Partners on 
these teams represent some of OLWS’ MS4 Permit co-permittees including City of 
Milwaukie, City of West Linn, City of Lake Oswego, and Clackamas County. By working 
together, regional partnerships allow OLWS to strategically build and purchase outreach 
messaging in the public eye, including television spots and social media posts like event 
posting on Next Door. 
 
While Boardman Wetlands is getting underway, partners are looking forward to the time 
when they will be able to work with students in the field. Although the project timeline is 
at least a year out, the completion of this project is heavily anticipated by many 
partners. 
 
 



  

Permitting 
 

 September 2018 Development Activity 

 
This Month Last Month Fiscal        

 Year-to-Date 

This 
Month 

Last Year 

Last              
Year-

to-
Date 

 

 
Pre-applications Conferences 4 3 11  -   -  
Hours Spent on Development 

Review* 85 80 255  -   -  
Hours spent on Utility Permits* 35 40 135  -   -  

           
Development Permits Issued 3 2 9  -   -  

Utility Permits Issued 9 6 23  -   -  

           
New Sewer Connections*** 5 6 17  -   -  

New Water Services 5 1  -   -   -  

           
Active Erosion Control Permits 43 49 137  -   -  

Total Erosion Control Permits 
Inspected 43 49 137  -   -  

Active Construction Permits 29 27 81  -   -  

           
Sanitary SDC Fees Received  $  98,135.00   $ 25,825.00   $  134,290.00   -   -  
Water SDC Fees Received**  $  55,195.00   $   4,120.00   $    75,835.00   -   -  
Plan Review Fees Received*  $    4,544.43   $ 34,147.20   $    45,114.50   -   -  

Inspection Fees Received*  $    4,711.37   $ 33,985.40   $    45,399.20   -   -  

 ** includes "service charges" which are installation costs 

 *** Sewer lines are replaced for all replacement  
 structures: water services are re-used   

 
 
 
Attachments 
 

1. Capital Project Tracker 
2. Development Review Status Tracker 

 
 



Project Name Fund Project 
Manager Total Budget Design 

Contract
Construction 

Contract Total Spent % Spent of 
Budget Status Next Task

Expected 
Completion 

Date
Solids Handling Bldg. Refurbishment 

and Process Improvements SS Rice 300,000.00$        -$               -$                       -$                    0% Planning Review Consultant Proposed Scope 6/30/2019

Anaerobic Digester Conversion SS Rice  $        200,000.00 -$               -$                       -$                    0% Planning Monitoring current process w/o Cannibal 6/30/2019
Secondary Clarifier Refurbishment SS Ogbeide  $        500,000.00 -$               -$                       -$                    0% Planning Contract with Design Engineer 6/30/2019

Aeration Control Strategy Evaluation SS Ogbeide  $         50,000.00 -$               -$                       -$                    0% Planning Contract with Design Engineer 6/30/2019
Mainline Repair Program SS Rice 200,000.00$        -$               -$                       -$                    0% Planning Contract with Design Engineer 6/30/2019
Stormwater Master Plan SW Rice  $        125,000.00 -$               -$                       -$                    0% Planning Planning Public Outreach 12/31/2019

Water Master Plan W Rice 185,720.00$        185,720.00$   -$                       94,418.00$          51% Active Review Draft Chapters 3/31/2019
Water Meter Replacement Program W Ogbeide 1,350,000.00$      -$               -$                       -$                    0% Bidding Bidding Project 10/15/18 6/30/2019

WRF Decant Expansion SS,SW,W Ogbeide  $        510,000.00 -$               -$                       -$                    0% Planning Locate Existing Utilities, Space Plan 6/30/2019
Boardman Wetland Complex SS,SW Rice 3,167,665.75$      -$               3,167,666.00$         360,857.50$         11% Under Construction Pipe Bursting and site grading 3/1/2019

Last Updated 10/10/2018

Capital Project Tracker



Project Status Address Type of Development Notes Last Updated

Under Construction
3127 SE Concord Rd. (Concord Oaks, 

formerly Concord Vineyards II)
6‐acre development (32 residential lots.)

Development Inspections complete. Warranty inspections scheduled.  
Warranty period expires July 2018 (punchlist items incompete ‐ minor ‐ 

10/9/18

Under Construction 13012 SE Oatfield Proposed subdivision; 9 potential lots.   Z0407‐16
OLWSD approved plans.  Sanitary inspections pending.  Expires Sept. 2018.  

Warranty period expires Sept. 2019
10/9/18

Under Construction 4281 SE Manewell Lane A four‐lot  SFR minor subdivision.  
Z0640‐16 erosion control ongoing.  Utility inspections complete.  Warranty 

period ends June 2019. 
10/9/18

Under Construction
18121 SE River Rd. (Jennings Lodge 

Estates)
72‐lot Subdivision OLWSD approval.  County Approval.  Warranty period ends Sept. 2019 10/9/18

Under Construction 3816 SE Hill Rd Z0428‐16 8‐lot subdivision
Water and Sewer Inspections ongoing.  1200C permit for erosion control.  

County timeline.
10/9/18

Under Construction 13715 SE River Road
Z0399‐17 Rose Villa ‐ 28 Homes.  Garden Grove 

and North Pocket Development
 Also Z0066‐17. OLWSD approval for engineering plans.  Sanitary, water and 

stormwater inspections ongoing.  Expires Dec. 2018.
10/9/18

Plan Review 17908 and 17900 SE Addie Street. Z0200‐17‐D_BOARDMAN_WETLAND 
Land use comments sent.  Awaiting engineering plans.  County timeline for 

expiration.
10/9/18

Under Construction 6460 Glen Echo Avenue
Z0461‐16_Gladstone_Glen_Echo.  (OLSD Service 

area  / out of OLSD Boundary).

10‐lot subdivision.  Gladstone Plan Review.  Gladstone Inspection .  OLWSD 
receives approved plans and asbuilts and inspection reports.  Gladstone 

expiration timeline.
10/9/18

Under Construction 14501 SE Laurie Ave Z0050‐17 2‐lot partition Sanitary and EC Inspections ongoing.  Expire April 2019 10/9/18

Under Construction Willamette View
Riverview Dining Facility Replacement / 

Expansion; Z0239‐17
Plans approved.  Expires Oct 2018 10/9/18

Under Construction
SE Manewal at SE Towery LN.  4‐lot 

subdivision
Z0157‐17_Manewal_South

OLWSD Inspection approval.  Z0156‐17 (for original tax lot 2300) is now 
void.  Plans approved.  In warranty period.  Expires June 2019

10/9/18

Under Construction SE Courtney at SE Rupert Z0061‐17‐D 10‐unit apartment OLWSD inspections ongoing.  10/9/18

Plan Review 15510 SE Wallace Street Z0593‐16 13 lot subdivision
First Engineering review.  OLWSD Water‐only. Drains to WES for SS and 

SWM.
10/9/18

Under Construction  3260 SE Oak Grove Blvd  130000+ mini storage facility
Inspections ongoing: sanitary and water.  1200C for erosion control.   

OLWSD permits expire May 2019
10/9/18

Plan Review 18107 SE Blanton 3‐lot partition 3‐lot minor subdivision.  County Land Use Timeline.  10/9/18

Plan Review 19421 SE KAY ST 4‐10 lots: Subdivision Revised stormwater approach.  Under review.  County expiration timeline.  10/9/18

Under Construction 15314 SE RUPERT DR 7‐lot subdivision Z0426‐17‐SS
Seven‐lot minor subdivision for one existing and six new home sites.  

OLWSD permits expire March 2019 
10/9/18



Project Status Address Type of Development Notes Last Updated

Under Construction 13809 SE Linden Ln. Replace existing home with duplex.
Erosion control ongoing.  Sanitary and water inspections ongoing.  OLWSD 

permits expire May 2019
10/9/18

Under Construction
Taxlots 2000 & 2100 located behind 
15026 & 15018 SE Linden Ln. (Tilia Ln) 

Originally "Wanderlust Lane"
 3‐parcel partition

Z0305‐15‐M  Pubic Main Line Extenstion. Development approval.  Sanitary 
warranty period ends March 2019. Erosion inspections ongoing.  Expires Oct 

2018
10/9/18

Under Construction Z0620‐17‐D 16885 SE McLoughlin Design Review ‐ Les Schwab  County expiration timeline. 10/9/18

Under Construction 13755_SE_Schroeder Rose Villa Units
"The Oaks" PHASE 2B’ NET ZERO ENERGY POCKET NEIGHBORHOOD Z0489‐
17.  OLWSD approval for engineering plans.  Sanitary, water and stormwater 

inspections ongoing.  Expires Dec. 2018. Z0489‐17
10/9/18

Plan Review  18800 SE MCLOUGHLIN BLVD  Nonconforming Use ‐ Alteration/Verification:
Land use comments sent.  Awaiting engineering plans.  County expiration 

timeline. 
10/9/18

Plan Review 3016 SE COURTNEY AVE  Z0523‐17 Parking lot
Land use comments submitted.  Awaiting engineering plans. County 

expiration timeline.
10/9/18

Plan Review 17624 SE RIVER RD
Z0471‐17 : three (3) 2‐family_ dwelling units and 

two (2) three family dwelling units
Land use comments submitted.  Awaiting engineering plans. County 

expiration timeline.
10/9/18

Under Construction 16250 SE MCLOUGHLIN BLVD Commercial with interior storage Plans approved by OLWSD.  OLWSD permits expire June 2018 10/9/18

Plan Review
22E07CA03003 (SE Allan Rd @ SE 

Worthington)
Partition: 2‐lots

Engineering approval.  Awaiting administrative items for Site Development 
Permit issuance. 

10/9/18

Plan Review 4322 SE Pinehurst Ave Subdivision
Z0594‐17  Water utility only.  Awaiting Engineering Plans and building 

permit.  County expiration timeline.
10/9/18

Plan Review 13630 SE Laurie Avenue Design Review ‐ Rose Villa 
Engineering approval.  Awaiting administrative items for Site Development 

Permit issuance. 
10/9/18

Plan Review 14107 SE Lee Ave Partition: 2 lots Z0648‐17  Land Use Comments sent.  County Expiration Timeline.  10/9/18

Under Construction Willamette View
Multi‐family; Z0656‐17

Land Use Comments sent.  Engineering Review.  North Pointe 10/9/18

Plan Review  14928 SE OATFIELD RD ZPAC0015‐18
Pre‐application comments sent.  Awaiting land use / subdivision application. 

Expires Dec. 2018
10/9/18

Pre‐Application  16920 SE Berghammer Partition 3 lots
Partition.  Pre‐app attended/comments submitted.  Clack. Co. expiration 

timeline.
10/9/18

Plan Review SE Torbank
(RIVER RD – TROLLEY TR) SIDEWALKS

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS
Clackamas County Project Number: 22243. County expiration timeline. 10/9/18



Project Status Address Type of Development Notes Last Updated

Pre‐Application 16908 SE Oatfield 3‐lot partition Pre‐app. Attended.  County expiration timeline.  10/9/18

Pre‐Application 2614 SE Tarbell Ave 3‐lot partition Pre‐app. Attended.  County expiration timeline.  10/9/18

Pre‐Application 15601 SE Meadowlark Ln 2‐parcel partition
ZPAC0054‐18 15601 SE Meadowlark Ln. Pre‐app. Attended.  County 

expiration timeline. 
10/9/18

Pre‐Application 14010 SE Douglas Fir Ct Partition: duplex and SFD
ZPAC0069‐18 Water utility only.  Submitted Pre‐app comments. County 

expiration timeline.
10/9/18

Pre‐Application 2614 se tarbell Ave 3‐lot partition ZPAC0049‐18 Submitted Pre‐app Notes. County expiration timeline. 10/9/18

Pre‐Application 15303 SE Lee Ave 2‐lot partition OLWSD attended pre‐app and provided notes.  Expires Jan 2019 10/9/18

Pre‐Application
None; south side of SE Maple St. midway 
between River Rd. and Laurie Ave., Oak 

Grove area.

Subdivision. A 6‐7 lot minor subdivision for six 
home sites and one cell tower site (possible 

future home site). 

OLWSD attended pre‐app. Previous Planning File No. Z0298‐06‐SS, (expired) 
Expires Jan 2019

10/9/18

Pre‐Application 14824 SE Kellogg Ave
Minor Subdivision: two‐parcel partition for two 

home sites / zone change
OLWSD attended pre‐app and provided notes.  Expires Jan 2019. 10/9/18

Pre‐Application 16100 SE Harold
Minor Subdivision: our‐lot minor subdivision for 

new home sites.
OLWSD attended pre‐app and provided notes.  Expires Jan 2019. 10/9/18

Pre‐Application 14919 SE Woodland Way
Partition / Zone Change.  Two‐lot partition for one 

existing and one new home.
OLWSD attended pre‐app and provided notes.  Expires Jan 2019 10/9/18

Pre‐Application 16800 SE McLoughlin Design Review / Commercial
ZPAC0016‐18‐DR.  Auto dealership design review / façade improvements.  

Pre‐app comments submitted. Clack. Co. expiration timeline.
10/9/18

Plan Review 3622 SE Pinehurst 4‐lot subdivision Water utility only.   County expiration timeline. 10/9/18

Plan Review 14601 SE Rupert
Variance application and a two‐family dwelling 

(duplex).
Not a developmnet per OLWSD definition.  This is construction on a single 

lot of record.  Variance n/a for OLWSD.  County expiration timeline.
10/9/18

Pre‐Application 14063 SE Oatfield Rd Design PreApp ‐ Shipping Container Condo Design PreApp ‐ Shipping Container Condos ‐ ZPAC0119‐18 10/9/18

Pre‐Application 17997 SE Arista Dr
Two parcel partition for one existing home and 

one new home site.
Pre‐app comments sent. County expiration timeline. 10/9/18

Pre‐Application 16103 SE Southview
Three‐parcel partition for one existing and two 

new home sites.
Pre‐app comments sent. County expiration timeline. 10/9/18



Project Status Address Type of Development Notes Last Updated

Plan Review  14905 SE River forest Dr New SFR ‐ Willamette River Greenway Land Use Comments sent. County expiration timeline. 10/9/18

Plan Review 14497 SE River Rd 3‐lot partition Land Use Comments sent. County expiration timeline. 10/9/18

Plan Review  14868 SE LEE AVE
Temp. Permit: Hardship Care with RV Dwelling 

Unit
Land Use Comments sent. County expiration timeline. 10/9/18

Plan Review  14905 SE RIVER FOREST DR SFR Addition: Willamette River Greenway Land Use Comments sent. County expiration timeline. 10/9/18

Plan Review 4410 SE pinehurst Residential Subdivision
In OLWSD water service area; Development spans OLWSD boundary; water 

utility only.  County expiration timeline.
10/9/18

Plan Review 2615 SE VINEYARD WAY two‐parcel partition 
Attended pre‐app.  Awaiting Land Use application.  County expiration 

timeline.  County expiration timeline. 10/9/18



 
AGENDA ITEM 

 
    
Agenda Item:   Call for Public Comment 
Item No.:    11 
Presenters:  N/A 

 
 
Background: 
 
Members of the public are invited to address the Board on any relevant topic.  The Board may 
elect to limit the total time available for public comment or for any single speaker depending on 
meeting length. 



 
AGENDA ITEM 

 
    
Agenda Item:   Business from the Board 
Item No.:    12 
Presenters:  N/A 

 
 
Background: 
 
The Board of Directors appoints District representatives from time to time to serve as liaisons or 
representatives of the District to committees or community groups. 
 
Directors assigned specific roles as representatives of the District are placed on the agenda to 
report to the Board on the activities, issues, and policy matters related to their assignment. 



Sunrise Water Authority 
September 26, 2018 Board Meeting 
Paul Gornick’s Notes 
 

• Wayne Barstow, who was selected for appointment to Position #3 at last meeting, was 
sworn in as new commissioner. 
 

• Board unanimously passed the second reading of Ordinance 2018-01 to reconstitute the 
NCCWC under the new IGA.  General Manager Wade Hathhorn will file with the 
Secretary of State’s office. 
 

• The Special Districts Association of Oregon offers a 2% discount on property insurance 
for Buildings and Facilities for districts that meet the following SDAO requirement: 
“Your district must have or adopt a preventative maintenance policy that also 
includes our property maintenance checklist to receive credit.” District has 
policy now, but staff will complete checklist to enable eligibility for the discount. 
 

• Board approved financial statements for the prior period. 
 

• There was discussion of a draft district policy for past over/underbilling of customer 
accounts. The policy includes a 24 month lookback for overbilling, and a 12 month 
lookback for underbilling. Board wanted correction of some language to allow greater 
lookback period in cases of intentional tampering or diversion.  Changes will be made 
to draft policy for consideration at next meeting.  
 

• There was discussion of a Customer Satisfaction survey and possible incentives to 
encourage response without running afoul of legal requirements. 
 

• General Manager discussed difficulties in getting proper form for Performance 
Guarantee required by Happy Valley for Reservoir #11 project. District has deposited 
cash sum with Happy Valley in lieu of a bond. 
 

• Despite the warmer than normal summer, District did not reach prior peak demand of 
12.5 MGD, coming in at 12.1 MGD.  Staff thinks that smaller lot sizes have reduced 
irrigation demands. 
 

• A vacancy notice for commissioner in Zone #4 is out, with applications for the remaining 
term due back on October 15th. 











































































































































































































 
AGENDA ITEM 

 
    
Agenda Item:   Executive Session 
Item No.:    13 
Presenters:  N/A 

 
 
Background: 
 
Recess to Executive Session under ORS 192.660 2(h) for consultation with counsel concerning 
legal rights and duties regarding current litigation or litigation likely to be filed. 
 



 
AGENDA ITEM 

 
    
Agenda Item:   Adjourn Executive Session 
Item No.:    14 
Presenters:  N/A 

 
 
Background: 
 
Adjourn Executive Session and make any necessary motions as a result of Executive Session 
discussions. 


	0_Agenda 101618 recorrected resolution numbers and agenda item title
	2_Call for Public Testimony
	3_Consent Agenda
	3a_Finance Sept 2018 cover
	3ai_Financial Report Overview Sept18
	Oak Lodge Water Services
	Monthly Overview
	September 2018

	3aii_Cash & Investments Sept'18
	Cash & Inv

	3aiii_Budget to Actual Sept2018
	3aiiia_Roll up expenses Sept18
	3aiv_Sept '18 Check staff report
	Auditors have requested formal approval of checks by the Board of Directors
	Issue
	Recommendations
	Background
	Facts and Findings

	3av_Sep 2018 Check Run
	Sheet1

	3b_2018-09-18_OLWS_BOD_minutes
	4_ Consolidation Savings Report Staff Report Sept18
	4a_Consolidation Costs Savings Report
	Savings from Consolidation
	Savings in Materials and Services Costs


	5_Commercial Real Estate Broker Agent of Record Contract
	5a_Ad for RFP for Commercial Real Estate Broker
	5b_RFP for Commercial Real Estate Broker
	5c_Sample Personal Services Contract for Commercial Real Estate Broker
	1.  Contractor’s Scope of Services
	2.  Effective Date and Duration
	3.  Contractor’s Fee and Payment
	A.           Fee
	District shall pay Contractor for services performed under this Agreement in accordance with the rates set forth in Exhibit B [To be determined, based on structure and terms of successful proposal(s) and final negotiation with District]
	B.  Payment Schedule
	C.  Payment for Special Services
	D.  Cost Records
	E.  Contract Identification
	F.  Payment – General
	4.  Ownership of Plans and Documents:  Records
	5.  Assignment/Delegation
	6. Commercial Real Estate Broker/ Agent of Record is Independent Contractor
	9.  Termination Without Cause
	10.       Breach and Remedy
	11.  Non-Waiver
	12.  Method and Place of Giving Notice, Submitting Bills and Making Payments
	13.  Merger
	14.  Force Majeure
	15.  Non-Discrimination
	16.  Errors
	17.  Extra (Changes) Work
	18.  Governing Law
	19.  Compliance With Applicable Law
	20.  Conflict Between Terms
	21.  Access to Records
	22.  Audit
	23.  Severability
	24.  Complete Agreement


	OAK LODGE WATER SERVICES
	CONTRACTOR

	6_Adoption of Finance Policies Sep18
	6_Combined_policies
	6i_Budget Policy - Final Draft to Board
	6ii_Debt Policy - Draft Revised by Board
	6iii_Fund Balance  Reserve Policy - Draft Revised by Board
	6iv_Investment Policy - Draft Revised by Board
	 Seattle Northwest Securities Corporation

	6v_Low Income Rate Relief Policy - Draft Revised by Board
	I. Purpose
	The purpose of this policy is to allow eligible District customers to obtain a discounted rate on a portion of their bill.
	II. Scope
	This policy applies to residential customers of Oak Lodge Water Services District seeking rate relief on the basis of low-income resulting in economic hardship.  Approved low-income applicants will receive a 50% reduction on the eligible portions of t...
	III. Policy Statement

	6vi_Revenue Policy - Draft Revised by Board
	6vii_Surplus Property Policy - Final Draft to Board

	6viia_Surplus Request Form
	7_Initial Human Resources Policies
	7a_ethics policy
	7b_Cybersecurity Policy
	8_Amendments to OLWS Purchasing Rules
	8a_Draft Purchasing Rules
	Table of Contents
	I. Introduction.
	III. Authority.
	IV. Preferences.
	V. General Provisions.
	VI. Source Selection Methods for Goods or Services, Other Than Personal or Professional Services.
	VII. Personal Services Contracts.
	VIII. Professional Services and Related Services
	IX. Public Improvements.
	X. Alternative Source Selection Methods for Goods or Services & Personal Services.
	XI. Protest and Appeal Procedures.


	9_ Staff Report for Resolution 18-11 Sept18
	10a_Finance Staff Report Sept18
	10b_Field Operations Staff Report Oct 2018
	10bi_Sewer Collections Report Oct 2018
	FY 18-19

	10bii_Water Report Stats Oct 2018
	FY 18-19

	10biii_Valley View Readings Oct 2018
	Monthly Totals

	10c_Plant Operations Staff Report October 2018
	10ci_Operations Staff Report Rainfall vs Flow data correlation Mar-Sep 18
	10cii_Plant Performance BOD-SS graph. Mar 18-Sep 18
	10d_Technical Services Staff Report
	10di_Working CIP Spreasheet
	Sheet1

	10dii_Development Tracker Oct 2018
	11_Call for Public Comment
	12_Business from the Board
	12_Business from the Board_20180926_SWA_BoardMeetingNotes
	12a_JENNINGS LODGE CPO REPORT
	12b_RWPC
	RWPC 10-3-18 AGENDA
	RWPC 10-3-18 BUDGET OPTIONS
	RWPC 10-3-18 EXPENSE REPORT
	RWPC 10-3-18 STRATEGIC PLAN
	RWPC 10-3-18 FIVE YEAR STRATEGIC PLAN
	RWPC 10-3-18 TRI-ANNUAL ACTIVITY REPORT
	RWPC 10-3-18 MINUTES
	RWPC 10-3-18 LETTER
	RWPC 10-3-18 CLACK CO AGENDA

	13_Recess to Executive Session
	14_Adjourn Executive Session
	9a_Resolution 18-11 Close CFCU.pdf
	WHEREAS,


